Monotonicity formulas for harmonic functions in RCD(0, N) spaces

Nicola Gigli * Ivan Yuri Violo †

August 1, 2022

Abstract

We generalize to the $\mathrm{RCD}(0,N)$ setting a family of monotonicity formulas by Colding and Minicozzi for positive harmonic functions in Riemannian manifolds with non-negative Ricci curvature. Rigidity and almost rigidity statements are also proven, the second appearing to be new even in the smooth setting.

Motivated by the recent work in [AFM] we also introduce the notion of electrostatic potential in RCD spaces, which also satisfies our monotonicity formulas.

Our arguments are mainly based on new estimates for harmonic functions in RCD(K, N) spaces and on a new functional version of the '(almost) outer volume cone implies (almost) outer metric cone' theorem.

Contents

U	Introduction and main results	
1	Preliminaries and notations	5
	1.1 Calculus tools	5
	1.2 RCD spaces	Ć
	1.3 Regular Lagrangian flows	16
2	Nonparabolic RCD spaces	19
	2.1 The Green function	19
	2.2 Number of ends	20
3	New estimates for harmonic functions	22
	3.1 Preliminary calculus rules	22
	3.2 Second order estimates for harmonic functions	
4	The monotonicity formula	26
	4.1 Decay estimates	26
	4.2 Monotonicity	
5	Functional versions of the rigidity and almost rigidity	31
	5.1 From outer functional cone to outer metric cone	31
	5.2 From almost outer functional cone to almost outer metric cone	

^{*}SISSA, ngigli@sissa.it

[†]SISSA, iviolo@sissa.it

6	Rigidity and almost rigidity from the monotonicity formula 6.1 Rigidity	
7	The electrostatic potential	46
\mathbf{A}	Appendix: From outer functional cone to outer metric cone - additional details	47
	A.1 The gradient flow of u and its effect on the measure	48
	A.2 Effect on the Dirichlet Energy	52
	A.3 Precise representative of the flow	
	A.4 Properties of level set $\{\mathbf{u} = T\}$	
	A.5 The cosine formula holds	
	A.6 Intrinsic metric on the level set	
	A.7 Building the cone and conclusion	
В	Appendix: obstacle problem in RCD	62
	B.1 Relative capacitary potential for sets with Cap-fat boundary	62
	B.2 Preliminaries	63
	B.3 The obstacle problem	
	R4 Proof of Theorem R1	65

0 Introduction and main results

Monotonicity formulas are in general an important tool in analysis and geometry and have proven to be crucial in the study of functional inequalities, regularity of PDEs and minimal surfaces, one example being the celebrated Almgren frequency function [Al]. We refer also to [CM13] for an overview on this topic and further references. Recently these formulas also found application in the theory of metric geometry with particular interest in the regularity of singular spaces. It is however important to recall that, especially on this context, monotonicity formulas are often coupled with rigidity and almost rigidity properties. In other words, besides knowing that a quantity is monotone it is often important to know that, if it happens to be constant or almost constant, then some extra regularity or almost regularity of the objects involved is present. An example of this, in the context of singular metric spaces, is the Bishop-Gromov volume ratio, where this said (almost) regularity is realized as (almost) local conical structure of the space. This feature was exploited first in [ChC97] to non-collapsed Ricci-limit spaces and subsequently in [DG18] to ncRCD spaces in order show that blow-up limits are cones and was recently developed in [AnBS] to deduce volume bounds for the singular set, extending the analogous result for Ricci-limit spaces ([ChN13]). These works fall in the more general theory of quantitative differentiation which, roughly said, allows to pass from a monotone quantity with almost rigidity properties (also called coerciveness) to non trivial results about effective regularity of the space (or a particular function). We refer to [Ch12] for a detailed overview on this topic.

All of this motivates the study of new monotonicity formulas in RCD spaces, where the Bishop-Gromov volume ratio and the Perelman W functional (see [KL]) were up to now essentially the unique examples.

Our interest will be in extending a class of monotonicity formulas for harmonic functions in Riemannian manifolds with nonnegative Ricci curvature, to the RCD setting. These type of formulas were first introduced by a series of works by Colding and Minicozzi ([C], [CM14a], [CM13]) and were used by the same authors to prove the uniqueness of tangent cones for Einstein manifolds ([CM14b]). Recently the same monotone quantities were reinterpreted in [AFM] in the study of the electrostatic potential of a set

and lead to the proof of new Willmore-type geometrical inequalities for Riemannian manifolds (see also [AM] for the Euclidean setting).

The monotonicity formula

Our first main result is the extension to the non-smooth setting of the whole class of monotonicity formulas derived in [AFM]. More precisely we show that in a nonparabolic RCD(0, N) space (see Def. 2.1), if $u \in L^{\infty}(\Omega) \cap C(\Omega)$ solves

$$\begin{cases} \mathbf{\Delta}|_{\Omega} u = 0, \\ \lim \inf_{y \to x} u(y) \ge 1, & \text{for every } x \in \partial \Omega, \\ u(x) \to 0 & \text{as } \mathsf{d}(x, \partial \Omega) \to +\infty, \end{cases}$$
 (P)

where Ω is open, unbounded and with $\partial\Omega$ bounded, then the function

$$(0,1) \ni t \mapsto U_{\beta}(t) := \frac{1}{t^{\beta \frac{N-1}{N-2}}} \int |\nabla u|^{\beta+1} \, \mathrm{d} \mathrm{Per}(\{u < t\}),$$

with $\beta \geq \frac{N-2}{N-1}$, is (continuous) and non-decreasing (see the beginning of Section 4.2 for a discussion on the well-definition of the function U_{β}).

Rigidity and almost rigidity

As said above we are also interested in the rigidity and almost rigidity properties of the functions U_{β} and it turns out that, similarly to the Bishop-Gromov inequality, the special configurations connected to U_{β} are cones. This is not a coincidence, indeed as we will see the reason behind the conical structure arising from these two quantities is the same, i.e. the existence of a function satisfying a precise PDE: $\Delta v = N$ and $|\nabla \sqrt{2v}|^2 = 1$. We refer to the introduction of [C] for a more detailed parallelism with the Bishop-Gromov inequality and the interpretation of U_{β} as an area functional.

We will prove that

- if the derivative of U_{β} vanishes at t_0 , then $\{u < t_0\}$ is isometric to a truncated RCD(0, N) cone,
- if the derivative U_{β} at t_0 is sufficiently small, then $\{u < t_0\}$ is close, in a suitable sense, to a truncated RCD(0, N) cone.

The first result is a generalization of the rigidity result in [AFM], while the second is new even in the smooth setting. It has to be said that almost rigidity results were already present in the work of Colding-Minicozzi (cf. with [CM14b, Sec. 1.7] and [CM13, Sec. 2.2]). However, one of the novelty of our analysis is that, similarly to what happens for the splitting theorem ([G13a]), we are able to show that $\{u < t_0\}$ is close to a cone which is itself an RCD(0, N) space, while they only prove closeness to a 'generic' cone, moreover we prove that almost rigidity holds for all the functions U_{β} , while they only consider the case $\beta = 3$.

Let us point out that, as it is now well understood, non-smooth (RCD) spaces enter into play naturally in almost-rigidity statements under Ricci curvature lower bounds even in the smooth case. We recall for example the existence of Riemannian manifolds having tangent cones at infinity with non-smooth cross-section (see [CN]).

Existence of solutions

To justify the interest on the function U_{β} , it is clearly important to have many example of solutions to (P). The main examples in the smooth setting are the Green function (mainly explored in the papers of Colding-Minicozzi) and the electrostatic potential, which was the object of interest in [AFM]. In RCD

spaces the Green function was already built and studied in [BS20], while little or nothing was know about the electrostatic potential. One of our results will be the existence of an electrostatic (or capacitary) potential for a bounded open set E, under some mild regularity assumptions on its boundary. That is, we will prove the existence of a solution to (P) with $\Omega = X \setminus \bar{E}$, continuous up to the boundary of Ω with u = 1 in $\partial\Omega$. Moreover we will also prove a relation that links the Cheeger energy of u to the Capacity of E (see (7.2)).

New functional version of the "(almost) outer volume-cone implies (almost) outer metriccone" theorem

The rigidity and almost rigidity results for U_{β} that we described above will follow from a new functional and "outer" version of the volume-cone to metric-cone theorem for $\mathrm{RCD}(0,N)$ spaces proved in [DG16]. In particular we prove that in an $\mathrm{RCD}(0,N)$ space if a function u satisfies $\Delta u = N$ and $|\nabla \sqrt{2u}|^2 = 1$ then its superlevel sets are isometric to truncated cones (see Theorem 5.1).

Moreover we will prove an effective almost version of the above result, that appears to be new also in the smooth setting. More precisely we will show that if a function u satisfies $\Delta u = N|\nabla\sqrt{2u}|^2$ and $|\nabla\sqrt{2u}|$ is almost constant, i.e. $|\nabla|\nabla\sqrt{u}|$ is small (in an integral sense), then the whole space X is close in the pmGH-topology to an RCD(0, N) space X', that is a truncated cone outside a bounded set (see Theorem 5.7).

We will also provide a second version of the almost rigidity result in Theorem 5.7, which is more in the spirit of the "almost volume annulus implies metric annulus" theorems of Cheeger-Colding ([ChC96]). Roughly said under the same hypotheses of Theorem 5.7 we prove that the sets $\{t_2 < u < t_1\}$, when endowed with their intrinsic metrics, are close to annuli of an RCD(0, N) cone, also endowed with their intrinsic metrics (see Theorem 5.9).

Let us remark that a main portion of the proof of Theorem 5.1 is a repetition of the arguments in [DG16], however in writing this note the authors realized that some steps in [DG16] were overlooked. For this reason along our exposition we will also take the chance to fix and adjust some of the original arguments.

New estimates for harmonic functions

As a by-product of our argument we prove some regularity results and estimates for harmonic functions in $\mathrm{RCD}(K,N)$ spaces, which appear to be new in the non-smooth setting and interesting on their own. In particular we prove that if u is harmonic, then the function $|\nabla u|^{\beta}$ has $W^{1,2}$ -regularity for every $\beta \geq \frac{1}{2}\frac{N-2}{N-1}$, together with an explicit bound for $|\nabla|\nabla u|^{\beta}|$ (see Theorem 3.4 for the precise statement). It is important to observe that the exponent β is allowed to be strictly smaller than 1, which makes the result non-trivial. The estimates that we obtain are similar and strongly inspired by the ones for Riemannian manifolds obtained in [ChN15].

Future applications

This work is a part of a project that we are pursuing and whose objective is to investigate the possibility of developing a second order analysis on "codimension-1" sets in RCD spaces (recall that a "first order" theory in this setting has already been extensively studied, see eg. [ABS], [BPS19] and [DGP]). This is motivated by the recent [AFM] where, in the context of smooth Riemannian manifolds, it is proved that the monotonicity of U_{β} (see above) implies a family of inequalities related to the mean curvature of hyperpsurfaces (more precisely to a lower bounds on their p-Willmore energy).

In particular in a forthcoming work ([GV]) we will propose a notion of mean curvature and Willmore energy for the boundary of subsets of RCD spaces. Our definitions will be tailored to the monotonicity results obtained in this note (in particular formula (4.7) and the estimate (4.6)) to obtain lower bounds for the Willmore energy, in the spirit of [AFM].

Plan of the paper

The exposition will be organized as follows. In Section 1 we will introduce the needed tools and fix some notations. In Section 2 we introduce the notion of nonparabolic RCD space and derive its main features. In Section 3 we will introduce a class of vector fields with nonnegative divergence (see Corollary 3.5), which are at the core of the proof of the monotonicity formula. In such section we will also deduce new estimate for harmonic functions. In Section 4.1 we will prove some key decay estimates for solution of (P) and subsequently in Section 4.2 we will prove the main monotonicity result. In Section 5.1 we will state a new functional version of the "from outer functional cone to outer metric-cone" theorem and prove the main new ingredients for its proof. The rest of the argument, being analogous to the one in [DG16], will be postponed to Appendix A. The 'almost' version of the previous theorem will be proved in Section 5.2. Then we will use these functional rigidity and almost rigidity results to deduce in Section 6 the main rigidity and almost rigidity statements from the monotonicity formula. Finally the existence for the electrostatic potential will be given in Section 7. This argument relies on results mainly taken from [BB], however to make the proof self contained and more readable, in Appendix B we will redo (and simplify) the proofs of all the results we need in the setting of RCD spaces.

1 Preliminaries and notations

1.1 Calculus tools

Throughout all this note a metric measure space (abbreviated in m.m.s.) is a triple (X, d, m) where

(X, d) is a complete and separable metric space and \mathfrak{m} is a nonnegative and nonzero Borel measure on X, finite on bounded sets and such that supp $\mathfrak{m} = X$.

We will also use the notion of *pointed metric measure space* (abbreviated in p.m.m.s.), which is a quadruple $(X, d, \mathfrak{m}, \bar{x})$, where (X, d, \mathfrak{m}) is a metric measure space and $\bar{x} \in X$.

Two metric measure spaces $(X_i, d_i, \mathfrak{m}_i)_{i=1,2}$ are said to be *isomorphic* if there exists an isometry $\iota : X_1 \to X_2$ as metric spaces such that $\iota_* \mathfrak{m}_1 = \mathfrak{m}_2$.

We will denote by $\mathsf{LIP}(X), \mathsf{LIP}_{\mathsf{loc}}(X), \mathsf{LIP}_b(X), \mathsf{LIP}_{bs}(X)$ and $C_{bs}(X)$, respectively the spaces of Lipschitz functions, locally Lipschitz functions, bounded Lipschitz functions, Lipschitz functions with bounded support and bounded continuous functions with bounded support in (X, d) . For a function $f \in \mathsf{LIP}_{\mathsf{loc}}(X)$ we denote by $\mathsf{lip} f : X \to [0, +\infty)$ its local-Lipschitz constant defined by

$$\operatorname{lip} f(x) := \limsup_{y \to x} \frac{|f(x) - f(y)|}{\mathsf{d}(x, y)}. \tag{1.1}$$

1.1.1 Sobolev spaces via test plans

We will adopt the notion of Sobolev spaces on metric measures spaces via test plans introduced in [AGS13]. This approach turns out to be equivalent ([AGS13]) both to the notion of Sobolev space firstly introduced by Cheeger ([Ch99]) and to the one introduced by Shanmugalingam ([Sh]).

A curve $\gamma \in C([0,1], X)$ belongs to the space of absolutely continuous curves AC([0,1], X) if there exists $f \in L^1(0,1)$ such that $d(\gamma_t, \gamma_s) \leq \int_s^t f(r) dr$, for every $0 \leq s < t \leq 1$. In this case it holds that the limit $|\dot{\gamma}_t| := \lim_{h \to 0} h^{-1} d(\gamma_{t+h}, \gamma_t)$ exists for a.e. $t \in (0,1)$ and is called metric speed at time t. The length $L(\gamma)$ of an absolutely continuous curve γ is defined by

$$L(\gamma) \coloneqq \int_0^1 |\dot{\gamma}_t| \, \mathrm{d}t.$$

We recall also the evaluation map $e_t : C([0,1], X) \to X$ defined by $e_t(t) := \gamma_t$. A Borel probability measure π on AC([0,1], X) is said to be a *test plan* if

$$\exists C > 0 : e_{t*} \boldsymbol{\pi} \le C \mathfrak{m}, \quad \forall t \in [0, 1],$$
$$\int \int_0^1 |\dot{\gamma}_t|^2 dt d\boldsymbol{\pi} < +\infty.$$

Definition 1.1 (Sobolev class). The Sobolev class $S^2(X)$ is the space of all functions $f \in L^0(\mathfrak{m})$ such that there exists a non-negative $G \in L^2(\mathfrak{m})$ for which

$$\int |f(\gamma_1) - f(\gamma_0)| \, \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{\pi} \le \int \int_0^1 |\dot{\gamma}_t| G(\gamma_t) \, \mathrm{d}t \, \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{\pi}, \quad \forall \boldsymbol{\pi} \text{ test plan.}$$
 (1.2)

For every $f \in S^2(X)$ there exists a unique function G with minimal $L^2(\mathfrak{m})$ norm such that (1.2) holds, called *minimal weak upper gradient* and denoted by |Df|. The minimal weak upper gradient has the following lower semicontinuity property: suppose that $(f_n) \subset S^2(X)$ converges to $f \in L^0(\mathfrak{m})$ m-a.e. and $|Df_n|$ converges weakly in $L^2(\mathfrak{m})$ to a function $G \in L^2(\mathfrak{m})$, then

$$f \in S^2(X)$$
 and $|Df| \le G$, m-a.e.. (1.3)

We define the Sobolev space $W^{1,2}(X) := L^2(\mathfrak{m}) \cap S^2(X)$. $W^{1,2}(X)$ becomes a Banach space, when endowed with the norm

$$\|f\|_{W^{1,2}(\mathbf{X})} \coloneqq \sqrt{\|f\|_{L^2(\mathfrak{m})}^2 + \||Df|\|_{L^2(\mathfrak{m})}^2}.$$

The Cheeger-energy functional Ch: $L^2(\mathfrak{m}) \to [0, +\infty]$ is defined by

$$\mathrm{Ch}(f) \coloneqq \begin{cases} \frac{1}{2} \int |Df|^2 \, \mathrm{d}\mathfrak{m}, & f \in W^{1,2}(\mathrm{X}), \\ +\infty & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

It follows from (1.3) that Ch is a convex and lower semicontinuous functional on $L^2(\mathfrak{m})$.

A metric measure space is said to be *infinitesimally Hilbertian* if $W^{1,2}(X)$ is a Hilbert space or equivalently if Ch is a quadratic form (see [G15]).

1.1.2 Tangent module

We assume the reader to be familiar with theory of L^0 -normed modules on a m.m.s. (X, d, \mathfrak{m}) and we refer to [G18] for a detailed account on this theory.

Definition 1.2 (L^0 -normed L^0 -module). An L^0 -normed L^0 -module is a triple ($\mathcal{M}, |.|, \tau$), where \mathcal{M} is a module over the commutative ring $L^0(\mathfrak{m})$, (\mathcal{M}, τ) is a topological vector space, $|.|: \mathcal{M} \to L^0(\mathfrak{m})$ is a map satisfying (in the \mathfrak{m} -a.e. sense)

$$\begin{split} |v| \geq 0 & \text{for every } v \in \mathscr{M}, \text{ with equality if and only if } v = 0, \\ |v+w| \leq |v| + |w| & \text{for every } v, w \in \mathscr{M}, \\ |fv| = |f||v| & \text{for every } f \in L^0(\mathfrak{m}) \text{ and } v \in \mathscr{M}, \end{split}$$

and such that τ is induced by the distance $d_0(v, w) := \int |v - w| \wedge 1 \, d\mathfrak{m}'$ (where \mathfrak{m}' is a probability measure on X such that $\mathfrak{m} \ll \mathfrak{m}' \ll \mathfrak{m}$), which is also assumed to be complete.

An L^0 -normed module \mathscr{M} is a Hilbert module if for every $v, w \in \mathscr{M}$ it holds

$$|v+w|^2+|v-w|^2=2|v|^2+2|w|^2, \quad {\rm m\hbox{-}a.e.}.$$

If this is the case, by polarization we can define a scalar product $\langle,\rangle:\mathcal{M}^0\times\mathcal{M}^0\to L^0(\mathfrak{m})$ that is symmetric, $L^0(\mathfrak{m})$ -bilinear and satisfies $\langle v,v\rangle=|v|^2,\, |\langle v,w\rangle|\leq |v||w|,\, \mathfrak{m}$ -a.e. for every $v,w\in\mathcal{M}^0$.

Given an L^0 -normed module \mathcal{M} and E a Borel subset of X we define the localized module

$$\mathcal{M}_{|E} := \{ \chi_E v : v \in \mathcal{M} \}.$$

 $\mathscr{M}_{|E}$ inherits naturally a structure of L^0 -normed module and if \mathscr{M} is a Hilbert module then $\mathscr{M}_{|E}$ is Hilbert as well with $\langle .,. \rangle_{\mathscr{M}_{|E}} = \chi_E \langle .,. \rangle_{\mathscr{M}}$. $\mathscr{M}_{|E}$ can also be seen as the quotient of \mathscr{M} by the equivalence relation ' $v \sim w$ if and only if |v - w| = 0 m-a.e. in E'. This identification will be used in the rest of the note without further notice.

Definition 1.3 (Tangent module). Suppose that (X, d, m) is an infinitesimally Hilbertian m.m.s.. Then there exists a (unique) couple $(L^0(TX), \nabla)$, where $L^0(TX)$ is an L^0 -normed module and $\nabla : W^{1,2}(X) \to L^0(TX)$, called *gradient operator*, is a linear and continuous map such that

 $|\nabla f|$ coincides with the minimal weak upper gradient of f

$$\left\{\sum_{i=1}^n \chi_{E_i} \nabla f_i : \{E_i\}_{i=1}^n \text{ Borel partition of } \mathbf{X}, \{f_i\}_{i=1}^n \subset W^{1,2}(\mathbf{X})\right\} \text{ is dense in } L^0(T\mathbf{X}).$$

The gradient operator has the following properties

Locality: $\nabla f = \nabla g$, m-a.e. in $\{f = g\}$,

Leibniz rule: $\nabla(fg) = g\nabla f + f\nabla g$, for every $f, g \in W^{1,2}(X) \cap L^{\infty}(\mathfrak{m})$,

Chain rule: $\nabla(\varphi(f)) = \varphi'(f)\nabla f$, for every $f \in W^{1,2}(X)$, $\varphi \in C^1(\mathbb{R}) \cap \mathsf{LIP}(\mathbb{R})$.

Finally we denote by $L^2(TX)$ the subset of $L^0(TX)$ containing the elements with square integrable pointwise norm.

1.1.3 Local Sobolev spaces

Let (X, d, \mathfrak{m}) be a proper and infinitesimally Hilbertian m.m.s. and let Ω be an open subset of X. We define

$$W^{1,2}_{\mathsf{loc}}(\Omega) := \{ u \in L^2_{\mathsf{loc}}(\Omega) \mid u\eta \in W^{1,2}(X), \text{ for every } \eta \in \mathsf{LIP_c}(\Omega) \},$$

which is actually equivalent to ask that for every Borel set $\Omega' \subset\subset \Omega$ there exists $u' \in W^{1,2}(X)$ such that u = u', m-a.e. in Ω' .

 $u=u', \ \mathfrak{m}$ -a.e. in Ω' . For any $u\in W^{1,2}_{\mathsf{loc}}(\Omega)$ we define its gradient ∇u as the unique element of $L^0(TX)|_{\Omega}$ such that

$$\nabla u := \nabla(\eta u), \text{ m-a.e. in } \{\eta = 1\}, \forall \eta \in \mathsf{LIP_c}(\Omega),$$

which is well defined thanks to the locality property of the gradient. In particular $|\nabla u| \in L^2_{loc}(\Omega)$. It is straightforward to check that ∇u satisfies the expected locality property, Leibniz rule and chain rule. We only state explicitly a version of the chain rule that we will need: if $u \in W^{1,2}_{loc}(\Omega)$ and $\varphi \in C^1(I)$, with I open interval, are such that

$$u(\Omega') \subset\subset I$$
 (up to a m-negligible set), for every $\Omega' \subset\subset \Omega$, (1.4)

then $\varphi(u) \in W^{1,2}_{\text{loc}}(\Omega)$ and $\nabla \varphi(u) = \varphi'(u) \nabla u$. Observe that, since $\nabla u \in L^0(T\mathbf{X})|_{\Omega}$, it makes sense to compute the scalar product $\langle \nabla u, v \rangle \in L^0(\Omega, \mathfrak{m})$, for every $v \in L^0(T\mathbf{X})|_{\Omega}$, moreover this scalar product also satisfies $|\langle \nabla u, v \rangle| \leq |\nabla u||v|$, \mathfrak{m} -a.e. in Ω (recall the discussion in Section 1.1.2).

We also define the spaces

$$\begin{split} W^{1,2}(\Omega) &:= \{ f \in W^{1,2}_{\text{loc}}(\Omega) \mid f, |\nabla f| \in L^2(\Omega) \}, \\ W^{1,2}_0(\Omega) &:= \overline{\mathsf{LIP}_c(\Omega)}^{W^{1,2}(X)} \subset W^{1,2}(\mathbf{X}). \end{split}$$

We end this subsection with the following technical lemma.

Lemma 1.4. Let $u \in W^{1,2}_{loc}(\Omega)$ be nonnegative and $\alpha \in (0,1)$ be such that

$$\chi_{\{u>0\}}u^{\alpha-1}|\nabla u|\in L^2_{\mathsf{loc}}(\Omega).$$

Then $u^{\alpha} \in W^{1,2}_{loc}(\Omega)$ and $\nabla u = \alpha^{-1}u^{1-\alpha} \nabla u^{\alpha}$, \mathfrak{m} -a.e. in Ω .

Proof. For the first part it is enough to show that $f := \eta u^{\alpha} \in W^{1,2}(X)$ for every $\eta \in \mathsf{LIP}_c(\Omega)$ with $|\eta| \leq 1$. Fix $\varepsilon \in (0,1)$ arbitrary and define $f_{\varepsilon} = \eta(u+\varepsilon)^{\alpha}$. Then from the non-negativity of u we have $f_{\varepsilon} \in W^{1,2}(X)$ and recalling that $|\nabla u| = 0$ m-a.e. in $\{u = 0\}$ we have

$$|\nabla f_{\varepsilon}| \leq \operatorname{Lip} \eta C_{\alpha}(u+2) + \alpha \chi_{u>0} u^{\alpha-1} |\nabla u|, \quad \mathfrak{m}\text{-a.e.}.$$

It follows that the family $\{f_{\varepsilon}\}_{{\varepsilon}\in(0,1)}$ is bounded in $W^{1,2}(X)$. Moreover $f_{\varepsilon}\to f$ in L^2 , therefore from the lower semicontinuity of the Cheeger energy it follows that $f \in W^{1,2}(X)$. For the second part we observe that $u \wedge n = (u^{\alpha} \wedge n^{\alpha})^{1/\alpha}$ m-a.e. in Ω and that $(t \wedge n^{\alpha})^{1/\alpha} \in \mathsf{LIP}(\mathbb{R})$. Therefore from the locality and the chain rule for the gradient

$$\nabla u = \alpha^{-1} u^{1-\alpha} \nabla u^{\alpha}$$
, m-a.e. in $\{u < n\}$

and we conclude from the arbitrariness of n.

1.1.4 Laplacian and divergence operators

In this section we assume (X, d, \mathfrak{m}) to be a proper and infinitesimally Hilbertian m.m.s.

Definition 1.5 (Measure-valued Laplacian ([G15])). Let $\Omega \subset X$ open. We say that and $u \in W^{1,2}_{loc}(\Omega)$ belongs to the domain of the measure-valued Laplacian $D(\Delta, \Omega)$ if there exists a Radon measure $\Delta_{|\Omega}u$ in Ω such that

$$-\int_{\Omega} \langle \nabla f, \nabla u \rangle d\mathfrak{m} = \int_{\Omega} f d\mathbf{\Delta}_{|\Omega} u, \tag{1.5}$$

for every $f \in \mathsf{LIP}_c(\Omega)$.

Let us remark that in the above definition with the term Radon measure we denote a set function $\mu: \{\text{Borel sets relatively compact in }\Omega\} \to \mathbb{R} \text{ which can be written as } \mu(B) = \mu^+(B) - \mu^-(B), \text{ for some }$ positive Radon measures μ^+, μ^- . In particular we do not require μ to be a Borel measure on the whole Ω , this weaker assumption is needed for example in Proposition 1.6 and to write the Laplacian of the distance function (see also the discussion in [CaMo]).

When no confusion can occur we will drop the subscript Ω and simply write Δu . Moreover we will write $D(\Delta)$ in place of $D(\Delta, X)$ and whenever $\Delta \ll m$ we will use the non-bold notation Δ .

A function $u \in D(\Delta, \Omega)$ is said to be *subharmonic* if $\Delta u \geq 0$, superharmonic if $\Delta u \leq 0$ and harmonic if $\Delta u = 0$.

Finally it easily follows from the definition that the Laplacian operator is linear and satisfies the following locality property:

if $u,v\in D(\boldsymbol{\Delta},\Omega)$ and u=v m-a.e. in U, with U open and relatively compact in $\Omega,$ then $\boldsymbol{\Delta}u|_{U}=\boldsymbol{\Delta}v|_{U}.$

The following existence and comparison result is proven in [G15, Prop 4.13].

Proposition 1.6. Let $u \in W^{1,2}_{loc}(\Omega)$ and suppose that there exists $g \in L^1_{loc}(\Omega)$ such that

$$-\int_{\Omega} \langle \nabla f, \nabla u \rangle \, \mathrm{d}\mathfrak{m} \geq \int_{\Omega} g f \, \mathrm{d}\mathfrak{m}, \quad \forall f \in \mathsf{LIP}_c(\Omega), \ \textit{with} \ f \geq 0,$$

Then $u \in D(\Delta, \Omega)$ and $\Delta u \ge g\mathfrak{m}|_{\Omega}$.

Remark 1.7. Let $u \in D(\Delta, \Omega)$. Suppose that $\Delta u \ll \mathfrak{m}$ (resp. $\Delta u \geq g\mathfrak{m}$) with $\frac{\mathrm{d}\Delta u}{\mathrm{d}\mathfrak{m}} \in L^2_{\mathsf{loc}}(\Omega)$ (resp. $g \in L^1_{\mathsf{loc}}(\Omega)$). Then, recalling that in an infinitesimally Hilbertian m.m.s. Lipschitz functions are dense in $W^{1,2}(X)$ (see [AGS13]), by a truncation and cut off argument it follows that (1.5) (resp. $-\int \langle \nabla f, \nabla u \rangle d\mathfrak{m} \geq \int gfd\mathfrak{m}$) holds also for every $f \in W^{1,2}(X)$ (resp. $f \in W^{1,2}(X) \cap L^{\infty}(\mathfrak{m})$, $f \geq 0$) with support compact in Ω .

Definition 1.8 (Measure-valued divergence ([GM])). Let $v \in L^0(TX)|_{\Omega}$ be such that $|v| \in L^2_{loc}(\Omega)$, we say that $v \in D(\operatorname{\mathbf{div}}, \Omega)$ if there exists a Radon measure $\operatorname{\mathbf{div}}|_{\Omega}(v)$ in Ω such that

$$\int_{\Omega} \langle \nabla f, v \rangle d\mathfrak{m} = -\int_{\Omega} f d\mathbf{div}_{|\Omega}(v), \tag{1.6}$$

for every $f \in \mathsf{LIP}_c(\Omega)$.

It is clear from the definition that given $u \in W^{1,2}_{\mathsf{loc}}(\Omega)$, we have $\nabla f \in D(\mathbf{div}, \Omega)$ if and only if $u \in D(\mathbf{\Delta}, \Omega)$ and in this case $\mathbf{div}_{|\Omega}(\nabla u) = \mathbf{\Delta}_{|\Omega} u$. As for the Laplacian, we will often write simply $\mathbf{div}(v)$ instead of $\mathbf{div}_{|\Omega}(v)$.

Remark 1.9. Analogously to the measure valued Laplacian, we have that if $\mathbf{div}(v) \in L^2_{loc}(\Omega)$, then (1.6) holds also for every $f \in W^{1,2}(X)$ with support compact in Ω .

1.2 RCD spaces

We assume the reader to be familiar with the definition and theory of RCD(K, N) spaces (see [AGS14a], [G15]). We limit ourselves to recall some of their main properties that will be needed.

The Sobolev-to-Lipschitz property holds (the definition we recall comes from [G13a] and so does the argument that we adopt to prove the 'local version' below - the validity of this property on $RCD(K, \infty)$ spaces was known from [AGS14b]): for every $f \in W^{1,2}(X)$ such that $|Df| \in L^{\infty}(\mathfrak{m})$, f has a Lipschitz representative and $Lip f \leq ||Df||_{L^{\infty}}$.

The local variant we will actually use is the following:

Proposition 1.10 (Local Sobolev-to-Lipschitz property). Let X be an $\mathrm{RCD}(K,N)$ space, $K \in \mathbb{R}$ and $N \in [1,+\infty)$ and let $\Omega \subset X$ be open. Suppose $f \in W^{1,2}_{\mathsf{loc}}(\Omega)$ is such that $\||\nabla f||_{L^{\infty}(\Omega)} < +\infty$, then f has a locally-Lipschitz representative. Moreover for such representative it holds

$$|f(x) - f(y)| \le \||\nabla f|\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega)} \,\mathsf{d}(x, y),\tag{1.7}$$

for every $x, y \in \Omega$ such that $d(x, y) \leq d(x, \partial\Omega)$.

Proof. The fact that f has a locally-Lipschitz representative it follows from the Sobolev-to-Lipschitz property and a cut-off argument.

For the second part we observe that it is sufficient to consider the case $d(x,y) < d(x,\partial\Omega)$, since the equality case follows by continuity. Hence for some r > 0 we have $d(x,y) < r < d(x,\partial\Omega)$ and we can consider $\tilde{f} \in W^{1,2}(X)$ such that $\tilde{f} = f$ m-a.e. in $B_r(x)$. Then for $\varepsilon < (r - d(x,y))/4$ we define $\mu_{\varepsilon}^0 := \mathfrak{m}_{|B_{\varepsilon}(x)}\mathfrak{m}(B_{\varepsilon}(x))^{-1}$, $\mu_{\varepsilon}^1 := \mathfrak{m}_{|B_{\varepsilon}(y)}\mathfrak{m}(B_{\varepsilon}(y))^{-1}$. thanks to the results in [R] and [RS] there exists a unique $\pi^{\varepsilon} \in \operatorname{OptGeo}(\mu_{\varepsilon}^0, \mu_{\varepsilon}^1)$ such that $e_{t*}\pi^{\varepsilon} \leq C\mathfrak{m}$, $\forall t \in [0, 1]$, for some constant C depending on ε . In particular π^{ε} is a test plan. Moreover from the triangle inequality it follows that π^{ε} is concentrated on curves γ with support contained in $B_r(x)$. Therefore from (1.2)

$$\left| \int f \, \mathrm{d}\mu_{\varepsilon}^{1} - \int f \, \mathrm{d}\mu_{\varepsilon}^{0} \right| \leq \int |\tilde{f}(\gamma_{1}) - \tilde{f}(\gamma_{0})| \, \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{\pi}^{\varepsilon}(\gamma) \leq \||\nabla \tilde{f}|\|_{L^{\infty}(B_{r}(x))} \int \int_{0}^{1} |\dot{\gamma}_{t}| \, \mathrm{d}t d\boldsymbol{\pi}^{\varepsilon} \leq \||\nabla f|\|_{L^{\infty}} W_{2}(\mu_{\varepsilon}^{0}, \mu_{\varepsilon}^{1}).$$

Letting $r \to 0^+$ from the continuity of f we obtain (1.7).

From Proposition 1.10 it also follows that

if
$$\Omega$$
 is connected, $u \in W_{loc}^{1,2}(\Omega)$ and $|\nabla u| = 0$, \mathfrak{m} -a.e., then u is constant in Ω . (1.8)

The Bishop-Gromov inequality holds (see [S06b]), i.e.

$$\frac{\mathfrak{m}(B_R(x))}{v_{K,N}(R)} \le \frac{\mathfrak{m}(B_r(x))}{v_{K,N}(r)}, \quad \text{for any } 0 < r < R \text{ and any } x \in X,$$

where for the quantities $v_{K,N}(r)$ coincides, for $N \in \mathbb{N}$, with the volume of the ball with radius r in the model space of dimension N and Ricci curvature K (see [S06b] for the definition of $v_{K,N}(r)$ for arbitrary $N \in [1,\infty)$). In particular (X, d, \mathfrak{m}) is proper and uniformly locally doubling. We also note that in the case K = 0 this implies that the limit

$$\mathsf{AVR}(\mathbf{X}) \coloneqq \lim_{r \to +\infty} \frac{\mathfrak{m}(B_r(x))}{r^N}$$

exists finite and does not depend on the point $x \in X$. We call the quantity AVR(X) asymptotic volume ratio of X and if AVR(X) > 0 we say that X has Euclidean-volume growth.

We will need the following Laplacian comparison for RCD(0, N) spaces (see [G15, Corollary 5.15]):

$$d(x_0, .)^2 \in D(\Delta) \text{ and } \Delta d(x_0, .)^2 \le 2N\mathfrak{m}, \text{ for every } x_0 \in X,$$
 (1.9)

moreover in any RCD(K, N) space with $N < +\infty$ it holds that

$$|\nabla \mathsf{d}(x_0,.)| = 1, \quad \mathfrak{m}\text{-a.e.}. \tag{1.10}$$

From to the results in [Ch99] and the fact that $lipd(x_0,.) \equiv 1$ it follows that (1.10) actually holds in the general setting of doubling m.m.s. satisfying a Poincaré inequality, however a more direct proof in the setting of RCD(K, N) spaces is also available (see for example [GP16a, Prop. 3.1]).

Recall that, since $\mathrm{RCD}(K,N)$ spaces are infinitesimally Hilbertian, the heat flow $h_t: L^2(\mathfrak{m}) \to L^2(\mathfrak{m})$, $t \geq 0$, defined as the gradient flow of Ch on $L^2(\mathfrak{m})$ is linear, continuous, self-adjoint and satisfies $h_t(f) \in D(\Delta) \cap W^{1,2}(X)$, moreover the curve $(0,\infty) \ni t \mapsto h_t f \in L^2(\mathfrak{m})$ is locally absolutely continuous for every $f \in L^2(\mathfrak{m})$ and

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}h_t(f) = \Delta h_t(f) \in L^2(\mathfrak{m}), \text{ for a.e. } t > 0,$$

(see [G18] for further details). Moreover h_t has the so called L^{∞} -to Lipschitz regularization property (see [AGS14b]), i.e. there exists a constant C(K) > 0 such that for every $f \in L^{\infty} \cap L^2(\mathfrak{m})$ it holds that $|\nabla h_t f| \in L^{\infty}(\mathfrak{m})$ and

$$\||\nabla h_t f|\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathfrak{m})} \le \frac{C(K)}{\sqrt{t}} \|f\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathfrak{m})}, \quad \forall t \in (0, 1).$$

$$(1.11)$$

In an RCD(K, N) space it can be given also a notion of heat kernel (see [AGS14b]) $p_t : X \times X \to [0, +\infty]$ which has a locally Hölder-continuous representative (see [S95,S96]), which satisfies the following pointwise bounds ([JLZ14]), generalizing the classical estimates of Li and Yau in the smooth case [LiY]:

$$\frac{1}{C_1 \mathfrak{m}(B(x,\sqrt{t}))} \exp\left\{-\frac{\mathsf{d}^2(x,y)}{3t} - ct\right\} \le p_t(x,y) \le \frac{C_1}{\mathfrak{m}(B(x,\sqrt{t}))} \exp\left\{-\frac{\mathsf{d}^2(x,y)}{5t} + ct\right\}, \\
|\nabla p_t(x,\cdot)(y)| \le \frac{C_1}{\sqrt{t}\mathfrak{m}(B(x,\sqrt{t}))} \exp\left\{-\frac{\mathsf{d}^2(x,y)}{5t} + ct\right\} \quad \text{for \mathfrak{m}-a.e. } y \in X, \tag{1.12}$$

for any $x, y \in X$, for any t > 0 and where c, C_1 are positive constants depending only on K, N such that c = 0 if K = 0.

We introduce the algebra of test functions Test(X) ([Sa]) defined as

$$\mathsf{Test}(X) := \{ f \in L^{\infty}(\mathfrak{m}) \cap \mathsf{LIP}(X) \cap D(\Delta) \mid \Delta f \in W^{1,2}(X) \}.$$

It turns out that $\mathsf{Test}(\mathsf{X})$ is dense in $W^{1,2}(\mathsf{X})$ and $\langle \nabla f, \nabla g \rangle \in W^{1,2}(\mathsf{X})$ for every $f, g \in W^{1,2}(\mathsf{X})$.

We recall the notion of Hessian for a test function as constructed in [G18]: for any $f \in \text{Test}(X)$ there exists $\text{Hess}(f) : [L^0(TX)]^2 \to L^0(\mathfrak{m}), L^0$ -bilinear symmetric and continuous in the sense that $|\text{Hess}(f)(v,w)| \leq |\text{Hess}(f)|_{OP}|v||w|$, for some (minimal) function $|\text{Hess}(f)|_{OP} \in L^2(\mathfrak{m})$. Moreover Hess(f) is characterized by the identity

$$2 \int h \operatorname{Hess}(f)(\nabla f_1, \nabla f_2) d\mathfrak{m} =$$

$$- \int \langle \nabla f, \nabla f_1 \rangle \operatorname{div}(h \nabla f_1) + \nabla f, \nabla f_2 \operatorname{div}(h \nabla f_2) - \operatorname{div}(h \nabla f) \langle \nabla f_1, \nabla f_2 \rangle d\mathfrak{m},$$

for any choice of $h, f_1, f_2 \in \mathsf{Test}(X)$. The Hessian also induces an L^0 -linear and continuous map $\mathsf{Hess}(f): L^0(TX) \to L^0(TX)$ characterized by

$$\langle \operatorname{Hess}(f)(v), w \rangle = \operatorname{Hess}(f)(v, w), \quad \mathfrak{m}\text{-a.e.}, \quad \forall w \in L^0(TX)$$

and which satisfies $|\text{Hess}(f)(v)| \leq |\text{Hess}(f)|_{OP}|v|$. We recall also the following identity, which essentially is contained in [G18, Prop. 3.3.22],

$$2\operatorname{Hess}(f)(\nabla f) = \nabla |\nabla f|^2, \quad \forall f \in \operatorname{Test}(X). \tag{1.13}$$

Combining [GP16b, Theorem 5.1] with the recent [BS20] we have the following result (we refer to [G18] for the definition of dimension and local base for a normed module).

Theorem 1.11 (Constancy of the dimension). Let X be any RCD(K, N) space with $K \in \mathbb{R}$ and $N \in [1, \infty)$. Then there exists an integer dim(X) $\in [1, N]$ such that the tangent module $L^0(TX)$ has constant dimension equal to dim(X).

A corollary of this result is the existence of a global orthonormal base: $\{e_1, ..., e_{\dim(X)}\} \subset L^0(TX)$ such that $\langle e_i, e_j \rangle = \delta_{i,j}$ m-a.e. for every $i, j = 1, ..., \dim(X)$. In particular for every $v \in L^0(TX)$ it holds that

 $v = \sum_{i=1}^{\dim(X)} v_i e_i$, where $v_i := \langle v, e_i \rangle$. Then, denoted by $(Hf)_{i,j}$ the functions $\operatorname{Hess}(f)(e_i, e_j) \in L^0(\mathfrak{m})$, for $i, j \in \{1, ..., \dim(X)\}$, we can write

$$\operatorname{Hess}(f)(v) = \sum_{1 \le i, j \le \dim(X)} (Hf)_{i,j} v_j e_i, \quad \forall v \in L^0(TX).$$
(1.14)

Moreover we define the trace and Hilbert-Schmidt norm trHess(f), $|Hess(f)|_{HS} \in L^2(\mathfrak{m})$ as

$$|\operatorname{Hess}(f)|_{HS}^2 \coloneqq \sum_{1 \le i, j \le \dim(\mathbf{X})} (Hf)_{i,j}^2,, \tag{1.15}$$

$$trHess(f) := \sum_{1 \le i \le \dim(X)} (Hf)_{i,i}, \tag{1.16}$$

which are well defined in the sense that they do not depend on the choice of the base, as can be easily verified by a direct computation. It always holds that $|\text{Hess}(f)|_{OP} \leq |\text{Hess}(f)|_{HS}$ m-a.e. (see [G18, Sec. 3.2]).

In view of the above we can restate Theorem 3.3 in [H18] as follows (see also [EKS],[AMS] for the "basic version" of the Bochner inequality.)

Theorem 1.12 (Improved Bochner-inequality). Let X be any RCD(K, N) space with $K \in \mathbb{R}$ and $N \in [1, \infty)$. Then for any $f \in \mathsf{Test}(X)$ it holds that $|\nabla f|^2 \in D(\Delta)$ and

$$\Delta\left(\frac{|\nabla f|^2}{2}\right) \ge \left(|\operatorname{Hess}(f)|_{HS}^2 + K|\nabla f|^2 + \langle \nabla f, \nabla \Delta f \rangle + \frac{(\Delta f - \operatorname{tr} \operatorname{Hess}(f))^2}{N - \dim(\mathbf{X})}\right)\mathfrak{m},\tag{1.17}$$

where $\frac{(\Delta f - \text{trHess}(f))^2}{N - \dim(X)}$ is taken to be 0 in the case $\dim(X) = N$.

See [MN] for a proof of the following result.

Proposition 1.13 (Good cut-off functions). Let X be an RCD(K, N) space, $K \in \mathbb{R}$ and $N \in (1, \infty)$. Then for every $0 < r < R < +\infty$, every compact set P and every open set U containing P, such that diam(U) < R and $d(P, U^c) > r$, there exists a function $\eta \in \mathsf{Test}(X)$ such that

- 1. $0 < \eta < 1$, $\eta = 1$ in P and supp $\eta \subset U$,
- 2. $|\nabla \eta| + |\Delta \eta| < C(R, r, N, K)$,

moreover C does not depend on R in the case K = 0.

We recall that for any $N \in [1, \infty)$ the Euclidean N-cone over a m.m.s. $(Z, \mathfrak{m}_Z, \mathsf{d}_Z)$ is defined to be the space $C(Z) := [0, \infty) \times Z/(\{0\} \times Z)$ endowed with the following distance and measure

$$d_{C(Z)}((t,z),(s,z')) := \sqrt{s^2 + t^2 - 2st\cos(\mathsf{d}_Z(z,z') \wedge \pi)},$$

$$\mathfrak{m}_{C(Z)} := t^{N-1} \mathrm{d}t \otimes \mathfrak{m}_Z.$$

It was proven in [Ket] that

if the Euclidan N-cone
$$(N \ge 2)$$
 over a m.m.s. Z is an RCD $(0, N)$ space,
then diam $(Z) \le \pi$ and Z is an RCD $(N - 2, N - 1)$ space. (1.18)

1.2.1 Localized Bochner inequality

Along this subsection Ω is an open subset of X. We define

$$\mathsf{Test}_{\mathsf{loc}}(\Omega) := \{ u \in \mathsf{LIP}_{\mathsf{loc}}(\Omega) \cap D(\mathbf{\Delta}, \Omega) \mid \mathbf{\Delta} u \in W^{1,2}_{\mathsf{loc}}(\Omega) \}.$$

This definition is motivated by the following observation:

$$\eta \in \mathsf{Test}(X) \text{ with supp } \eta \subset \subset \Omega, \ u \in \mathsf{Test}_{\mathsf{loc}}(\Omega) \implies \eta u \in \mathsf{Test}(X).$$
 (1.19)

This follows from the fact that for any $f \in \mathsf{LIP}(X) \cap D(\Delta)$ it holds that $|\nabla f|^2 \in W^{1,2}(\Omega)$, which is essentially a consequence of the following inequality (see [G18, Corollary 3.3.9])

$$\int |\mathrm{Hess}(f)|_{HS}^2 \,\mathrm{d}\mathfrak{m} \leq \int (\Delta f)^2 \,\mathrm{d}\mathfrak{m} - K \int |\nabla f|^2 \,\mathrm{d}\mathfrak{m}, \quad \forall f \in \mathsf{TestX}.$$

(1.19) allows us to define for every $u \in \mathsf{Test}_{\mathsf{loc}}(\Omega)$ the functions $|\mathsf{Hess}(u)|_{HS}$, $\mathsf{trHess}(u) \in L^2_{\mathsf{loc}}(\Omega)$ as

$$|\text{Hess}(u)|_{HS} := |\text{Hess}(\eta u)|_{HS}$$
, m-a.e. in Ω' , $\text{tr}|\text{Hess}(u) := \text{tr}|\text{Hess}(\eta u)$, m-a.e. in Ω' ,

for every $\eta \in \mathsf{Test}(X)$ with compact support in Ω and such that $\eta = 1$ in $\Omega' \subset\subset \Omega$. This definition is well posed thanks to the locality property of the Hessian (see [G18, Prop. 3.3.24]). Recall also from Proposition 1.13 that many such functions η exist. The following follows directly from (1.17) and the above definitions.

Proposition 1.14 (Local improved Bochner Inequality). Let $u \in \mathsf{Test}_{\mathsf{loc}}(\Omega)$, then $|\nabla u|^2 \in D(\Delta, \Omega)$ and

$$\Delta_{|_{\Omega}}(|\nabla u|^2) \ge 2\left(|\operatorname{Hess}(u)|_{HS}^2 + \frac{(\Delta u - \operatorname{tr}\operatorname{Hess}(u))^2}{N - \dim(X)} + \langle \nabla u, \nabla \Delta u \rangle + K|\nabla u|^2\right)\mathfrak{m}|_{\Omega},\tag{1.20}$$

where $\frac{(\Delta u - \text{trHess}(u))^2}{N - \dim(X)}$ is taken to be 0 in the case $\dim(X) = N$.

We conclude this subsection observing that

if
$$u \in \mathsf{Test}_{\mathsf{loc}}(\Omega)$$
, then $|\nabla u| \in W^{1,2}_{\mathsf{loc}}(\Omega)$ and $\nabla |\nabla u|^2 = 2|\nabla u|\nabla |\nabla u|$, (1.21)

indeed from (1.13) it follows that $|\nabla |\nabla u|^2||\nabla u|^{-1} \leq 2|\mathrm{Hess}(u)|_{OP}$, \mathfrak{m} -a.e. in $\{|\nabla u| > 0\}$ and the claim follows applying Lemma 1.4 with $\alpha = 1/2$ and $|\nabla u|^2$ in place of u.

1.2.2 (Sub)harmonic functions in RCD spaces

In this subsection (X, d, \mathfrak{m}) is an RCD(K, N) m.m.s. with $N \in [1, \infty)$.

Proposition 1.15. Let Ω be an open and bounded subset of X and let $u \in D(\Delta, \Omega)$ be such that $\Delta u \geq 0$. Then

• weak maximum principle: if u is upper semicontinuous in $\bar{\Omega}$, then

$$\operatorname{ess\,sup}_{\Omega} u \leq \sup_{\partial \Omega} u,$$

• strong maximum principle:

if $u \in C(\Omega)$, Ω is connected and $u(x) = \sup_{\Omega} u$ for some $x \in \Omega$, then u is constant.

Proof. The result is a direct consequence of the maximum principle for harmonic functions, which holds in more general doubling metric measure spaces supporting a Poincaré inequality (see [BB]). We report here a short justification which uses more direct arguments available in the RCD from [GR19].

For the first part suppose by contradiction that $\operatorname{ess\,sup}_{\Omega} u > \sup_{\partial\Omega} u$. Then there exists $c \in \mathbb{R}$ such that $\sup_{\partial\Omega} u < c < \operatorname{ess\,sup}_{\Omega}$, in particular from the upper semicontinuity and compactness of $\partial\Omega$ we have that $f - \min(f, c) \in W^{1,2}(X)$ with compact support in Ω . From this point the proof continue exactly as in [GR19, Thm. 2.3].

For the second part we apply the strong-maximum principle in [GR19, Thm. 2.8] to a ball $B_r(x) \subset \Omega$, obtaining that u is constantly equal to $\sup_{\Omega} u$ in $B_r(x)$. In particular the set $\{u = \sup_{\Omega} u\} \cap \Omega$ is open (and closed in Ω) and thus must coincide with Ω .

It is known that in RCD(K, N) spaces harmonic functions are continuous. It follows for example from the existence of Harnack inequalities (see Appendix B) that they are locally Hölder. It turns out that they are actually locally-Lipschitz and that the following gradient bound, analogous to the one due to Cheng and Yau ([ChY]) in the smooth setting, holds ([J, Theorem 1.2]). We state it only in the case N = 0 (see also [HKX] for an analogous result).

Theorem 1.16 (Gradient estimate). For every $N \in [1, \infty)$ there exists a positive constant C = C(N) such that the following holds. Let X be an RCD(0, N) space and let $u \in D(\Delta, B_{2R}(x))$ be positive and harmonic in $B_{2R}(x)$, then

$$\left\| \frac{|Du|}{u} \right\|_{L^{\infty}(B_R(x))} \le \frac{C}{R}. \tag{1.22}$$

Lemma 1.17. Let X be an RCD(0,N) space and let $\{u_i\}$ be a sequence of harmonic and continuous functions in Ω . Suppose that

$$\sup_{\Omega} |u_i| < C,$$

then there exists a subsequence u_{i_k} that converges locally uniformly to a function u harmonic in Ω .

Proof. The existence of a (non relabelled) subsequence u_i converging locally uniformly to a continuous function u follows from the gradient estimate (1.22) and Ascoli-Arzelà. It remains to prove that u is harmonic in Ω . Fix $\Omega' \subset\subset \Omega$ and $\eta \in \operatorname{Lip}_c(\Omega)$ with $\eta = 1$ in Ω' . Then $\eta u_i \in W^{1,2}(X)$ converges to $u\eta$ in $L^2(\Omega')$. Moreover, again by (1.22), we have

$$\sup_{i} |||\nabla(\eta u_i)|||_{L^2(\mathfrak{m})} < +\infty.$$

In particular (recall that $W^{1,2}(X)$ is Hilbert) up to a subsequence $u_i\eta \rightharpoonup \eta u$ in $W^{1,2}(X)$ and therefore (from the locality of the gradient) $\int_{\Omega} \langle \nabla u, \nabla f \rangle d\mathfrak{m} = 0$ for every $f \in \mathsf{LIP}_c(\Omega')$ (see also [G15, Prop 5.19] for a similar limiting argument). From the arbitrariness of Ω' we deduce both that $u \in W^{1,2}_{\mathsf{loc}}(\Omega)$ and that u is harmonic in Ω .

1.2.3 pmGH-convergence

We will adopt the following definition of pointed-measure Gromov Hausdorff convergence of pointed metric measure spaces, which is equivalent to the usual one in the case when supp $\mathfrak{m}_n = X_n$ and the measures \mathfrak{m}_n are uniformly locally doubling. We refer to [GMS] for a discussion on the various notions of convergence of p.m.m. spaces and their relations.

Definition 1.18 (pointed-measure Gromov Hausdorff convergence). We say that the sequence $(X_n, d_n, \mathfrak{m}_n, x_n)$ of p.m.m.s. pointed-measure Gromov Hausdorff-converges (pmGH-converges in short) to the p.m.m.s. $(X_{\infty}, d_{\infty}, \mathfrak{m}_{\infty}, x_{\infty})$, if there are sequences $R_n \uparrow +\infty$, $\varepsilon_n \downarrow 0$ and Borel maps $f_n : X_n \to X_{\infty}$ such that

- 1) $f_n(x_n) = x_\infty$,
- 2) $\sup_{x,y\in B_{R_n}(x_n)} |\mathsf{d}_n(x,y) \mathsf{d}_\infty(f_n(x), f_n(y))| \le \varepsilon_n,$
- 3) the ε_n -neighborhood of $f_n(B_{R_n}(x_n))$ contains $B_{R_n-\varepsilon_n}(x_\infty)$,
- 4) for any $\varphi \in C_{bs}(X_{\infty})$ it holds $\lim_{n \to \infty} \int \varphi \circ f_n \, d\mathfrak{m}_n = \int \varphi \, d\mathfrak{m}_{\infty}$.

It is proven in [GMS] that there exists a distance d_{pmGH} that metrizes the pmGH-convergence for the class of RCD(K, N) spaces with $K \in \mathbb{R}$ and $N < +\infty$ fixed, and more generally for every family of uniformly locally doubling metric measure spaces.

It will be also useful to recall the so called extrinsic approach (see [GMS]) to pmGH-convergence, valid in the case of uniformly doubling and geodesic m.m.s.: the pmGH-convergence can be realized by a proper metric space (Y, d) where X_i, X_∞ are subsets of Y such that $\mathsf{d}_{Y|X_i \times X_i} = \mathsf{d}_i, \mathsf{d}_{Y|X_\infty \times X_\infty} = \mathsf{d}_\infty$, $d_Y(x_i, x_\infty) \to 0$, $\mathfrak{m}_i \to \mathfrak{m}_\infty$ in duality with $C_{bs}(Y)$ and $d_H^Y(B_R^{X_n}(x_n), B_R^{X_\infty}(x_\infty)) \to 0$ for every R > 0. After the works in [S06a],[S06b], [LV], [GMS], [AGS14b] and in view of the Gromov compactness

theorem [Gr, Sec. 5.A], the following fundamental compactness result for RCD spaces is known.

Proposition 1.19. Suppose $(X_n, d_n, \mathfrak{m}_n, x_n)$ are $RCD(K_n, N)$ spaces with $N \in [1, \infty)$, $K_n \to K \in \mathbb{R}$ and $\mathfrak{m}(B_1(x_n)) \in [v^{-1}, v]$ for some v > 1. Then there exists a subsequence $(X_{n_k}, \mathsf{d}_{n_k}, \mathfrak{m}_{n_k}, x_{n_k})$ that pmGHconverges to an RCD(K, N) space $(X_{\infty}, d_{\infty}, \mathfrak{m}_{\infty}, x_{\infty})$.

1.2.4 Stability results under pmGH-convergence

In this subsection $(X_i, \mathsf{d}_i, \mathfrak{m}_i, x_i)$ is a pmGH-converging sequence of RCD(K, N) spaces, $N < +\infty$, and (Y, d) is a proper metric space which realizes such convergence through the extrinsic approach (see the previous subsection).

Definition 1.20 (Locally uniform / uniform convergence). Let $f_i: X_i \to \mathbb{R}$, $f_{\infty}: X_{\infty} \to \mathbb{R}$. We say that f_i converges locally uniformly to f_{∞} if for every $y \in X_{\infty}$ and every sequence $y_i \in X_i$ such that $d_Y(y_i, y) \to 0$ it holds that $\lim_{i} f_i(y_i) = f_{\infty}(y)$.

We say that f_i converges uniformly to f_{∞} if for every $\varepsilon > 0$ there exists $\delta > 0$ such that $|f_i(y_i) - f_{\infty}(y)| < 0$ ε for every $i \geq \delta^{-1}$ and every y_i such that $\mathsf{d}_Y(y_i, y) < \delta$.

We point out that in the case of a fixed proper metric space the two notions of convergence in the above definition coincide respectively with the usual locally uniform and uniform convergence.

The following is a version of the Ascoli-Arzelà theorem for varying metric spaces (see also [Vi, Prop. 27.20]). The proof can be achieved arguing as in case of a fixed (proper) metric metric space and we will skip it.

Proposition 1.21. Let $f_i: X_i \to \mathbb{R}$ be equiLipschitz, equibounded functions with supp $f_i \subset B_R(x_i)$, then there exists a subsequence that converges uniformly to a Lipschitz function $f: X_{\infty} \to \mathbb{R}$.

Definition 1.22 (Weak/strong L^2 -convergence). A sequence of functions $f_i \in L^2(\mathfrak{m}_i)$ converges weakly in

 L^2 to a function $f \in L^2(\mathfrak{m}_{\infty})$ if $f_i\mathfrak{m}_i \to f\mathfrak{m}_{\infty}$ in duality with $C_{bs}(Y)$ and $\sup_i \|f_i\|_{L^2(\mathfrak{m}_i)} < +\infty$. A sequence of functions $f_i \in L^2(\mathfrak{m}_i)$ converges strongly in L^2 to a function $f \in L^2(\mathfrak{m}_{\infty})$ if it converges weakly in L^2 to f and $\lim_i ||f_i||_{L^2(\mathfrak{m}_i)} = ||f||_{L^2(\mathfrak{m}_\infty)}$.

In the following proposition we collect some basic facts about strong and weak L^2 convergence.

a) If $f_i \in L^2(\mathfrak{m}_i)$ converge strongly in L^2 to $f \in L^2(\mathfrak{m}_{\infty})$ and f_i have uniformly Proposition 1.23. bounded support, then $\varphi \circ f_i$ converge strongly in L^2 to $\varphi \circ f$, for every $\varphi \in C(\mathbb{R})$ such that $\varphi(0) = 0$ and $|\varphi(t)| \leq C(1+|t|)$ for some positive constant C > 0.

- b) If $f_i, g_i \in L^2(\mathfrak{m}_i)$ are uniformly bounded in $L^{\infty}(\mathfrak{m}_i)$ and converge strongly in L^2 respectively to $f, g \in L^2(\mathfrak{m}_{\infty})$, then $f_i g_i$ converge strongly in L^2 to f g.
- c) If $f_i: X_i \to \mathbb{R}$, with supp $f_i \subset B_R^{X_i}(x_i)$, converge uniformly to a bounded function $f: X_\infty \to \mathbb{R}$ then f_i converge strongly in L^2 to f.

Proof. a) follows from the characterization of L^2 -strong convergence as weak convergence of the graphs (see [AGS14a, Sec. 5.2], [GMS] and also [AH17, Remark 5.2]). Indeed from [GMS, (6.6)] L^2 -convergence is equivalent to weak convergence of $(id \times f)_*\mathfrak{m}_i$ to $(id \times f)_*\mathfrak{m}_\infty$ in duality with $\zeta \in C(Y \times \mathbb{R})$ satisfying $|\zeta(y,t)| \leq \psi(y) + C|t|^2$. Then the claim follows observing that: under our assumptions (since $\varphi(0) = 0$), testing convergence against such ζ 's is equivalent to test against $\eta\zeta$, where $\eta \in C_{bs}(Y)$ is such that $\eta \equiv 1$ in the supports of f_i, f_∞ and moreover $|\eta(y)\zeta(y, \varphi(t))| \leq |\eta(y)|(\psi(y) + C(1+|t|)^2)$ for every $\varphi \in C(\mathbb{R})$ as in the hypotheses.

The proof of b) can be found in [AH17, Proposition 3.3].

c) is a consequence of [AHT, Prop 3.2], however we include an alternative direct argument. We first observe that from the properness of Y it follows that the functions f_i are equibounded, moreover they have uniform bounded support by hypothesis. Therefore we can apply the generalized version of Fatou lemma for varying measure (see e.g. [DG18, Lemma 2.5]), first to $f_i\varphi$ and then to $-f_i\varphi$ to obtain that $\int f_i\varphi \, d\mathfrak{m}_i \to \int f\varphi \, d\mathfrak{m}$, where φ is an arbitrary function in $C_{bs}(Y)$. Applying the same lemma also the functions $f_i^2, -f_i^2$ we deduce that $\int f_i^2 \, d\mathfrak{m}_i \to \int f^2 \, d\mathfrak{m}$, concluding the proof.

We will also need the following result about stability of Laplacian and gradient with respect to strong L^2 convergence. Here Δ_i (resp. Δ_{∞}) represents the Laplacian operator in X_i (resp. X_{∞}) and ∇_i (resp. ∇_{∞}) represents the gradient operator in X_i (resp. X_{∞}).

Theorem 1.24 ([AH18, Theorem 2.7, Theorem 2.8]). Let $f_i \in D(\Delta_i)$ be such that

$$\sup_{i} \|f_{i}\|_{L^{2}(\mathfrak{m}_{i})} + \|\Delta_{i}f_{i}\|_{L^{2}(\mathfrak{m}_{i})} < +\infty$$

and assume that f_i converge strongly in L^2 to f. Then $f \in D(\Delta_{\infty})$, $\Delta_i f \to \Delta_{\infty} f$ weakly in L^2 and $|\nabla_i f_i| \to |\nabla_{\infty} f|$ strongly in L^2 .

We conclude this subsection with the following technical result.

Lemma 1.25 ([AH17, Lemma 5.8]). Let $f_i \in W^{1,2}(X_i)$ be such that $\sup_i |||\nabla f_i|||_{L^2(\mathfrak{m}_i)} < +\infty$ and converging strongly in L^2 to $f \in W^{1,2}(X_\infty)$, then for any $A \subset Y$ open it holds

$$\int_{A} |\nabla_{\infty} f|^{2} d\mathfrak{m}_{\infty} \leq \liminf_{i} \int_{A} |\nabla_{i} f|^{2} d\mathfrak{m}_{i}.$$

1.3 Regular Lagrangian flows

In the work of Ambrosio and Trevisan ([AT]) it was extended the theory of flows for Sobolev vector fields (recall [DL] and [A]) to very general metric measure spaces and in particular for $RCD(K, \infty)$ spaces.

We restate here, using the language we introduced in the previous sections, their main results of existence and uniqueness.

Definition 1.26. Let $v_t : [0,T] \to L^2(TX)$ be Borel, we say that a map $F : [0,T] \times X \to X$ is a Regular Lagrangian Flow associated to v_t if the following are satisfied:

1. There exists C > 0 such that

$$F_{t*}\mathfrak{m} \le C\mathfrak{m}, \quad \text{for every } t \in [0, T],$$
 (1.23)

- 2. for \mathfrak{m} -a.e. $x \in X$ the function $[0,T] \ni t \mapsto F_t(x)$ is continuous and satisfies $F_0(x) = x$.
- 3. for every $f \in \mathsf{Test}(X)$ it holds that for \mathfrak{m} -a.e. $x \in X$ the function $(0,T) \ni t \mapsto f \circ F_t(x)$ is absolutely continuous and

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}f \circ F_t(x) = \langle \nabla f, v_t \rangle \circ F_t(x), \quad \text{for a.e. } t \in (0, T).$$
 (1.24)

Notice that in (1.24) we are implicitly choosing for every $t \in (0,T)$ a Borel representative of $\langle \nabla f, v_t \rangle$, however (1.23) ensures that the validity of item 3 in Definition 1.26 is independent of this choice.

Observe also that in Definition 1.26 we are assuming that the map F is pointwise defined, however the definition is stable under modification in a negligible set of trajectories in the following sense. If $F_t(x)$ is a Regular Lagrangian Flow for v_t (as in Definition 1.26) and for \mathfrak{m} -a.e. x, $\tilde{F}_t(x) = F_t(x)$ holds for every $t \in [0,T]$, for some map $\tilde{F}: [0,T] \times X \to X$ then \tilde{F} is also a Regular Lagrangian Flow for v_t . In any case to avoid technical issues, in our discussion we prefer to fix a pointwise defined representative for the flow map F.

Remark 1.27. If F_t is a regular Lagrangian flow for a vector field v_t , then for \mathfrak{m} -a.e. x it holds that the curve $[0,T] \ni t \mapsto F_t(x)$ is absolutely continuous and its metric speed is given by

$$|F_t(x)| = |v_t| \circ F_t(x),$$
 a.e. $t \in [0, T].$

This follows from [AT, Lemma 7.4 and 9.2]. Observe that this statement is independent of the chosen representative of $|v_t|$, thanks to (1.23).

We will see below in Theorem 1.29 that the existence and uniqueness of a Regular Lagrangian Flow is linked to the existence and uniqueness of a solution to the continuity equation ([GH15]):

Definition 1.28. Let $v_t : [0,T] \to L^2(TX)$ be Borel and $t \mapsto \mu_t \in \mathscr{P}(X)$, $t \in [0,T]$ be also a Borel map. Suppose also that $||v_t||_{L^2(\mathfrak{m})} \in L^1(0,T)$ and $\mu_t \leq C\mathfrak{m}$ for every $t \in [0,T]$ and some positive constant C. We say that μ_t is a weak solution of the continuity equation

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}\mu_t + \mathrm{div}(v_t\mu_t) = 0,$$

with initial datum μ_0 , if for every $f \in \text{Lip}_{bs}(X)$ the function $[0,T] \ni t \mapsto \int f \, d\mu_t$ is absolutely continuous and

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \int f \,\mathrm{d}\mu_t = \int \langle \nabla f, v_t \rangle \,\mathrm{d}\mu_t \qquad \text{for } a.e. \, t \in (0, T).$$

We refer to [G18, Sec. 3.4] for the definition of the space $W_C^{1,2}(T\mathbf{X})$ and the object $\nabla_{sym}v \in L^2(T^{2\otimes}\mathbf{X})$. For our purposes it sufficient to know that for any $f \in \mathsf{Test}(\mathbf{X})$ we have $\nabla f \in W_C^{1,2}(T\mathbf{X})$, with $\nabla_{sym}\nabla f = \nabla(\nabla f) = \mathrm{Hess}(f)^{\sharp}$ (see [G18, Sec. 3.2]).

Theorem 1.29 ([AT]). Let $v_t: [0,T] \to L^2(TX)$ be Borel and such that $v_t \in D(\text{div})$ for every $t \in [0,T]$. Assume furthermore that $|||v_t|||_{L^2(\mathfrak{m})} \in L^1(0,T)$, $||\text{div}(v_t)^-||_{L^\infty} \in L^\infty(0,T)$ and $||\nabla_{sym}v_t||_{L^2(T^{\otimes 2}X)} \in L^1(0,T)$. Then

- 1. there exists a unique Regular Lagrangian flow F_t associated to v_t ,
- 2. for every initial datum $\mu_0 \in \mathscr{P}(X)$ with $\mu_0 \leq C\mathfrak{m}$ there exists a unique weak solution μ_t to the continuity equation and it is given given by $\mu_t := F_{t*}\mu_0$.

We remark that the uniqueness of the Regular Lagrangian Flow in Theorem 1.29 has to be intended up to modification in a negligible set of trajectories, as discussed above.

Remark 1.30. Let v_t be as in Theorem 1.29 and autonomous, i.e. $v_t \equiv v$ for some $v \in D(\text{div}) \cap W_C^{1,2}(TX)$ with $\text{div}(v)^- \in L^{\infty}(\mathfrak{m})$. Then, thanks to the uniqueness given by Theorem 1.29, the Lagrangian flow F_t relative to v can be extended uniquely (up to a set of negligible trajectories) to a map $F: [0, \infty) \times X \to X$ which satisfies the following group property

$$F_s \circ F_t = F_{s+t}, \quad \mathfrak{m}\text{-a.e.}$$
 (1.25)

for every $s, t \in [0, \infty)$.

Moreover if also $\operatorname{div}(v) \in L^{\infty}(\mathfrak{m})$, it can be shown (see for example [GR18, Lemma 3.18]) that, denoting by F_t^{-v} the Lagrangian flow relative to -v (which exists unique for all times $t \geq 0$, thanks to Theorem 1.29 and the previous observation)

$$F_t^{-v} \circ F_t = \mathrm{id}, \quad \mathfrak{m}\text{-a.e},$$

for every $t \geq 0$. Hence setting $F_{-t} := F_t^{-v}$ we can extend F to $F: (-\infty, +\infty) \times X \to X$, for which (1.25) is satisfied for every $s, t \in \mathbb{R}$.

1.3.1 Functions of bounded variation

We recall the definition of function of bounded variation on a metric measure space. For a detailed treatment of this topic see for example [M] and [AD].

Definition 1.31 (Functions of bounded variation). We say that function $f \in L^1(\mathfrak{m})$ belongs to the space $\mathsf{BV}(\mathsf{X})$ of functions of bounded variation if there exists a sequence $f_n \in \mathrm{Lip}_{\mathsf{loc}}(\mathsf{X})$ such that $f_n \to f$ in $L^1(\mathfrak{m})$ and

$$\limsup_{n \to +\infty} \int \operatorname{lip} f_n \, \mathrm{d}\mathfrak{m} < +\infty,$$

(where $\lim_{n \to \infty} f_n$ was defined in (1.1)). By localizing this construction we also define

$$||Df||(A) := \inf \left\{ \liminf_n \int_A \operatorname{lip} f_n \, \mathrm{d}\mathfrak{m} : f_n \in \operatorname{Lip}_{\mathsf{loc}}(A), f_n \to f \text{ in } L^1(A) \right\},$$

for any $A \subset X$ open. It is proven in [M] (at least for doubling m.m.s.) that this set function is the restriction to open sets of a finite and positive Borel measure on X that we call *total variation* of f and still denote by ||Df||.

It is proven in [GH16, Remark 3.5], in the case of proper RCD(K, ∞) spaces (and thus also for any RCD(K, N), with $N < +\infty$), the equivalence between the total variation and the weak upper gradient, meaning that if $f \in \mathsf{BV}(X) \cap \mathrm{Lip}_{\mathsf{loc}}(X)$, then

$$||Df|| = |\nabla f| \mathfrak{m}. \tag{1.26}$$

Definition 1.32 (Sets of finite perimeter). Given a Borel set $E \subset X$ and any open set $A \subset X$ we define the perimeter Per(A, E) as

$$\operatorname{Per}(A,E) \coloneqq \inf \left\{ \liminf_n \int_A \operatorname{lip} f_n \mathrm{d}\, \mathfrak{m} \ : \ f_n \in \operatorname{Lip}_{\mathsf{loc}}(A), \, f_n \to \chi_E \text{ in } L^1_{\mathsf{loc}}(A) \right\}.$$

We say that E has finite perimeter if $Per(E, X) < +\infty$. In this case it can be proved that the set function Per(E, A) is the restriction to open sets of a finite and positive Borel measure on X that we still denote by Per(E, .).

We will need the following variant of the coarea formula, which follows from (1.26), the standard coarea formula for m.m.s. (see [M, Remark 4.3]) and a simple truncation argument.

Proposition 1.33 (Coarea formula). Let X be an RCD(K, N) m.m.s with $N < +\infty$ and let $\Omega \subset X$ open. Let $u \in \mathsf{LIP}_{\mathsf{loc}}(\Omega)$ be positive and such that $u^{-1}([a,b])$ is compact in Ω , for every $[a,b] \subset (0,1)$. Then $\{u < t\}$ has finite perimeter for a.e. $t \in (0,1)$ and for any $f: \Omega \to [-\infty, +\infty]$ Borel and in $L^1_{\mathsf{loc}}(\Omega, |\nabla u|\mathfrak{m}_{|\Omega})$ it holds that

$$\int_{\Omega} \varphi(u) f |\nabla u| \, \mathrm{d}\mathfrak{m} = \int_{\Omega} \varphi(t) \int f \, \mathrm{dPer}(\{u < t\}, .) \, \mathrm{d}t, \quad \forall \varphi : [0, 1] \to \mathbb{R} \ \textit{Borel, with } \mathrm{supp} \, \varphi \subset (0, 1). \quad (1.27)$$

2 Nonparabolic RCD spaces

In this section we introduce the notion of nonparabolic RCD(0, N) space: this is the natural setting to study problem (P), indeed already for smooth manifolds the existence of a solution to (P) implies that the manifold is nonparabolic (see for example Theorem 2.3 in [AFM]).

We recall that a (non-compact) Riemannian manifold is said to be nonparabolic if it admits a positive global Green function. It has been proved by Varopouls ([V]) that in the case $Ric \ge 0$ the nonparabolicity is equivalent to (2.1). This motivates the following.

Definition 2.1 (Nonparabolic RCD space). Let (X, d, \mathfrak{m}) be an RCD(0, N) space with $N < +\infty$. We say that X is nonparabolic if

$$\int_{1}^{+\infty} \frac{s}{\mathfrak{m}(B_{s}(x))} \, \mathrm{d}s < +\infty, \quad \text{for every } x \in X.$$
 (2.1)

Observe that the above quantity is finite for one $x \in X$ if and only if it is finite for all $x \in X$.

We point out that condition (2.1) in the context of RCD spaces was already introduced in [BS20].

Remark 2.2. It follows immediately from the Bishop-Gromov inequality that if X is a non-parabolic RCD(0, N) space then it is non-compact and N > 2.

In the following two subsections we develop the two main features of a nonparabolic RCD space that we will need in this note: the first is the existence of a Green function, which also provides an explicit solution to (P); the second is that the number of ends is equal to one (see Definition 2.6).

2.1 The Green function

It turns out that on a nonparabolic RCD space it can be given a notion of positive global Green function. Following [BS20] we define the Green function $G: X \times X \to [0, +\infty]$ as

$$G(x,y) := \int_0^\infty p_t(x,y) dt.$$

We also set $G_x(y) := G(x,y)$. For any $\varepsilon > 0$ we also define the quasi Green function $G^{\varepsilon} : X \times X \to [0, +\infty]$ as

$$G^{\varepsilon}(x,y) := \int_{\varepsilon}^{\infty} p_t(x,y) \, \mathrm{d}t$$
 (2.2)

and as above we set $G_x^{\varepsilon}(y) := G^{\varepsilon}(x,y)$. It is proved in [BS20, Lemma 2.5] that $G_x^{\varepsilon} \in \mathsf{LIP}(X) \cap D(\Delta)$ with $\Delta G_x^{\varepsilon} = -p_{\varepsilon}(x,y)\mathfrak{m}$, in particular G_x^{ε} is superharmonic in the whole X.

Proposition 2.3 (Estimates for the Green functions, [BS20, Prop. 2.3], see also [Gr]). Let (X, d, m) be a nonparabolic RCD(0, N) m.m.s. Then there exits a constant C = C(N) > 1 such that

$$\frac{1}{C} \int_{\mathsf{d}(x,y)}^{\infty} \frac{s}{\mathfrak{m}(B_s(x))} \, \mathrm{d}s \le G(x,y) \le C \int_{\mathsf{d}(x,y)}^{\infty} \frac{s}{\mathfrak{m}(B_s(x))} \, \mathrm{d}s, \quad \forall x,y \in X.$$
 (2.3)

Proposition 2.4. Let X be a nonparabolic RCD(0, N) m.m.s.. Then G_x is positive, continuous and harmonic in $X \setminus \{x\}$, for every $x \in X$.

Proof. Fix $R, \delta > 0$ with $R > \delta$ and define $A_{\delta,R} = B_R(x) \setminus \bar{B}_{\delta}(x)$. It enough to prove that G_x is harmonic on $A_{\delta,R}$. Recall that $G_x^{\varepsilon} \in \mathsf{LIP}(\mathsf{X}) \cap D(\Delta)$ with $\Delta G_x^{\varepsilon} = -p_{\varepsilon}(x,y)\mathfrak{m}$ and that $G_x^{\varepsilon} \to G_x$ in $L^1_{\mathsf{loc}}(\mathsf{X})$. We now observe that from the heat kernel bounds (1.12) we have $\sup_{t \in (0,1)} \|p_t(x,.) + |\nabla p_t(x,.)|\|_{L^{\infty}(A_{\delta,R})} < +\infty$ and that $\sup_{\varepsilon > 0} \|G_x^{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{\infty}(A_{\delta,R})} < +\infty$. From this, following the arguments in the proof of [BS20, Lemma 2.5], we can prove that the sequence G_x^{ε} is Cauchy in $W^{1,2}(A_{\delta,R})$. In particular $G_x^{\varepsilon} \to G_x$ in $W^{1,2}(A_{\delta,R})$ and, since $p_t(x,.) \to 0$ uniformly in $A_{\delta,R}$, we deduce that G_x is harmonic in $A_{\delta,R}$ (cf. with Lemma 3.7).

We pass to the continuity of G_x in $X \setminus \{x\}$. We first observe that from (1.12) we have

$$\||\nabla p_t(x,.)|\|_{L^{\infty}(X\setminus B_{\delta}(x))} \le C(N)t^{-1/2}\mathfrak{m}(B_{\sqrt{t}}(x))^{-1}e^{\frac{-\delta^2}{5t}} =: \beta(t,\delta)$$

and that, thanks to the Bishop-Gromov inequality and the nonparabolicity assumption, $\int_0^\infty \beta(t, \delta) dt < +\infty$, for every $\delta > 0$. Therefore from the continuity of p_t and Proposition 1.10 we deduce that

$$\limsup_{z \to y} |G_x(z) - G_x(y)| \le \left(\int_0^\infty \beta(t, \delta) \, \mathrm{d}t \right) \limsup_{z \to y} \mathsf{d}(z, y) = 0, \quad \forall y \in \mathbf{X} \setminus \bar{B}_\delta(x_0),$$

from which the claimed continuity follows.

As anticipated, the Green function provides a solution to (P), in particular we have the following:

Corollary 2.5. Let X be a nonparabolic RCD(0, N) and let $\Omega \subset X$ be open, unbounded with $\partial\Omega$ bounded. Then for every $x_0 \in \Omega^c$ there exists $\lambda > 0$ such that λG_{x_0} is a solution to (P).

Proof. From Proposition 2.4 it follows that G_{x_0} is harmonic and continuous in $X \setminus \{x_0\}$, moreover from (2.3) we have that $G_{x_0}(x) \to 0$ as $d(x, x_0) \to +\infty$. Therefore, since $\partial\Omega$ is bounded and G_{x_0} is positive, we can simply take $\lambda = (\min_{\partial\Omega} G_{x_0})^{-1}$.

2.2 Number of ends

Let us introduce the notion of *ends* for a metric space. The definition is usually given for manifolds, however, since the definition is purely metric, it carries over verbatim to metric spaces.

Definition 2.6 (Number of ends of a metric space). Let (X, d) be a metric space and $k \in \mathbb{N}$. We say that X has k ends if both the following are true:

- 1. for any K compact, $X \setminus K$ has at most k unbounded (topological) connected components,
- 2. there exists K' compact such that $X \setminus K'$ has exactly k unbounded (topological) connected components.

Remark 2.7. Recall that in a length metric space the notions of topological/path/Lipschitz-path connectedness are all equivalent (the standard argument used for manifolds carries over).

The following result generalizes to the non smooth setting a well known result for Riemannian manifolds.

Proposition 2.8. Suppose (X, d, m) is a non compact RCD(0, N) space, $N \in [1, \infty)$. Then exactly one of the following holds:

- (i) X is a cylinder, meaning that X is isomorphic to the product $(\mathbb{R} \times X', \mathsf{d}_{Eucl} \times \mathsf{d}', \mathcal{L}^1 \otimes \mathfrak{m}')$, where $(X', \mathsf{d}', \mathfrak{m}')$ is a compact $\mathrm{RCD}(0, N-1)$ m.m.s. if $N \geq 2$ and a single point if $N \in [1, 2)$,
- (ii) for every C bounded subset of X, there exists R > 0 such that the following holds: for every couple of points $x, y \in X$ satisfying d(x, C), d(y, C) > R there exists $\gamma \in \text{Lip}([0, 1], X)$ such that $\gamma(0) = x, \gamma(1) = y, \gamma \subset X \setminus C$ and $\text{Lip}(\gamma) \leq 5d(x, y)$. In particular X has one end.

Proof. We closely follow [AFM, Prop. 2.10]. Suppose that ii) does not hold, it follows that there exists a bounded set C, two sequences of points $(x_k), (y_k) \subset X$ and geodesics (γ_k) between x_k and y_k such that $d(x_k, C), d(y_k, C) \to +\infty$ and γ_k intersects C for all k. Since X is proper and C is compact, with a compactness argument (assuming all the γ_k parametrized by arc length) we deduce that X contains a line. In particular, begin X an RCD(0, N) space, by the splitting theorem [G13a] we infer that X is is isomorphic to the product $(\mathbb{R} \times X', d_{Eucl} \times d', \mathcal{L}^1 \otimes \mathfrak{m}')$, where (X', d', \mathfrak{m}') is an RCD(0, N - 1) space if $N \geq 2$ and a single point if $N \in [1, 2)$. It remains to prove that X' is bounded.

Suppose it is not. We claim that this would imply the validity of ii) and thus a contradiction. Indeed suppose that $C \subset X$ is bounded, then $C \subset B_R(p)$ for some R > 0 and $p \in X$. It is enough to show that for every couple of points $x_0, x_1 \in B_{2R}(p)^c$ there exists $\gamma \in \text{Lip}([0,1],X)$ joining them and with image contained in $B_R(p)^c$. In the case $d(x_0,x_1) \leq R$ we conclude immediately by taking a geodesic between x_0 and x_1 , hence we can suppose that $d(x_0,x_1) > R$. Identifying X with $\mathbb{R} \times X'$ we have that $p = (\bar{t},x'), x_i = (t_i,x_i')$ i = 0,1, for some $\bar{t},t_0,t_1 \in \mathbb{R}$ and $x',x'_0,x'_1 \in X'$. Hence $I \times B' \subset B_{2R}(p)$, where $I \coloneqq [\bar{t}-R,\bar{t}+R]$ and $B' \coloneqq B_R(x')$. In particular $x_i \in (I \times B')^c$, i = 0,1, i.e. for every i = 0,1 either $t_i \notin I$ or $x_i \notin B'$. We claim that it is sufficient to deal with the case $t_0 \in \mathbb{R} \setminus I$ and $x'_1 \in X' \setminus B'$, indeed the other cases follow from this one by concatenating two paths of this type as follows: if $t_0,t_1 \notin I$ and $x'_0,x'_1 \in B'$ we choose $y' \notin B'$ (which exists since X' is unbounded) and we join (t_0,x'_0) to (t_0,y') and then (t_0,y') to (t_1,x'_1) ; if $t_0,t_1 \in I$ and $x'_0,x'_1 \notin B'$ we pick $s \notin I$ and we join (t_0,x'_0) to (s,x'_0) and then (s,x'_0) to (t_1,x'_1) .

Hence we can assume that $t_0 \in \mathbb{R} \setminus I$ and $x_1' \in X' \setminus B'$. To build the required path, consider a geodesic $\eta : [0,1] \to X'$ going from x_0' to x_1' and define the function $s : [0,1] \to \mathbb{R}$ as $s(t) = t_1 t + (1-t) t_0$. Then the curve

$$\gamma(t) = \begin{cases} (t_0, \eta(t)), & t \in [0, 1), \\ (s(t), x_1'), & t \in [1, 2], \end{cases}$$

is Lipschitz and has image contained in $(I \times B')^c \subset B_R(p)^c$, hence (up to a reparametrization) satisfies all the requirements.

To estimate $\operatorname{Lip}(\gamma)$ we observe that, up to a reparametrization, we can assume that $\operatorname{Lip}(\gamma) = L(\gamma)$, hence it is sufficient to bound the length of γ . In the case $t_0 \in \mathbb{R} \setminus I$ and $x_1' \in X' \setminus B'$ it is sufficient to observe that $L(\gamma) = \mathsf{d}'(x_0', x_1') + |t_0 - t_1| \leq 2(\mathsf{d}_{Eucl} \times \mathsf{d}((t_0, x_0'), (t_1, x_1')))$, where γ is the curve constructed above. The general case follows concatenating two paths as described above, where we pick y' and s so that $\mathsf{d}'(y', x') < 2R$, $|\bar{t} - s| < 2R$. Indeed it can be easily checked these two resulting paths have respectively length not grater than 2R and $2R + \mathsf{d}(x_0, x_1)$. Since we are assuming $\mathsf{d}(x_0, x_1) \geq R$, this concludes the proof.

Corollary 2.9. If X is a nonparabolic RCD(0, N) space, then it is not a cylinder and in particular item ii) of Proposition 2.8 holds and X has only one end.

Proof. Suppose by contradiction X is a cylinder $\mathbb{R} \times X'$. Then for any r > 0 and any $(x, t) \in X' \times \mathbb{R}$ we have

$$\mathfrak{m}(B_r((x,t))) = (\mathcal{L}^1 \otimes \mathfrak{m}')(B_r((x,t))) \leq (\mathcal{L}^1 \otimes \mathfrak{m}')(X' \times [t-r,t+r]) = \mathfrak{m}'(X') 2r,$$

which clearly contradicts the fact that X is nonparabolic.

3 New estimates for harmonic functions

3.1 Preliminary calculus rules

In this subsection we collect and prove some versions of the chain and Leibniz rule for the Laplacian and the divergence operator, that will be used in the following subsection. These results are essentially variants of the ones already contained in [G15] and [G18]. However, since one of the main obstacles in the proof of Theorem 3.4 and Corollary 3.5 is making the computations rigorous and justifying the derivatives taken, we decided to state and prove in details the results we need.

In everything that follows Ω is an open subset of a proper and infinitesimally Hilbertian m.m.s. (X, d, m).

Proposition 3.1 (Leibniz rule for Δ). Let $u \in D(\Delta, \Omega)$ and let $g \in \mathsf{LIP}_{\mathsf{loc}}(\Omega) \cap D(\Delta, \Omega)$ be such that $\Delta g \in L^2(\Omega)$. Then $ug \in D(\Delta, \Omega)$ and

$$\Delta(ug) = g\Delta u + u\Delta g + 2\langle \nabla u, \nabla g \rangle \mathfrak{m}.$$

Proof. Let $f \in \mathsf{LIP}_c(\Omega)$. Then using the Leibniz rule for the gradient

$$\int \langle \nabla(ug), \nabla f \rangle \, d\mathfrak{m} = \int \langle \nabla u, \nabla(fg) \rangle \, d\mathfrak{m} + \int \langle \nabla g, \nabla(uf) \rangle \, d\mathfrak{m} - 2 \int f \langle \nabla u, \nabla g \rangle \, d\mathfrak{m}.$$

Since $fg \in \mathsf{LIP}_c(\Omega)$ and $fu \in W^{1,2}(X)$ with support compact in Ω , we conclude from Remark 1.7.

Proposition 3.2 (Leibniz rule for div). Let $v \in D(\text{div}, \Omega)$. Then

1. if $g \in \mathsf{LIP}_{\mathsf{loc}}(\Omega)$, then $gv \in D(\mathbf{div}, \Omega)$ and

$$\mathbf{div}(gv) = \langle \nabla g, v \rangle \mathfrak{m} + g \mathbf{div}(v); \tag{3.1}$$

2. if $g \in W^{1,2}_{loc}(\Omega)$ and $\operatorname{\mathbf{div}}(v) \in L^2_{loc}(\Omega)$, then $gv \in D(\operatorname{\mathbf{div}}, \Omega)$ and (3.1) holds.

Proof. Let $f \in \mathsf{LIP}_{\mathsf{c}}(\Omega)$. Using the Leibniz rule for the gradient we get

$$-\int \langle \nabla f, gv \rangle d\mathfrak{m} = -\int \langle \nabla (fg), v \rangle d\mathfrak{m} + \int f \langle \nabla g, v \rangle d\mathfrak{m}.$$

The conclusion follows in the first case observing that $fg \in \mathsf{LIP}_c(\Omega)$ and in the second case observing that $fg \in W^{1,2}(X)$ with compact support in Ω and recalling Remark 1.9.

Proposition 3.3 (Chain rule for Δ). Let $u \in D(\Delta, \Omega)$ and let $\varphi \in C^2(I)$, where I is an open interval such that (1.4) holds. Then

1. if $u \in \mathsf{LIP}_{\mathsf{loc}}(\Omega)$ then $\varphi(u) \in D(\Delta, \Omega)$ and

$$\mathbf{\Delta}_{\mid_{\Omega}}(\varphi(u)) = \varphi'(u)\mathbf{\Delta}_{\mid_{\Omega}}u + \varphi''(u)|\nabla u|^{2}\mathfrak{m}_{\mid_{\Omega}}.$$
(3.2)

2. if $\Delta u \geq g\mathfrak{m}|_{\Omega}$ for some $g \in L^1_{loc}(\Omega)$ then $\varphi(u) \in D(\Delta, \Omega)$ and

$$\Delta_{|_{\Omega}}(\varphi(u)) \ge (\varphi'(u)g + \varphi''(u)|\nabla u|^2) \mathfrak{m}_{|_{\Omega}}.$$

Proof. Let $f \in \mathsf{LIP}_c(\Omega)$, then from the chain rule and Leibniz rule for the gradient

$$-\int \langle \nabla(\varphi(u)), \nabla f \rangle d\mathfrak{m} = -\int \langle \nabla(\varphi'(u)f), \nabla u \rangle d\mathfrak{m} + \int f \langle \nabla \varphi'(u), \nabla u \rangle d\mathfrak{m}.$$

In the first case we conclude from the fact that $\varphi'(u)f \in \operatorname{Lip}_c(\Omega)$. In the second case we assume also $f \geq 0$ and observe that $\varphi'(u)f \in W^{1,2}(X) \cap L^{\infty}(\mathfrak{m})$ is nonnegative with compact support in Ω , hence from Remark 1.7 it follows that

$$-\int \langle \nabla(\varphi(u)), \nabla f \rangle d\mathfrak{m} \ge \int \varphi'(u) f g\mathfrak{m} + \int f \varphi''(u) |\nabla u|^2 d\mathfrak{m}.$$

The conclusion follows applying Proposition 1.6.

3.2 Second order estimates for harmonic functions

Before starting the discussion, let us say that this part is independent of all the rest of the note and we only assume that

X is an
$$RCD(K, N)$$
 with $N \in [2, +\infty)$ and Ω an open subset of X.

The goal of this subsection is to prove the following two results, which can be reinterpreted as a generalization of the well known fact that in a Riemannian manifold with nonnegative Ricci curvature the square norm of the gradient of an harmonic function is subharmonic.

Theorem 3.4. Let X be an RCD(K, N) space with $N \in [2, \infty)$, let u be harmonic in Ω and $\beta > \frac{N-2}{N-1}$. Then $|\nabla u|^{\beta/2} \in W^{1,2}_{loc}(\Omega)$, $|\nabla u|^{\beta} \in D(\Delta, \Omega)$ and

$$\Delta(|\nabla u|^{\beta}) \ge C_{\beta,N} |\nabla |\nabla u|^{\frac{\beta}{2}}|^2 \mathfrak{m}_{|\Omega} + 2\beta K |\nabla u|^2 \mathfrak{m}_{|\Omega}, \tag{3.3}$$

where $C_{\beta,N} = \frac{4}{\beta} \left(\beta - \frac{N-2}{N-1} \right)$. Moreover $|\nabla u|^{\beta} \in D(\Delta,\Omega)$ also for $\beta = \frac{N-2}{N-1}$ with (3.3) holding without the term containing $C_{\beta,N}$.

Corollary 3.5. Let X be an RCD(K,N) space with $N \in (2,\infty)$. Suppose u is positive and harmonic in Ω , set $v = u^{\frac{-1}{N-2}}$ and let $\beta > \frac{N-2}{N-1}$. Then $|\nabla v|^{\beta/2} \in W^{1,2}_{loc}(\Omega)$, $u^2 \nabla |\nabla v|^{\beta/2} \in D(\operatorname{\mathbf{div}},\Omega)$ and

$$\operatorname{\mathbf{div}}(u^{2}\nabla|\nabla v|^{\beta}) \geq C_{\beta,N} u^{2}|\nabla|\nabla v|^{\frac{\beta}{2}}|^{2} \mathfrak{m}_{|\Omega} + 2\beta K u^{2}|\nabla v|^{\beta} \mathfrak{m}_{|\Omega}, \tag{3.4}$$

where $C_{\beta,N} = \frac{4}{\beta} \left(\beta - \frac{N-2}{N-1} \right)$. Moreover $u^2 \nabla |\nabla v|^{\beta/2} \in D(\mathbf{div},\Omega)$ also for $\beta = \frac{N-2}{N-1}$ with (3.4) holding without the term containing $C_{\beta,N}$.

Let us remark that the results on the rest of this note rely only on Corollary 3.5. However we decided to isolate Theorem 3.4, since it contains estimates for general harmonic functions that appear to be useful and interesting on their own.

The main ingredient for the proof of Theorem 3.4 is the following new Kato-type inequality. Observe that if $\dim(X) = N$, in which case (from [H18]) $\operatorname{trHess}(u) = \Delta u$, letting $t \to 0$ we recover the standard refined Kato-inequality for harmonic functions.

Lemma 3.6 (Generalized refined Kato inequality). Let X be an RCD(K, N) space, with $N \in [1, +\infty)$, and let $n = \dim(X)$. Then for any $u \in Test_{loc}(\Omega)$ (see Sec. 1.2.1) it holds

$$\frac{t+n}{t+n-1}|\nabla|\nabla u||^2 \le |\mathrm{Hess}(u)|_{HS}^2 + \frac{(\mathsf{tr}\mathrm{Hess}(u))^2}{t}, \quad \mathfrak{m}\text{-}a.e. \ in \ \Omega, \ \forall t > 0. \tag{3.5}$$

Proof. Observe that it is enough to prove (3.5) for $u \in \mathsf{Test}(X)$.

We make the following preliminary observation. Let A be any symmetric $n \times n$ real matrix, then the following inequality holds for every t > 0

$$\frac{t+n}{t+n-1}|A\cdot v|^2 \le \frac{|v|^2(\operatorname{tr} A)^2}{t} + |v|^2|A|^2, \quad \forall v \in \mathbb{R}^n, \quad \forall N \ge n.$$
(3.6)

where |A| is the Hilbert-Schmidt norm of A. To prove it we can assume that A is diagonal with diagonal entries $\lambda_1, ..., \lambda_n$, where $\lambda_n \geq \lambda_i$, $i \leq n$ and also that $|v| \leq 1$. Applying twice Cauchy-Schwartz we obtain

$$\frac{(\lambda_1 + \dots + \lambda_n)^2}{t} + \lambda_1^2 + \dots + \lambda_{n-1}^2 + \lambda_n^2 \ge \frac{(\lambda_1 + \dots + \lambda_n)^2}{t} + \frac{(\lambda_1 + \dots + \lambda_{n-1})^2}{n-1} + \lambda_n^2$$

$$\ge \frac{\lambda_n^2}{t+n-1} + \lambda_n^2 \ge \frac{t+n}{t+n-1} |A \cdot v|^2,$$

which proves (3.6).

Let $e_1, ..., e_n \in L^0(TX)$ be a global orthonormal base which exists thanks to Theorem 1.11. Consider the $n \times n$ real matrix $A: X \to L^0(\mathfrak{m})^{n^2}$ defined by $\{A_{i,j}(x)\}_{i,j} = \{\text{Hess}(u)(e_i, e_j)(x)\}_{i,j}$. Define also the vector $v: X \to L^0(\mathfrak{m})^n$ as $v_i(x) := \langle \nabla u, e_i \rangle(x)$. From (1.13) and the formula (1.14) we have that

$$2|\nabla u|\nabla |\nabla u| = \nabla |\nabla u|^2 = 2\sum_{i=1}^n \sum_{j=1}^n A_{i,j}v_j e_i, \quad \text{in } L^0(TX).$$

Taking the square pointwise norm on both sides we obtain

$$4|\nabla u|^2|\nabla|\nabla u|^2 = 4|A \cdot v|^2$$
, m-a.e..

Since from (1.15) and (1.16) we have that $|\text{Hess}(u)|_{HS}^2 = |A|_{HS}^2$ and trHess(u) = trA, the conclusion follows combining the above identity with (3.6).

The second ingredient for the proof is the following simple technical lemma (cf. with [G15, Prop. 4.15])

Lemma 3.7. Let X be an RCD(K, N)space, with $N < +\infty$. Let $(u_n) \subset D(\Delta, \Omega)$ and $u \in W^{1,2}_{loc}(\Omega)$ be such that $|\nabla u_n - \nabla u|^2 \to 0$ in $L^1_{loc}(\Omega)$. Moreover assume that $\Delta u_n \geq g_n \mathfrak{m}$ for some $g_n \in L^1_{loc}(\Omega)$ such that $\int g_n f \ d\mathfrak{m} \to \int g f \ d\mathfrak{m} + \int h f \ d\mathfrak{m}$, for every $f \in LIP_c(\Omega)$ with $f \geq 0$, for some fixed functions $g \in L^0(\Omega, \mathfrak{m})$ and $h \in L^1_{loc}(\Omega)$, with $g \geq 0$ \mathfrak{m} -a.e.. Then $g \in L^1_{loc}(\Omega)$, $u \in D(\Delta, \Omega)$ and $\Delta u \geq (g + h)\mathfrak{m}$.

Proof. The assumptions guarantee that $\int \langle \nabla u_n, \nabla f \rangle d\mathfrak{m} \to \int \langle \nabla u, \nabla f \rangle d\mathfrak{m}$, for every $f \in \mathsf{LIP}_c(\Omega)$, therefore we can pass to the limit on both sides of $-\int \langle \nabla u_n, \nabla f \rangle d\mathfrak{m} \ge \int g_n f d\mathfrak{m}$ to obtain that

$$-\int \langle \nabla u, \nabla f \rangle d\mathfrak{m} \ge \int g f d\mathfrak{m} + \int h f d\mathfrak{m}, \quad \forall f \in \mathsf{LIP}_c(\Omega), \text{ with } f \ge 0.$$

From this it follows that $g \in L^1_{loc}(\Omega)$, indeed we can take for any K compact in Ω a function $f \in \mathsf{LIP}_c(\Omega)$ such that $f \geq 0$ and f = 1 in K and then bring $\int hf \, \mathrm{d}\mathfrak{m}$ to the other side of the inequality. The conclusion then follows applying Proposition 1.6.

Proof of Theorem 3.4. The proof is based on a inductive bootstrap argument. We make the following claim

if
$$\beta > \frac{N-2}{N-1}$$
 is such that $|\nabla u|^{\beta} \in W^{1,2}_{loc}(\Omega)$, then $|\nabla u|^{\beta/2} \in W^{1,2}_{loc}(\Omega)$ and (3.3) holds.

Observe that, since we already know that $|\nabla u|^{\beta} \in W^{1,2}_{\mathsf{loc}}(\Omega)$ for every $\beta \geq 1$ (recall (1.21)), the first part of the conclusion follows iterating the above statement.

We pass to the proof of the claim, hence we fix $\beta > \frac{N-2}{N-1}$ such that $|\nabla u|^{\beta} \in W^{1,2}_{loc}(\Omega)$. Since $u \in$ $\mathsf{Test}_{\mathsf{loc}}(\Omega)$, from the local Bochner inequality (1.20) combined with the Kato inequality (3.5) (with t= $N - \dim(X)$ if $\dim(X) < N$ and letting $t \to 0$ if $N = \dim(X)$, since in the latter case $0 = \Delta u = \text{trHess}(u)$ we have $|\nabla u|^2 \in D(\Delta, \Omega)$ and

$$\Delta(|\nabla u|^2) \geq \left(\frac{2N}{N-1}|\nabla|\nabla u||^2 + 2K|\nabla u|^2\right)\mathfrak{m}_{\big|\Omega},$$

Hence from the chain rule for the Laplacian (second version in Proposition 3.3, applied with $\varphi \in C^2(\mathbb{R})$ as $\varphi(t)=(t+\varepsilon)^{\frac{\beta}{2}}$) we have that $(|\nabla u|^2+\varepsilon)^{\frac{\beta}{2}}\in D(\Delta,\Omega)$ and

$$\Delta((|\nabla u|^{2} + \varepsilon)^{\frac{\beta}{2}}) \geq \left[\beta(|\nabla u|^{2} + \varepsilon)^{\frac{\beta}{2} - 1}|\nabla|\nabla u||^{2} \left(\frac{N}{N - 1} + \frac{(\beta - 2)|\nabla u|^{2}}{|\nabla u|^{2} + \varepsilon} \wedge (\beta - 2)\right) + 2K\beta(|\nabla u|^{2} + \varepsilon)^{\frac{\beta}{2}} \frac{|\nabla u|^{2}}{|\nabla u|^{2} + \varepsilon}\right] \mathfrak{m}|_{\Omega}, \tag{3.7}$$

for every $\varepsilon > 0$. Setting $v_{\varepsilon} \coloneqq \nabla(|\nabla u|^2 + \varepsilon)^{\frac{\beta}{2}}$ it is easy to see using dominated convergence that $|v_{\varepsilon} - \nabla(|\nabla u|^{\beta})|^2 \to 0$ in $L^1_{\text{loc}}(\Omega)$ as $\varepsilon \to 0^+$. Moreover for every $\beta > \frac{N-2}{N-1}$, denoting by $g_{\beta,\varepsilon} \in L^1_{\text{loc}}(\Omega)$ the function on the right hand side of (3.7), we have that $\int_{\Omega} g_{\beta,\varepsilon} f d\mathfrak{m} \to \int_{\Omega} g_{\beta} f d\mathfrak{m} + 2K\beta \int_{\Omega} |\nabla u|^{\beta} f d\mathfrak{m}$, for every $f \in \text{Lip}_c(\Omega)$ with $f \geq 0$, where $g_\beta \in L^0(\Omega, \mathfrak{m})$ is given by

$$g_{\beta} \coloneqq \beta \left(\beta - \frac{N-2}{N-1}\right) \chi_{|\nabla u| > 0} |\nabla u|^{\beta-2} |\nabla |\nabla u||^2.$$

This can be seen applying dominated convergence for the second term in (3.7) and using respectively dominated convergence in the case $\beta \geq 2$ and monotone convergence in the case $\frac{N-2}{N-1} < \beta < 2$, to deal with the first term. We are therefore in position to apply Lemma 3.7 and deduce both that $g_{\beta} \in L^1_{loc}(\Omega)$ and that $|\nabla u|^{\beta} \in D(\Delta, \Omega)$ with $\Delta(|\nabla u|^{\beta}) \geq (g_{\beta} + 2K\beta |\nabla u|^{\beta})\mathfrak{m}_{|\Omega}$. Moreover the fact that $g_{\beta} \in L^1_{loc}(\Omega)$ together with Lemma 1.4 implies that $|\nabla u|^{\beta/2} \in W^{1,2}_{\text{loc}}(\Omega)$. This shows the claim and thus concludes the proof of the first part.

We pass to the case $\beta = \frac{N-2}{N-1}$. From the previous part we know that $|\nabla u|^{\beta} \in W_{\text{loc}}^{1,2}(\Omega)$, hence we can repeat the above argument and observe that in this case $g_{\beta} = 0$, from which the conclusions follows.

Proof of Corollary 3.5. We start observing that from the positivity and local Lipschitzianity of u follows that $u^{-1} \in \text{Lip}_{\mathsf{loc}}(\Omega)$ and thus $u^{\alpha} \in W^{1,2}_{\mathsf{loc}}(\Omega)$ for every $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$. Moreover, from the chain rule for the Laplacian (first version in Proposition 3.3, applied with u and $\varphi(t) = t^{\alpha}$, $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$) and by the harmonicity of u, we deduce that $u^{\alpha} \in D(\Delta, \Omega)$ with $\Delta(u^{\alpha}) = \alpha(\alpha - 1)u^{\alpha - 2}|\nabla u|^2\mathfrak{m}|_{\Omega}$. Hence from the Leibniz rule for the Laplacian (Proposition 3.1) and Theorem 3.4 we have that $|\nabla u|^{\beta}u^{\alpha}\in D(\Delta,\Omega)$ with

$$\Delta(|\nabla u|^{\beta}u^{\alpha}) \ge \left(u^{\alpha}g_{\beta} + \alpha(\alpha - 1)u^{\alpha - 2}|\nabla u|^{\beta + 2} + 2\alpha u^{\alpha - 1}\langle\nabla|\nabla u|^{\beta}, \nabla u\rangle\right)\mathfrak{m}_{|\Omega} + 2K\beta u^{\alpha}|\nabla u|^{\beta}\mathfrak{m}_{|\Omega},$$

for every $\beta \geq \frac{N-2}{N-1}$ and every $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$, where g_{β} is the same as in the proof of Theorem 3.4. Applying the Leibniz rule for the divergence (Proposition 3.2) we deduce that $u^2\nabla(|\nabla u|^{\beta}u^{\alpha}) \in D(\mathbf{div},\Omega)$ with

$$\mathbf{div}(u^{2}\nabla(|\nabla u|^{\beta}u^{\alpha})) \geq \left(u^{\alpha+2}g_{\beta} + \alpha(\alpha+1)u^{\alpha}|\nabla u|^{\beta+2} + 2(\alpha+1)u^{\alpha+1}\langle\nabla|\nabla u|^{\beta}, \nabla u\rangle\right)\mathfrak{m}|_{\Omega} + 2K\beta u^{\alpha+2}|\nabla u|^{\beta}\mathfrak{m}|_{\Omega},$$
(3.8)

for every $\beta \geq \frac{N-2}{N-1}$ and every $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$.

We now assume that $\beta > \frac{N-2}{N-1}$. Since $|\nabla v| = (N-2)^{-1} u^{\frac{1-N}{N-2}} |\nabla u|$ and since from Theorem 3.4 we have $|\nabla u|^{\beta/2} \in W^{1,2}_{loc}(\Omega)$, it follows that $|\nabla v|^{\beta/2} \in W^{1,2}_{loc}(\Omega)$.

To see (3.4) we just take $\alpha = -\beta \frac{N-1}{N-2}$ in (3.8). Then a direct computation gives that the right hand

side of (3.8) equals the right hand side of (3.4). Finally choosing $\beta = \frac{N-2}{N-1}$, $\alpha = -1$ in (3.8) and recalling that in this case $g_{\beta} = 0$, shows also the second part of the statement, thus finishing the proof.

$\mathbf{4}$ The monotonicity formula

Decay estimates 4.1

Throughout this section (X, d, \mathfrak{m}) is a nonparabolic RCD(0, N) space (recall from Remark 2.2 that in this case N > 2), $\Omega \subset X$ is open, unbounded, with $\partial \Omega$ bounded, $x_0 \in \Omega^c$ is fixed and u is a solution to (P). It follows from the maximum principle that

$$0 < u < ||u||_{L^{\infty}}$$
, in Ω .

Moreover from Corollary 2.9 we must have that Ω^c is bounded.

Proposition 4.1. Set $R_0 := 3 \operatorname{diam}(\Omega^c) + 1$, then

$$\frac{|\nabla u|(x)}{u(x)} \le \frac{C}{\mathsf{d}(x, x_0)}, \quad \text{for } \mathfrak{m}\text{-}a.e. \ x \in B_{R_0}(x_0)^c,$$

where C = C(N) is a positive constant depending only on N.

Proof. Immediate from the gradient estimate (1.22) with $R = d(x, x_0)/4$.

Proposition 4.2. For every D, M > 0 there exists a positive constant $C_2 = C_2(N, D, M)$ such that the following holds. Let $u, \Omega x_0 \in \Omega^c$ as above with $diam(\Omega^c) \leq D$ and $||u||_{L^{\infty}} \leq M$, then setting $\delta := \mathsf{d}(x_0, \{u \le 1/2\}) \land 1 \text{ we have }$

$$\frac{\delta^{N-2}}{2}\mathsf{d}(x_0, x)^{2-N} \le u(x) \le C_2 \int_{\mathsf{d}(x, x_0)}^{+\infty} s \frac{\mathsf{m}(B_1(x_0))}{\mathsf{m}(B_s(x_0))} \, \mathrm{d}s, \quad \forall x \in B_{R_0}(x_0)^c, \tag{4.1}$$

where and $R_0 := 3 \operatorname{diam}(\Omega^c) + 1$ and the first inequality actually holds in $\Omega \cap B_{\delta}(x_0)^c$.

Before passing to the proof we notice that from the assumption $\liminf_{y\to\partial\Omega}u(y)\geq 1$ we have $\mathsf{d}(x_0,\{u\leq u\})$ 1/2) > 0, in particular the left inequality in (4.1) is nontrivial.

Proof of Proposition 4.2. We start with the first inequality.

From Laplacian comparison (1.9) we know that $d_{x_0}^2 \in D(\Delta)$ and $\Delta d_{x_0}^2 \leq 2N\mathfrak{m}$. Moreover from (1.10) $|\nabla d_{x_0}^2|^2 = 4d_{x_0}^2$. Define now the function $h = d_{x_0}^{2-N}$, then from the chain rule for the Laplacian we have that $h \in D(\Delta, X \setminus \{x_0\})$, and

$$\Delta h = \frac{2-N}{2} d_{x_0}^{-N} \Delta d_{x_0}^2 + \frac{2-N}{2} \left(\frac{2-N}{2} - 1 \right) 4 d_{x_0}^2 d_{x_0}^{-N-2} = \frac{N-2}{2} d_{x_0}^{-N} (2N\mathfrak{m} - \Delta d_{x_0}^2) \ge 0.$$

Hence h is subharmonic in $X \setminus \{x_0\}$. Moreover we have that $\lambda h \leq 1/2$ in $B_{\delta}(x_0)^c$, where $\lambda := \delta^{N-2}/2$. Finally from the assumption $d(x_0, \{u \leq 1/2\}) > \delta$ we have $u \geq \lambda h$ in $\Omega \cap B_{\delta}(x_0)^c$. Fix now r > 0 and define the open set $\Omega^r := \{x \in \Omega : d(x, \Omega^c) > r\}$. Observe that the function $\lambda h - u$ is subharmonic in Ω^r . Therefore from the weak maximum principle (see Proposition 1.15) we deduce that

$$\sup_{\Omega^r \cap B_R(x_0) \cap B_\delta(x_0)^c} (\lambda h - u) \le \max_{\partial \Omega^r \cap B_\delta(x_0)^c} (\lambda h - u) \vee \max_{\partial B_\delta(x_0) \cap \Omega^r} (\lambda h - u) \vee \max_{\partial B_R(x_0)} (\lambda h - u)$$

$$\le \max_{\partial \Omega^r} (1/2 - u) \vee 0 \vee \max_{\partial B_R(x_0)} (\lambda h - u) ,$$

for every $R > R_0$. Sending R to $+\infty$ and r to 0, recalling that both h and u vanish at infinity (since N > 2) and that $\liminf_{x \to \partial\Omega} u(x) \ge 1$, we conclude that $\lambda h \le u$ in $\Omega \cap B_{\delta}(x_0)^c$. This proves the first inequality in (4.1).

We now pass to the second inequality in (4.1). We argue by comparison with the quasi Green function $G^1(x) := G^1(x_0, x)$ (recall its definition in (2.2)). Recall that G^1 is superharmonic in X. Moreover, using the upper bound for the Green function and the estimates of the heat kernel we deduce that

$$c_1^{-1} \int_1^{+\infty} \frac{e^{-\frac{\mathsf{d}(x_0, x)^2}{3s}}}{\mathfrak{m}(B_{\sqrt{s}}(x_0))} \, \mathrm{d}s \overset{(1.12)}{\leq} G^1(x) \leq G(x, x_0) \overset{(2.3)}{\leq} c_1 \int_{\mathsf{d}(x, x_0)}^{+\infty} \frac{s}{\mathfrak{m}(B_s(x_0))} \, \mathrm{d}s, \tag{4.2}$$

for every $x \in X \setminus \{x_0\}$, for some positive constant $c_1 = c_1(N) > 1$. From Bishop-Gromov inequality and using the change of variable $s = td(x_0, x)^2$ we obtain

$$G^{1}(x) \geq c_{1}^{-1} \frac{\mathsf{d}(x_{0}, x)^{2-N}}{\mathfrak{m}(B_{1}(x_{0}))} \int_{\frac{1}{\mathsf{d}(x_{0}, x)^{2}}}^{+\infty} \frac{e^{-\frac{1}{3t}}}{t^{\frac{N}{2}}} \, \mathrm{d}t \geq C_{1} \frac{\mathsf{d}(x_{0}, x)^{2-N}}{\mathfrak{m}(B_{1}(x_{0}))}, \quad \forall x \in B_{1}(x_{0})^{c},$$

for some constant C_1 depending only on N. Therefore, taking $\lambda := M\mathfrak{m}(B_1(x_0))\frac{R_0^{N-2}}{C_1}$, we have $\lambda G^1 \ge M \ge u$ in $\partial B_{R_0}(x_0)$. Hence, since $\lambda G^1 - u$ is superharmonic in Ω , from the weak maximum principle it follows that for every $R > R_0$

$$\inf_{B_R(x_0) \cap B_{R_0}(x_0)^c} (\lambda G^1 - u) = \min_{\partial B_R(x_0) \cup \partial B_{R_0}(x_0)} (\lambda G^1 - u) \ge \min(0, \min_{\partial B_R(x_0)} (\lambda G^1 - u)).$$

Sending R to $+\infty$ and recalling that both G^1 and u go to 0 at infinity we conclude that $u \leq \lambda G^1$ in $B_{R_0}(x_0)^c$, which combined with the second bound in (4.2) gives the second inequality in (4.1).

4.2 Monotonicity

As in the previous section (X, d, m) is a nonparabolic RCD(0, N) space, $\Omega \subset X$ is open, unbounded, with $\partial\Omega$ bounded and u is a solution to (P).

We start with the following simple remark, which allows to define U_{β} and will be needed to justify the many applications of the coarea formula along all this section.

Remark 4.3. Since u is locally Lipschitz (recall Proposition 4.1), satisfies $\liminf_{x\to\partial\Omega}u(x)\geq 1$ and vanishes at infinity, it follows that u satisfies the hypotheses needed to apply the coarea formula (1.27) in Ω . In particular for every $f\in L^1_{\text{loc}}(\Omega)$ with $f\mathfrak{m}_{|\Omega}\ll |\nabla u|\mathfrak{m}_{|\Omega}$ we have

$$\int_0^1 \varphi(t) \int g \, d\text{Per}(\{u < r\}) \, dr = \int_{\Omega} \varphi(u) f \, d\mathfrak{m} < +\infty \,, \quad \forall \varphi : [0, 1] \to \mathbb{R} \text{ Borel, with supp } \varphi \subset (0, 1), \tag{4.3}$$

where g is any Borel representative of the function $\frac{\mathrm{d}(f\mathfrak{m}|_{\Omega})}{\mathrm{d}(|\nabla u|\mathfrak{m}|_{\Omega})}$. Therefore, by the arbitrariness of φ , we also deduce that:

for any
$$f \in L^1_{\mathsf{loc}}(\Omega)$$
 with $f\mathfrak{m}_{|\Omega} \ll |\nabla u|\mathfrak{m}_{|\Omega}$ and for any Borel representative g of $\frac{\mathrm{d}(f\mathfrak{m}_{|\Omega})}{\mathrm{d}(|\nabla u|\mathfrak{m}_{|\Omega})}$,
the function $(0,1)\ni r\mapsto \int g\,\mathrm{d}\mathrm{Per}(\{u< r\})$ is in $L^1_{\mathsf{loc}}(0,1)$ and (its a.e. equivalence class) (4.4)

Choosing in the above remark $f = \frac{|\nabla u|^{\beta+2}}{u^{\beta}\frac{N-1}{N-2}} \in L^1_{\text{loc}}(\Omega)$, with $\beta > -2$, and observing that $\text{supp}(\text{Per}(\{u < t\})) \subset \{u = t\}$ we deduce that, fixed a Borel representative of $|\nabla u|$, the function

$$U_{\beta}(t) := \frac{1}{t^{\beta \frac{N-1}{N-2}}} \int |\nabla u|^{\beta+1} \, d\text{Per}(\{u < t\}) \in L^{1}_{\text{loc}}(0,1), \tag{4.5}$$

is well defined and independent of the representative chosen for $|\nabla u|$. It worth to recall that after the work of [DGP] a canonical choice for the representative of $|\nabla u|$ could be its quasi-continuous representative (see [DGP] for the precise definition). An interesting point would be to investigate the relation between the representative of U_{β} given by this canonical choice and the continuous representative of U_{β} , which exists thanks to Theorem 4.4. We will not investigate this point in the present paper.

We are ready to state our main result regarding monotonicity.

Theorem 4.4. Let X be a nonparabolic RCD(0, N) space and let $\Omega \subset X$ be open, unbounded, with $\partial\Omega$ bounded. Suppose that u is a solution of (P) and let U_{β} , with $\beta \geq \frac{N-2}{N-1}$, be the function defined in (4.5). Then $U_{\beta} \in W^{1,1}_{loc}(0,1)$, $U'_{\beta} \in BV_{loc}(0,1)$ and

$$U_{\beta}^{'-}(t) \ge \frac{C_{\beta,N}}{t^2} \int_{\{u \le t\}} u^2 |\nabla| \nabla u^{\frac{1}{2-N}}|^{\frac{\beta}{2}}|^2 d\mathfrak{m}, \quad \forall t \in (0,1],$$
(4.6)

(recall that $|\nabla u^{\frac{1}{2-N}}|^{\frac{\beta}{2}} \in W^{1,2}_{loc}(\Omega)$ for every $\beta > \frac{N-2}{N-1}$ by Corollary 3.5) where $C_{\beta,N} = \frac{4}{\beta} \left(\beta - \frac{N-2}{N-1}\right)$, U'_{β} is the left continuous representative of U'_{β} and where the left hand side is taken to be 0 if $\beta = \frac{N-2}{N-1}$. In particular U_{β} is non-decreasing.

To prove Theorem 4.4 we start computing the first derivative of U_{β} (which does not evidently carry a sign).

Proposition 4.5. With the same assumptions as in Theorem 4.4, the function U_{β} belongs to $W_{loc}^{1,1}(0,1)$ and its derivative is given by

$$U_{\beta}'(t) = \int \langle \frac{\nabla u}{|\nabla u|}, \nabla \left(\frac{|\nabla u|^{\beta}}{u^{\beta \frac{N-1}{N-2}}} \right) \rangle d\text{Per}(\{u < t\}), \quad a.e. \ t \in (0, 1),$$

$$(4.7)$$

where the right hand side has to be intended as in (4.4) with $f = \langle \nabla u, \nabla \left(\frac{|\nabla u|^{\beta}}{u^{\beta} \frac{N-1}{N-2}} \right) \rangle$.

Proof. Consider the vector field $v := \frac{\nabla u |\nabla u|^{\beta}}{u^{\beta} \frac{N-1}{N-2}} \in L^0(T\mathbf{X})_{|\Omega}$ for $\beta \geq \frac{N-2}{N-1}$ and observe that from the Leibniz rule for the divergence (second version in Proposition 3.2) $v \in D(\operatorname{div}, \Omega)$ with

$$\operatorname{div}(v) = \langle \nabla u, \nabla \left(\frac{|\nabla u|^{\beta}}{u^{\beta} \frac{N-1}{N-2}} \right) \rangle \in L^{1}_{\mathsf{loc}}(\Omega),$$

thanks to the harmonicity of u. In particular $\operatorname{div}(v)\mathfrak{m} \ll |\nabla u|\mathfrak{m}$, hence recalling (4.3) and integrating by parts we have

$$\int_0^1 \int \frac{\operatorname{div}(v)}{|\nabla u|} d\operatorname{Per}(\{u < t\}) \varphi(t) dt \stackrel{\text{(4.3)}}{=} \int \operatorname{div}(v) \varphi(u) d\mathfrak{m} = -\int \frac{|\nabla u|^{\beta+2}}{u^{\beta \frac{N-1}{N-2}}} \varphi'(u) d\mathfrak{m} \stackrel{\text{(1.27)}}{=} -\int_0^1 U_{\beta}(t) \varphi'(t) dt,$$

for every $\varphi \in C_c^1(0,1)$, where in the last step we used that $\operatorname{supp}(\operatorname{Per}(\{u < t\},.)) \subset \{u = t\}$ and with $\frac{\operatorname{div}(v)}{|\nabla u|}$ denoting any Borel representative of $\frac{\operatorname{d}(\operatorname{div}(v)\mathfrak{m}|_{\Omega})}{\operatorname{d}(|\nabla u|\mathfrak{m}|_{\Omega}))}$. The conclusion follows.

To prove that U'_{β} is nonnegative we need to push our analysis to the second order and in particular to compute the derivative of $U'_{\beta}(t)t^2$. The reason for the term t^2 is that the key vector field with nonnegative divergence of Corollary 3.5 presents a term u^2 .

Proposition 4.6. With the same assumptions as in Theorem 4.4, the function $U'_{\beta}(t)t^2$ belongs to $BV_{loc}(0,1)$ and

$$(U_{\beta}'(t)t^{2})' \ge C_{\beta,N} \left(\int \frac{u^{2}|\nabla|\nabla u^{\frac{1}{2-N}}|^{\frac{\beta}{2}}|^{2}}{|\nabla u|} d\text{Per}(\{u < t\}) \right) \mathcal{L}^{1}|_{(0,1)} \ge 0, \tag{4.8}$$

where $C_{\beta,N} = \frac{4}{\beta} \left(\beta - \frac{N-2}{N-1} \right)$ and where the right hand side has to be intended as in (4.4) with $f = u^2 |\nabla |\nabla u^{\frac{1}{2-N}}|^{\frac{\beta}{2}}|^2$ when $\beta > \frac{N-2}{N-1}$ (recall also that from Corollary 3.5 $|\nabla u^{\frac{1}{2-N}}| \in W^{1,2}_{loc}(\Omega)$), and identically θ in the case $\beta = \frac{N-2}{N-1}$.

Proof. Consider any nonnegative $\varphi \in C_c^1(0,1)$. Applying formula (4.7) and the coarea formula (4.3)

$$\int_0^1 (U_\beta'(t)t^2)\varphi'(t)\mathrm{d}t = \int_0^1 \int \langle \frac{\nabla u}{|\nabla u|}, u^2 \nabla \left(\frac{|\nabla u|^\beta}{u^\beta \frac{N-1}{N-2}} \right) \rangle \varphi'(u) \mathrm{d}\mathrm{Per}(\{u < t\}) \stackrel{(4.3)}{=} \int \langle \nabla (\varphi(u)), u^2 \nabla \left(\frac{|\nabla u|^\beta}{u^\beta \frac{N-1}{N-2}} \right) \rangle \, \mathrm{d}\mathfrak{m},$$

observing that $\varphi(u) \in \mathsf{LIP}_c(\Omega)$ and recalling from Corollary 3.5 that $u^2 \nabla \left(\frac{|\nabla u|^{\beta}}{u^{\beta} \frac{N-1}{N-2}} \right) \in D(\mathbf{div}, \Omega)$, we obtain

$$-\int_0^1 (U_{\beta}'(t)t^2)\varphi'(t)dt = \int \varphi(u) d\mathbf{div} \left(u^2 \nabla \left(\frac{|Du|^{\beta}}{u^{\beta \frac{N-1}{N-2}}} \right) \right).$$

We now plug in (3.4) and (when $\beta > \frac{N-2}{N-1}$) apply the coarea formula (4.3) (observe that $||\nabla|\nabla u^{\frac{1}{2-N}}|^{\frac{\beta}{2}}|^2|\mathfrak{m} \ll |\nabla u|\mathfrak{m}$) to obtain

$$-\int_{0}^{1} (U_{\beta}'(t)t^{2})\varphi'(t)dt \ge \tilde{C}_{\beta,N} \int_{0}^{1} \int u^{2}|\nabla u|^{-1}|\nabla |\nabla u^{\frac{1}{2-N}}|^{\frac{\beta}{2}}|^{2} \mathfrak{m}|_{\Omega} d\operatorname{Per}(\{u < t\})\varphi(t) dt \ge 0, \tag{4.9}$$

with $u^2|\nabla u|^{-1}|\nabla|\nabla u^{\frac{1}{2-N}}|^{\frac{\beta}{2}}|^2$ denoting any Borel representative of $\frac{\mathrm{d}\left(u^2|\nabla|\nabla u^{\frac{1}{2-N}}|^{\frac{\beta}{2}}|^2\mathfrak{m}|_{\Omega}\right)}{\mathrm{d}(|\nabla u|\mathfrak{m}|_{\Omega}))}$. The proof is concluded observing that (4.9) gives at once that the distributional derivative of $U'(t)t^2$ is a locally finite measure (it is positive) and that (4.8) holds.

Justified by Proposition 4.5, from this point on we will identify U_{β} with its continuous representative. Moreover Proposition 4.6 guarantees that $U'_{\beta} \in BV_{loc}(0,1)$, thus we will denote by U'_{β}^{-} its representative which is left-continuous in (0,1] (notice that U'_{β} might take value $+\infty$ at t=1). We observe also that (4.8) implies that

$$(0,1] \ni t \mapsto U_{\beta}^{'-}(t)t^2$$
 is a non decreasing function. (4.10)

To prove Theorem 4.4 we aim to integrate (4.8), however to do so we still need to know that U_{β} is bounded close to 0. In particular we prove the following:

Proposition 4.7. With the same assumptions as in Theorem 4.4,

$$U_{\beta} \in L^{\infty}(0, 1/2).$$
 (4.11)

Proof. It is enough to show that

$$\left| \int_0^{\frac{1}{2}} U_{\beta} \varphi \, \mathrm{d}t \right| \le C \int_0^{\frac{1}{2}} |\varphi|, \quad \forall \varphi \in C_c^1(0, 1/2), \tag{4.12}$$

for some positive constant C independent of φ .

We start observing that, integrating by parts and applying the coarea formula (4.3),

$$0 = \int_{\Omega} \Delta u \varphi(u) \, d\mathfrak{m} = -\int_{\Omega} |\nabla u|^2 \varphi'(u) \, d\mathfrak{m} = -\int_{0}^{1} \int |\nabla u| \, d\operatorname{Per}(\{u < r\}) \varphi'(r) \, dr, \quad \forall \varphi \in C_c^1(0, 1),$$

in particular $\int |\nabla u| \, d\text{Per}(\{u < r\}) = D$ for a.e. $r \in (0,1)$, for some constant D. Therefore using again the coarea formula

$$\left| \int_{0}^{\frac{1}{2}} U_{\beta} \varphi \, \mathrm{d}t \right| \leq \int u^{\beta \frac{1-N}{N-2}} |\nabla u|^{\beta+2} |\varphi(u)| \, \mathrm{d}\mathfrak{m} \leq \left\| |\nabla u|^{\beta} u^{\beta \frac{1-N}{N-2}} \right\|_{L^{\infty}(\{u \leq 1/2\})} \int |\nabla u|^{2} |\varphi(u)| \, \mathrm{d}\mathfrak{m}$$

$$\stackrel{(4.3)}{=} \left\| |\nabla u|^{\beta} u^{\beta \frac{1-N}{N-2}} \right\|_{L^{\infty}(\{u \leq 1/2\})} \int_{0}^{\frac{1}{2}} \int |\nabla u| \, \mathrm{d}\mathrm{Per}(\{u < r\}) |\varphi(r)| \, \mathrm{d}r$$

$$= D \left\| |\nabla u|^{\beta} u^{\beta \frac{1-N}{N-2}} \right\|_{L^{\infty}(\{u \leq 1/2\})} \int_{0}^{\frac{1}{2}} |\varphi|, \quad \forall \varphi \in C_{c}^{1}(0, 1/2).$$

Therefore to prove (4.12) it remains to show that $\left\| |\nabla u|^{\beta} u^{\beta \frac{1-N}{N-2}} \right\|_{L^{\infty}(\{u \leq 1/2\})} < +\infty$. Let R_0 be as in Proposition 4.2 and observe that u, being positive and satisfying $\liminf_{x\to\partial\Omega} u(x) \geq 1$, is bounded away from zero in $B_{R_0}(x_0) \cap \Omega$. Moreover again thanks to $\liminf_{x\to\partial\Omega} u(x) \geq 1$ we have $\mathsf{d}(\partial\Omega, \{u \leq 1/2\}) > 0$. Therefore, since $u \in \mathsf{LIP}_{\mathsf{loc}}(\Omega)$, we have

$$\left\| |\nabla u|^{\beta} u^{\beta \frac{1-N}{N-2}} \right\|_{L^{\infty}(\{u \le 1/2\} \cap B_{R_0}(x_0))} < +\infty.$$

Moreover combining Proposition 4.1 and the lower bound in (4.1) we obtain

$$\||\nabla u|^{\beta} u^{\beta \frac{1-N}{N-2}}\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega \cap B_{R_0}(x_0)^c)} \le \left\| \left(\frac{C(N)}{\mathsf{d}(.,x_0)^{N-2} u} \right)^{\beta} \right\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega \cap B_{R_0}(x_0)^c)} < +\infty.$$

Combining the two estimates we conclude.

We are now ready to prove the main monotonicity result.

Proof of Theorem 4.4. We start observing that, thanks to (4.8), setting $\mu := (U_{\beta}(t)'t^2)' \geq 0$ we have

$$U_{\beta}^{'-}(t)t^2 - U_{\beta}^{'-}(s)s^2 = \mu([s,t)) \ge \int_s^t \int g \mathrm{d} \mathrm{Per}(\{u < r\}) \, \mathrm{d}r \stackrel{(4.3)}{=} \int_{\{s < u < t\}} \Phi(u) \mathrm{d}\mathfrak{m},$$

for every $0 < s < t \le 1$, with $\Phi(u) = C_{\beta,N}u^2|\nabla|\nabla u^{\frac{1}{2-N}}|^{\frac{\beta}{2}}|^2$ when $\beta > \frac{N-2}{N-1}$, $\Phi(u) = 0$ when $\beta = \frac{N-2}{N-1}$ and where g is a Borel representative of $\frac{\mathrm{d}(\Phi(u)\mathfrak{m}|_{\Omega})}{\mathrm{d}(|\nabla u|\mathfrak{m}|_{\Omega})}$. Therefore to conclude it is enough to prove that there exists a sequence $s_n \to 0^+$ such that $U_{\beta}^{'-}(s_n)s_n^2 \to 0$.

To achieve this we first prove that $U_{\beta}^{'-}(t) \geq 0$ for every $t \in (0,1)$. We assume by contradiction that there exists $T \in (0,1)$ such that $U_{\beta}^{'-}(T) < 0$. From (4.10)

$$U_{\beta}^{'-}(s) \le U_{\beta}^{'-}(T)\frac{T^2}{s^2}, \quad \forall s < T,$$

from which integrating with respect to s on the interval (t,T)

$$U_{\beta}(T) - U_{\beta}(t) \le U_{\beta}^{'-}(T)T^{2}\left(\frac{1}{t} - \frac{1}{T}\right).$$

Sending $t \to 0^+$ and recalling that $U_{\beta}^{'-}(T) < 0$ we obtain $U_{\beta}(t) \to +\infty$ as $t \to 0^+$, which however contradicts (4.11).

Since $U_{\beta}^{'-}(t) \geq 0$ we have that U_{β} is non-decreasing and also non-negative, hence it admits a limit as $t \to 0^+$. In particular $U_{\beta}^{'-} \in L^1(0, \frac{1}{2})$, therefore

$$a_n := \int_{2^{-(n+1)}}^{2^{-n}} U_{\beta}'^{-}(t) dt \to 0, \text{ as } n \to +\infty.$$

Moreover from Markov inequality we have $|\{U_{\beta}^{'-}>a_n2^{n+2}\}\cap(2^{-(n+1)},2^{-n})|\leq \frac{1}{2}2^{-(n+1)}$, thus for every n we can find $s_n\in(2^{-(n+1)},2^{-n})$ such that $U_{\beta}^{'-}(s_n)\leq a_n2^{n+2}$. Therefore

$$U_{\beta}^{'-}(s_n)s_n \le a_n 2^{n+2}s_n < 4a_n \to 0$$

and the proof is complete.

5 Functional versions of the rigidity and almost rigidity

5.1 From outer functional cone to outer metric cone

The following result is a variant of the "from volume cone to metric cone" theorem for RCD spaces (see [DG16]). The two main differences with the work in [DG16] are that here we start from a function satisfying an equation (instead that from a condition on the measure), from which we deduce a conical structure on the complement of a bounded set (instead that on a ball). Related to this type of results we mention also [AnBS], [BPS21] and [BNS] where functional versions of the splitting theorem in non-smooth setting have been obtained. Finally we recall that the almost-splitting theorems in the smooth setting proved in [ChC96] were also based on a functional formulation similar to the one we are considering here.

Theorem 5.1. Let $(X, \mathsf{d}, \mathfrak{m})$ be an $\mathrm{RCD}(0, N)$ space with $N \in [2, \infty)$ and $U \subset X$ be open with ∂U bounded. Suppose there exists a positive and continuous function $\mathbf{u} \in D(\mathbf{\Delta}, U)$ such that $\Delta \mathbf{u} = N$ \mathfrak{m} -a.e. in U, $|\nabla \sqrt{2}\mathbf{u}|^2 = 1$ \mathfrak{m} -a.e. in U, $\mathbf{u}_0 := \limsup_{x \to \partial U} \mathbf{u}(x) < +\infty$ and $\{\mathbf{u} > \mathbf{u}_0\} \neq \emptyset$. Then

i) there exists unique an RCD(N-2, N-1) space $(Z, \mathsf{d}_Z, \mathfrak{m}_Z)$ with $diam(Z) \leq \pi$ and a bijective measure preserving local isometry $S: \{\mathbf{u} > \mathbf{u}_0\} \to Y \setminus \overline{B_r}(O_Y)$, with $r \coloneqq \sqrt{2\mathbf{u}_0}$ and where $(Y, \mathsf{d}_Y, \mathfrak{m}_Y)$ is the Euclidean N-cone built over Z with vertex O_Y ,

- ii) $-if D_Z := diam(Z) < \pi \text{ then local isometry of point } i) \text{ is an isometry between } Y \setminus \overline{B_{r_Z}}(O_Y) \text{ and } \{\mathbf{u} > r_Z^2/2\}, \text{ where } r_Z := r(1 \sin D_Z/2)^{-1} > r,$
 - if $diam(Z) = \pi$, then (X, d, \mathfrak{m}) isomorphic to (Y, d_Y, \mathfrak{m}_Y) ,
- iii) the function **u** has the following explicit form

$$\mathbf{u}(x) = \frac{1}{2} d_Y(S(x), O_Y)^2 = \frac{1}{2} (d(x, \partial \{\mathbf{u} > \mathbf{u}_0\}) + \sqrt{2\mathbf{u}_0})^2, \quad \forall x \in \{\mathbf{u} > \mathbf{u}_0\},$$
 (5.1)

in particular the level set $\{u = \frac{t^2}{2}\}$, for every $t > \mathbf{u}_0$, is Lipschitz-path connected and isometric (with its induced intrinsic distance) to (Z, td_Z) .

Remark 5.2. It might be worth to remark that the hypotheses of Theorem 5.1 are not stable with respect to taking products with \mathbb{R} . This is because ∂U does not remains bounded under this operation and (since the natural transformation would be ' $\mathbf{u} \to \mathbf{u}(x) + \frac{t^2}{2}$ ') the new function would also not satisfy $\limsup_{x\to\partial U}\mathbf{u}(x) < +\infty$. This is particularly relevant to the extra rigidity statement present in ii).

We observe that the uniqueness part of Theorem 5.1 is an immediate consequence of the rest of the statement. Indeed, from the last part of iii) we deduce that the metric space (Z, d_Z) (and thus (Y, d_Y)) is uniquely determined up to isometries. Moreover, since S is measure preserving, the measure \mathfrak{m}_Y is uniquely determined as well, hence from the definition of the measure in an N-cone we obtain that also \mathfrak{m}_Z is uniquely determined.

As already said, the proof of the above Theorem is mainly an adaptation of the proof in [DG16]. However some parts will require new arguments. The first main point is that in [DG16] the starting point is the gradient flow of the distance function d, which is used to deduce analytical information on d. Here instead we start from an analytical information, i.e. a PDE, and we want to build a flow. This will be done through the tool of Regular Lagrangian Flows. One of the main tools we need to develop in this regard is an a-priori estimate of local type, which seems to be missing in literature and does not follows immediately from the standard global a-priori estimates in [AT].

The second main difference is that here the analysis takes place in the complementary of a bounded set, while in [DG16] all the work is done inside a fixed ball. Among other things, this difference will mainly affect the way in which we deduce that the cone is itself an RCD(0, N) space. Indeed in [DG16] this follows from the fact that a whole ball with center x_0 is isometric to a ball centered at the tip of the cone, therefore any blow up of the space at x_0 will converge to the said cone. Then from the closedness of the RCD(0, N) condition the conclusion follows. However in our case the same argument cannot be applied, indeed our isometry is by nature far from the tip of the cone. This issue will be overcome noticing that our isometry is almost global, meaning that the space is isometric to the cone outside a bounded set. This allow us to deduce that any blow down of the space will converge to the cone, which gives the conclusion again by the closedness of the RCD(0, N) class.

Since they are interesting on their own and independent of the rest of the proof, we isolate the two ingredients that we just described in the following two subsections. The remaining part of the argument will be outlined in Appendix A.

5.1.1 The blow down argument

Proposition 5.3. Let (X, d_X, \mathfrak{m}_X) be a m.m.s. and let $V \subset X$ be closed and bounded. Suppose that there exists an Euclidean N-cone (Y, d_Y, \mathfrak{m}_Y) over a m.m.s. $Z, N \in [1, \infty)$, with tip O_Y and a bijective local isometry $T: V^c \to Y \setminus B_R(O_Y)$, for some R > 0, which is measure-preserving, i.e. $T_*\mathfrak{m}_{X|_{V^c}} = \mathfrak{m}_{Y|_{B_R(O_Y)}}$.

Then for every $x_0 \in X$ and every sequence $r_n \to +\infty$ it holds that

$$(\mathbf{X}, r_n^{-1} \mathsf{d}_{\mathbf{X}}, r_n^{-N} \mathfrak{m}_{\mathbf{X}}, x_0) \xrightarrow{pmGH} (Y, \mathsf{d}_Y, \mathfrak{m}_Y, O_Y).$$

In particular if X is an RCD(0, N) space, then Y is an RCD(0, N) space as well.

Finally if X is RCD(0, N) and $diam(Z) = \pi$ then X is isomorphic to Y as m.m.s..

Remark 5.4. Observe that in Proposition 5.3, the assumptions that V is bounded and that T is surjective onto the complementary of a bounded set are crucial. Otherwise we would easily build a counterexample taking the product $X \times \mathbb{R}$ (cf. with Remark 5.2).

Proof of Proposition 5.3. Fix $x_0 \in X$ and observe that, up to increase R and enlarge V, it is not restrictive to assume that $x_0 \in V$.

Set $D := \operatorname{diam}(V)$, $\delta_n := \frac{1}{4r_n}(D+R)$ and define $X_n := (X, r_n^{-1} \mathsf{d}_X, r_n^{-N} \mathfrak{m}_X, x_0)$. Without loss of generality we will assume that $r_n \ge 1$.

Since Y is an Euclidean N-cone it follows that $Y_n := (Y, r_n^{-1} \mathsf{d}_Y, r_n^{-N} \mathfrak{m}_Y)$ is isomorphic to $(Y, \mathsf{d}_Y, \mathfrak{m}_Y)$ via the map $i_n : Y_n \to Y$, defined as $i_n(t,z) := (t/r_n,z)$ in polar coordinates, which satisfies $i_n(B_R(O_Y)) = B_{r_n^{-1}R}O_Y$ for every R > 0. Observe that in particular $i_{n_*}\mathfrak{m}_Y = r_n^N\mathfrak{m}_Y$.

We extend T to the whole X by setting $T(x) = O_Y$ for every $x \in V$ and we denote this new map again by T. It is straightforward to check that

$$|\mathsf{d}_X(x_1, x_2) - \mathsf{d}_Y(T(x_1), T(x_2))| \le 2(R+D), \quad \forall x_1, x_2 \in X.$$
 (5.2)

Define now the map $T_n: X_n \to Y$ as $T_n = i_n \circ T$. It follows from (5.2) and the properties of i_n that T_n is a δ_n -isometry. Moreover it can be readily checked that $B_{R-D}^Y(O_Y) \subset T(B_R^X(x_0))$, for any R > D. In particular it follows that $B_{R-\delta_n}^Y(O_Y) \subset T_n(B_R^{X_n}(x_0))$, for every R > D. Finally we let $\varphi \in C_b(Y)$ be of bounded support, since T is measure preserving we have

$$r_n^{-N} \int \varphi \circ T_n d\mathfrak{m} = r_n^{-N} \int_V \varphi \circ T_n d\mathfrak{m} + r_n^{-N} \int_{Y \setminus B_R(O_Y)} \varphi \circ i_n d\mathfrak{m}_Y$$
$$= r_n^{-N} \int_V \varphi \circ dT_{n*} \mathfrak{m} + \int_{Y \setminus B_{r_n^{-1}R}(O_Y)} \varphi d\mathfrak{m}_Y.$$

Passing to the limit, observing that the first term on the right hand side vanishes as $r_n \to +\infty$, we obtain $r_n^{-N} \int \varphi \circ T_n d\mathfrak{m} \to \int \varphi d\mathfrak{m}_Y$ as $r_n \to +\infty$. This concludes the first part.

The second part follows immediately from the closedness of the $\mathrm{RCD}(0,N)$ condition under pmGH-convergence.

Suppose now that X is an RCD(0, N) space and diam(Z) = π . Then Y must contain a line. Therefore, since from the previous part Y is an RCD(0, N) space, it follows from the splitting theorem ([G13a], [G13b]) that Y is isomorphic to $(\mathbb{R} \times Y', \mathsf{d}_{Eucl} \times \mathsf{d}', \mathcal{L}^1 \otimes \mathfrak{m}'_Y)$ for some m.m.s. $(Y', \mathsf{d}', \mathfrak{m}_{Y'})$. In particular $O_Y = (\bar{t}, \bar{y})$ for some $\bar{t} \in \mathbb{R}$ and $\bar{y} \in Y'$ and $\mathfrak{m}_Y(B_r(O_Y)) = \mathfrak{m}_Y(B_r(s, \bar{y}))$, for any r > 0 and any $s \in \mathbb{R}$.

Therefore taking s big enough we have that $O' := (s, \bar{y}) \in Y$ satisfies $O' \in \{d_Y(., O_Y) > R + 1\}$. Therefore, since $T|_{V^c}$ is a measure preserving local isometry, $\mathfrak{m}_Y(B_r(O')) = \mathfrak{m}_X(B_r(T^{-1}(O')))$ holds for every $r \in (0, 1)$. Hence

$$\lim_{r \to 0^+} \frac{\mathfrak{m}(B_r(T^{-1}(O')))}{r^N} = \lim_{r \to 0^+} \frac{\mathfrak{m}_Y(B_r(O'))}{r^N} = \lim_{r \to 0^+} \frac{\mathfrak{m}_Y(B_r(O_Y))}{r^N} = \mathfrak{m}_Y(B_1(O_Y)) =: \theta,$$

since O_Y is the vertex of Y. On the other hand, since $X_n := (X, r_n^{-1} \mathsf{d}_X, r_n^{-N} \mathfrak{m}_X, x_0) \stackrel{\mathrm{pm}GH}{\longrightarrow} (Y, \mathsf{d}_Y, \mathfrak{m}_Y, O_Y)$ we have

$$\lim_{r_n \to +\infty} \frac{\mathfrak{m}(B_{r_n}(T^{-1}(O')))}{r_n^N} = \lim_{r_n \to +\infty} \frac{\mathfrak{m}_X(B_{r_n}(x_0))}{r_n^N} = \lim_n \mathfrak{m}_{X_n}(B_1(x_0)) = \mathfrak{m}_Y(B_1(O_Y)) = \theta.$$

From Bishop-Gromov inequality we deduce that $\frac{\mathfrak{m}(B_r(T^{-1}(O')))}{r^N} = \theta$ for every r > 0 and from [DG16, Thm. 1.1] we must have that X is a cone, which must evidently coincide with Y.

5.1.2 Local a priori estimate for Regular Lagrangian Flows in RCD spaces

The following local version of the a priori estimates in [AT, Prop. 4.6] will be crucial for the argument of Appendix A to work (see Proposition A.6).

Proposition 5.5. Let $\{v_t, \mu_t\}_{t \in [0,T]}$ be as in Theorem 1.29. Assume additionally that $\{\mu_t\}_{t \in [0,T]}$ are all concentrated in a common bounded Borel set B. Then setting $\rho_t := \frac{d\rho_t}{d\mathfrak{m}}$, $t \in [0,T]$, it holds that

$$\sup_{t \in (0,T)} \|\rho_t\|_{L^{\infty}} \le \|\rho_0\|_{L^{\infty}} e^{\int_0^T \|\operatorname{div}(v_t)^-\|_{L^{\infty}(B_t)} \, \mathrm{d}t},$$
(5.3)

for any family $\{B_t\}_{t\in[0,T]}$ of Borel sets such that $\rho_t=0$ m-a.e. in B_t^c and the map $(x,t)\mapsto \chi_{B_t}(x)$ is Borel.

For the proof of Proposition 5.5 we will need the following:

Lemma 5.6 (Commutator estimate [AT, Lemma 5.8]). Let X be an RCD (K, ∞) m.m.s., then there exists a positive constant C = C(K) > 0 such that the following holds. Let $v \in W_C^{1,2}(TX)$ with $\operatorname{div}(v) \in L^{\infty}(\mathfrak{m})$, then

$$\int \langle \nabla h_t(f), v \rangle g d\mathfrak{m} + \int f \operatorname{div}(h_t(g)v_t) d\mathfrak{m} \le C \left(\|\nabla v\|_{L^2(T^{\otimes 2}X)} + \|\operatorname{div}(v)\|_{L^{\infty}} \right) \|f\|_{L^2 \cap L^4} \|g\|_{L^2 \cap L^4}, \tag{5.4}$$

for every $f, g \in L^2(\mathfrak{m}) \cap L^4(\mathfrak{m})$ and every t > 0. In particular for fixed g the left hand side of (5.4) defines a functional in $(L^2(\mathfrak{m}) \cap L^4(\mathfrak{m}))^* = L^2(\mathfrak{m}) + L^{4'}(\mathfrak{m})$, denoted by $\mathscr{C}^t(g, v)$, which satisfies

$$\|\mathscr{C}^{t}(g,v)\|_{L^{2}(\mathfrak{m})+L^{4'}(\mathfrak{m})} \le C\left(\|\nabla_{sym}v\|_{L^{2}(T^{\otimes 2}X)} + \|\operatorname{div}(v)\|_{L^{\infty}}\right)\|g\|_{L^{2}\cap L^{4}}.$$
(5.5)

Moreover it holds that

$$\|\mathscr{C}^t(g,v)\|_{L^2(\mathfrak{m})+L^{4'}(\mathfrak{m})} \to 0, \qquad as \ t \to 0^+.$$
 (5.6)

We can now pass to the proof of the local a priori estimate.

Proof of Proposition 5.3. We start with the preliminary observation that, combining the fact that $\mu_t = F_{t*}\mu_0$ with (1.23) and recalling that B is bounded, we have

$$\sup_{t \in [0,T]} \|\rho_t\|_{L^q(\mathfrak{m})} < +\infty, \quad \forall \, q \in [1,\infty]. \tag{5.7}$$

To conclude it is sufficient to prove that for every p > 1 the function $[0, T] \ni t \mapsto \int (\rho_t)^p d\mathbf{m}$ is absolutely continuous and

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \int (\rho_t)^p \mathrm{d}\mathfrak{m} \le (p-1) \int (\rho_t)^p \mathrm{div}(v_t)^- \mathrm{d}\mathfrak{m}, \quad \text{for a.e. } t \in (0,T).$$
 (5.8)

Indeed (5.3) would follow first applying Gronwall Lemma (noticing that $\rho_t = 0$ m-a.e. outside B_t) and then letting $p \to +\infty$.

So we fix p > 1. Pick a sequence $s_n \downarrow 0$ and define $\rho_t^n := h_{s_n} \rho_t$. From the fact that ρ_t is a solution of the continuity equation and the selfadjointedness of the heat flow, we obtain that for every $f \in \mathsf{LIP}_{bs}(X)$, the function $t \mapsto \int f \rho_t^n \mathrm{d}\mathfrak{m}$ is absolutely continuous and

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \int f \rho_t^n \mathrm{d}\mathfrak{m} = \int \langle \nabla h_{s_n} f, v_t \rangle \rho_t \, \mathrm{d}\mathfrak{m} = \int f [\mathscr{C}^{s_n}(\rho_t, v_t) - \mathrm{div}(\rho_t^n v_t)] \mathrm{d}\mathfrak{m}, \quad \text{ for a.e. } t \in (0, T),$$
 (5.9)

where $\mathscr{C}^{s_n}(\rho_t, v_t)$ is defined as in Lemma 5.4. Set now $\eta_t^n := \mathscr{C}^{s_n}(\rho_t, v_t) - \operatorname{div}(\rho_t^n v_t)$. From the Leibniz rule and the L^{∞} -to Lipschitz regularization of the heat flow (1.11) we have that

$$\|\operatorname{div}(\rho_t^n v_t)\|_{L^2} \le \|\rho_t\|_{L^2} \|\operatorname{div}(v_t)\|_{L^\infty} + c(K) \frac{\|\rho_t\|_{L^\infty}}{\sqrt{s_n}} \||v_t|\|_{L^2}.$$

This bound together with (5.5), (5.7) and the hypotheses on v_t , guarantees that $\eta^n_t \in L^1((0,T), L^2(\mathfrak{m}) + L^{4'}(\mathfrak{m}))$. Denote by V the Banach space $L^2(\mathfrak{m}) + L^{4'}(\mathfrak{m})$ and observe that $L^2 \cap L^4 = V^*$. Then (5.9) can be restated as: for a weakly*-dense set of $\varphi \in V^*$ the function $[0,T] \ni t \mapsto \varphi(\rho^n_t)$ is absolutely continuous and $\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}\varphi(\rho^n_t) = \varphi(\eta^n_t)$. It follows (see e.g. Remark 4.9 in [AT]) that ρ^n_t is absolutely continuous in $L^1((0,T),V)$ and strongly differentiable a.e. with $\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}\rho^n_t = \eta^n_t$.

Pick a convex function $\beta: [0+\infty) \to [0+\infty)$ such that $\beta(t) = t^p$ for every $t \leq 2 \sup_{t \in (0,T)} \|\rho_t\|_{L^\infty} < +\infty$ and such that β' is globally bounded. In particular from the maximum principle for the heat flow we have that $\beta(\rho_t^n) = (\rho_t^n)^p$ for every t and n. Moreover, since ρ_t are uniformly bounded in $L^q(\mathfrak{m})$ for every $1 \leq q \leq \infty$, from the contractivity of the heat flow we have also that ρ_t^n are bounded in $L^q(\mathfrak{m})$ for every $1 \leq q \leq \infty$, uniformly in t and t. Finally, observing that $\beta'(t)/t$ is globally bounded, we deduce that $\beta'(\rho_t^n)$ are again bounded in $L^q(\mathfrak{m})$ for every $1 \leq q < \infty$, uniformly in t and t.

Observe now that from the convexity of β we have that

$$\int \beta(\rho_t^n) - \beta(\rho_s^n) d\mathfrak{m} \le \int \beta'(\rho_t^n) (\rho_t^n - \rho_s^n) d\mathfrak{m}, \quad \forall t, s \in [0, T].$$
 (5.10)

This in turn gives

$$\int \beta(\rho_t^n) - \beta(\rho_s^n) d\mathfrak{m} \leq \sup_{t \in [0,T]} \|\beta'(\rho_t^n)\|_{L^2 \cap L^4(\mathfrak{m})} \|\rho_t^n - \rho_s^n\|_{L^2 + L^{4'}} \leq \sup_{t \in [0,T]} \|\beta'(\rho_t^n)\|_{L^2 \cap L^4} \int_s^t \|\eta_r^n\|_{L^2 + L^{4'}} dr,$$

for every $t, s \in [0, T]$, with $s \le t$. Hence the function $\int \beta(\rho_t^n) d\mathbf{m}$ is absolutely continuous in [0, T] and from (5.10) we deduce that

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \int \beta(\rho_t^n) \mathrm{d}\mathfrak{m} \le \int \beta'(\rho_t^n) \eta_t^n \mathrm{d}\mathfrak{m}, \quad \text{ for a.e. } t \in (0, T).$$

Then from the definition of η_t^n and β and integrating by parts we obtain

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \int \beta(\rho_t^n) \mathrm{d}\mathfrak{m} \leq -\int [\beta'(\rho_t^n)\rho_t^n - \beta(\rho_t^n)] \mathrm{div}(v_t) \mathrm{d}\mathfrak{m} + \int \mathscr{C}^{s_n}(\rho_t, v_t)\beta'(\rho_t^n) \mathrm{d}\mathfrak{m}
\leq (p-1) \int (\rho_t^n)^p \mathrm{div}(v_t)^- \mathrm{d}\mathfrak{m} + p \int \mathscr{C}^{s_n}(\rho_t, v_t)(\rho_t^n)^{p-1} \mathrm{d}\mathfrak{m},$$

for a.e. $t \in (0,T)$. Observe now that combining (5.5) with (5.6), an application of dominated convergence gives that $\int_0^T \|\mathscr{C}^{s_n}(\rho_t,v_t)\|_{L^2+L^{4'}} \to 0$ as $s_n \to 0$. Then, recalling that $\operatorname{div}(v_t)^- \in L^{\infty}((0,T),L^{\infty}(\mathfrak{m}))$ and (5.7), we can let $s_n \to 0$ in the above and obtain at once the absolute continuity of $\int (\rho_t)^p d\mathfrak{m}$ together with (5.8).

5.2 From almost outer functional cone to almost outer metric cone

Our aim in this section is to prove the following.

Theorem 5.7. For every $\varepsilon \in (0,1/3)$, $R_0 > 0$, $\gamma > \frac{1}{2} \frac{N-2}{N-1}$, $N \in [2,\infty)$, L > 0 there exists $0 < \delta = \delta(\varepsilon, \gamma, N, R_0, L)$ such that the following holds. Let $(X, d, \mathfrak{m}, x_0)$ be a pointed $RCD(-\delta, N)$ m.m.s. with

 $\mathfrak{m}(B_1(x_0)) \in (\varepsilon, \varepsilon^{-1})$. Let $U \subset X$ be open with $U^c \subset B_{R_0}(x_0)$ and $v \in D(\Delta, U) \cap C(U)$ be positive and such that $\limsup_{x \to \partial U} v(x) \leq 1$, $\Delta v = N|\nabla \sqrt{2v}|^2$, $v \geq 1 + \varepsilon$ in $B_{R_0}(x_0)^c \neq \emptyset$ and $\||\nabla \sqrt{v}|\|_{L^{\infty}(U)} \leq L$. Suppose furthermore that

$$\int_{U} \frac{1}{v^{N-2}} \left| \nabla |\nabla \sqrt{v}|^{\gamma} \right|^{2} d\mathfrak{m} < \delta, \tag{5.11}$$

where it is intended that $v^{N-2} \equiv 1$ in the case N=2.

Then there exists a pointed RCD(0, N) space (X', d', m', x') such that

$$\mathsf{d}_{pmGH}((\mathsf{X},\mathsf{d},\mathfrak{m},x_0),(\mathsf{X}',\mathsf{d}',\mathfrak{m}',x')) < \varepsilon \tag{5.12}$$

and $(X', d', \mathfrak{m}', x')$ is a truncated cone outside a compact set $K \subset B_{2R_0}(x')$, i.e. there exists an RCD(0, N) N-cone Y, with vertex O_Y , over an RCD(N - 2, N - 1) space Z, and a measure preserving local isometry $T: X' \setminus K \to Y \setminus \bar{B}_r(O_Y)$, for some $r > L^{-1}$.

Remark 5.8. Observe that inequality (5.12) is non-trivial because X' is a cone outside a compact set $K \subset B_{2R_0}(x')$ with R_0 independent of $\varepsilon > 0$. This means that for an arbitrary large radius $R \gg R_0$, up to choosing $\varepsilon > 0$ sufficiently small, we have that the ball $B_R(x_0)$ is as close as we want in the GH-sense to a ball of radius R > 0, which is a truncated cone up to removing a set of diameter less than $4R_0$ (which is fixed and independent of R).

Observe that (5.11) makes sense thanks to Corollary 3.5.

Notice also that the assumption $u \ge 1 + \varepsilon$ in $B_{R_0}(x_0)^c$ is necessary as the function $v \equiv 1$ shows. We will also prove another version of the above result, which is Theorem 5.9. Before passing to its statement we need some definitions and notations.

For any couple of compact metric spaces $(X_1, \mathsf{d}_1), (X_2, \mathsf{d}_2)$ we define their *Gromov Hausdorff distance* as

$$\mathsf{d}_{GH}((X_1,\mathsf{d}_2),(X_2,\mathsf{d}_2)) \coloneqq \inf\{\varepsilon > 0 : \exists f : X_1 \to X_2 \text{ such that } f(X_1) \text{ is } \varepsilon\text{-dense in } X_2 \text{ and } |\mathsf{d}_1(x,y) - \mathsf{d}_2(f(x),f(y))| < \varepsilon, \ \forall x,y \in X_1\}.$$

For a sequence of compact metric spaces (X_n, d_n) converging to (X, d) in the GH-sense we say that a sequence of maps $f_n : X_n \to X$ realizes the convergence if there exists a seuqence $\varepsilon_n \to 0$ such that $f(X_n)$ is ε_n -dense in X and $|\mathsf{d}_n(x,y) - \mathsf{d}(f_n(x), f_n(y))| \le \varepsilon_n$, $\forall x, y \in X_n$.

Moreover we recall the notion of $Sturm\ distance\ \mathbb{D}$ for compact m.m.s. which was first introduced in [S06a] in the case of renormalized spaces (see also [GMS]):

$$\mathbb{D}((X_1,\mathsf{d}_2,\mathfrak{m}_2),(X_2,\mathsf{d}_2,\mathfrak{m}_1))\coloneqq\inf\left|\log\frac{\mathfrak{m}_1(X_1)}{\mathfrak{m}_2(X_2)}\right|+W_2\left(\iota_{1*}\tilde{\mathfrak{m}}_1,\iota_{2*}\tilde{\mathfrak{m}}_2\right),$$

where $\tilde{\mathfrak{m}}_i = \frac{\mathfrak{m}_i}{\mathfrak{m}(X_i)}$, i = 1, 2 and the infimum is taken among all the complete and separable metric spaces (Y, d) and isometric embeddings $X_i \stackrel{\iota_i}{\hookrightarrow} Y$, i = 1, 2. Observe that \mathbb{D} is well defined since we are assuming that $\operatorname{supp}(\mathfrak{m}_i) = X_i$.

It is important to recall that an upper bound on \mathbb{D} does not imply in general an upper bound on d_{GH} , indeed this holds only if we restrict ourselves to a family of uniformly doubling metric measure spaces. However we will need to apply \mathbb{D} to spaces which are not a priori uniformly doubling, for this reason we will need to work both with d_{GH} and with \mathbb{D} .

Finally, for any (X, d) complete metric space and $A \subset X$ we define the *intrinsic metric on* A to be the distance function $d^A : A \to [0, +\infty]$ defined by

$$\mathsf{d}^A(x,y) \coloneqq \inf_{\gamma} \, L(\gamma), \quad \forall x,y \in A,$$

where the infimum is taken among all curves $\gamma \in AC([0,1], X)$ with values in A and such that $\gamma(0) = x$, $\gamma(1) = y$.

If we also assume that A is relatively compact, then for every $x, y \in A$ such that $d(x, y) < +\infty$ there exists an absolutely continuous curve γ with values in \bar{A} such that $d^A(x, y) = L(\gamma)$.

We are ready to state the second version of Theorem 5.7, which is more in the spirit of the 'volume annulus implies metric annulus' theorem of Cheeger and Colding, which is also based on a functional formulation similar to the present one (see [ChC96, Theorem 4.85]).

For every $1 + \varepsilon + \eta < t_1 \le t_2 < \varepsilon^{-1}$ satisfying $\{\sqrt{v} \le t_2 + 2\eta\} \subset B_{R_0}(x_0)$, it holds

$$\mathsf{d}_{GH}\left(\left(\left\{t_{1} \leq \sqrt{v} \leq t_{2}\right\}, \mathsf{d}_{\mathbf{x}}^{\eta}\right), \left(\left\{t_{1} \leq \lambda \mathsf{d}_{O_{\mathbf{y}}} \leq t_{2}\right\}, \mathsf{d}_{\mathbf{y}}^{\eta}\right)\right) < \varepsilon,\tag{5.13}$$

where $d_{O_Y} := d_Y(., O_Y)$ and d_X^{η} and d_Y^{η} denote the intrinsic metrics on $\{t_1 - \eta < \sqrt{v} < t_2 + \eta\}$ and on $\{t_1 - \eta < \lambda d_{O_Y} < t_2 + \eta\}$ (see definition above). Moreover, provided that $t_1 + \varepsilon < t_2$,

$$\mathbb{D}\left(\left(\left\{t_{1} \leq \sqrt{v} \leq t_{2}\right\}, \mathsf{d}_{\mathbf{X}}^{\varepsilon}, \mathfrak{m}_{\left|\left\{t_{1} \leq \sqrt{v} \leq t_{2}\right\}\right.}\right), \left(\left\{t_{1} \leq \lambda \mathsf{d}_{O_{Y}} \leq t_{2}\right\}, \mathsf{d}_{Y}^{\varepsilon}, \mathfrak{m}_{Y}_{\left|\left\{t_{1} \leq \lambda \mathsf{d}_{O_{Y}} \leq t_{2}\right\}\right.}\right)\right) < \varepsilon. \tag{5.14}$$

Moreover the cone Y can be taken so that the conclusion of Theorem 5.7 holds (with the same ε , R_0 and L) with Y and for some RCD(0, N) space X'.

We point out that in general we cannot say anything better than $\lambda \leq L$. This is immediately seen by taking $v = L^2|x|^2$ in \mathbb{R}^n and $U = \mathbb{R}^n \setminus \bar{B}_{1/L}(0)$.

It is important to notice that the information in (5.13) is not contained in (5.14), indeed, as said above, it is not clear to us if, fixed $\varepsilon, \gamma, N, R_0, L$ as in Theorem 5.9, the metric measure spaces $(\{\sqrt{t_1} \le \sqrt{v} \le \sqrt{t_2}\}, \mathsf{d}_X^{\eta}, \mathsf{m}|_{\{t_1 \le \sqrt{v} \le t_2\}})$, for arbitrary v, t_1, t_2 as in the hypotheses, satisfy some uniform doubling condition.

For the proof of Theorem 5.9 we will need the following elementary lemma. The proof is a direct consequence of the definition of distance in a cone and will be omitted.

Lemma 5.10. Let (Y, d) be an Euclidean cone of vertex O_Y and for any 0 < a < b let $d_{a,b}$ be the intrinsic metric on $\{a < d(., O_Y) < b\}$. Then for every $0 < \varepsilon < a < b$ it holds

$$\mathsf{d}_{a-\varepsilon,b+\varepsilon} \le \mathsf{d}_{a,b} \le \frac{a}{a-\varepsilon} \mathsf{d}_{a-\varepsilon,b+\varepsilon}, \quad in \ \{a < d(.,O_Y) < b\}.$$

Moreover for any two sequences $(a_n), (b_n)$ such that $a_n \to a$, $b_n \to b$ it holds

$$(\{a_n \leq d(.,O_Y) \leq b_n\}, \mathsf{d}_{a_n - \varepsilon, b_n + \varepsilon}) \overset{GH}{\to} (\{a \leq d(.,O_Y) \leq b\}, \mathsf{d}_{a - \varepsilon, b + \varepsilon})$$

and the map $f_n(t,z) := \left(\frac{(t-a_n)(b-a)}{(b_n-a_n)} + a,z\right)$ (in polar coordinates) realizes such convergence.

Finally for proof of Theorem 5.9 we will need the following result (see below for the definition of mGH-convergence):

Proposition 5.11 ([GMS, Prop. 3.30]). Let $(X_n, d_n, \mathfrak{m}_n)$ be compact m.m. spaces mGH-converging to a compact m.m.s. $(X_{\infty}, d_{\infty}, \mathfrak{m}_{\infty})$. Then

$$\mathbb{D}((X_n,\mathsf{d}_n,\mathfrak{m}_n),(X_\infty,\mathsf{d}_\infty,\mathfrak{m}_\infty))\to 0.$$

Definition 5.12 (measure Gromov Hausdorff convergence). We say that the sequence $(X_n, d_n, \mathfrak{m}_n)$ of m.m.s. measure Gromov Hausdorff-converges (mGH-converges in short) to a compact m.m.s. $(X_{\infty}, d_{\infty}, \mathfrak{m}_{\infty})$, if there are Borel maps $f_n: X_n \to X_{\infty}$ such that

- 1) $\sup_{x,y\in B_{R_n}(x_n)} |\mathsf{d}_n(x,y) \mathsf{d}_\infty(f_n(x),f_n(y))| \le \varepsilon_n$,
- 2) $f_n(X_n)$ is ε_n -dense in X_{∞} ,
- 3) $f_{n_*}\mathfrak{m}_n \rightharpoonup \mathfrak{m}_{\infty}$ in duality with $C(X_{\infty})$.

Notice that if $(X_n, d_n, \mathfrak{m}_n) \to (X_\infty, d_\infty, \mathfrak{m}_\infty)$ in the mGH-sense, then $d_{GH}((X_n, d_n,), (X_\infty, d_\infty)) \to 0$.

Proof of Theorem 5.7 and Theorem 5.9. The proof of Theorem 5.7 is essentially the same as Theorem 5.9, except that it stops earlier. For this reason we will prove both theorems together. The reader interested only in the proof of the first result can ignore the second half of the argument.

Proof of Theorem 5.7:

We argue by contradiction. Suppose that there exist numbers $\varepsilon \in (0, 1/3), N \in [2, \infty), R_0 > 0$, $\gamma \geq \frac{1}{2} \frac{N-2}{N-1}, L > 0$, a sequence $\delta_n \to 0$, a sequence $(X_n, \mathsf{d}_n, \mathfrak{m}_n, x_n)$ of $\mathrm{RCD}(-\delta_n, N)$ m.m.s., a sequence of open sets $U_n \subset X_n$, with $U_n^c \subset B_{R_0}(x_n)$, functions $v_n \in D(\Delta, U_n)$ satisfying $\Delta v_n = 2N|\nabla \sqrt{v_n}|^2$ such that:

- a) $\limsup_{x\to\partial U_n} v_n(x) \leq 1$, $v_n \geq 1 + \varepsilon$ in $B_{R_0}(x_0)^c \neq \emptyset$, $\||\nabla \sqrt{v_n}||_{L^{\infty}(U_n)} \leq L$,
- b) $\mathfrak{m}_n(B_1(x_n)) \in (\varepsilon, \varepsilon^{-1}),$
- c) (5.11) holds (with v_n , \mathfrak{m}_n , γ and $\delta = \delta_n$),
- d) for every n the conclusion of Theorem 5.7 does not hold.

We first observe that, since $v_n \ge 1 + \varepsilon$ in $B_{R_0}(x_0)^c$, removing the set $\{v_n \le 1\}$ from U_n does not effect neither the hypotheses of the theorems nor their conclusions, therefore it is not restrictive to assume that $v_n > 1$ in U_n .

Moreover by compactness, up to passing to a non relabelled subsequence, we can assume that the p.m.m. spaces $(X_n, \mathsf{d}_n, \mathfrak{m}_n, x_n)$ pmGH-converge to a to an RCD(0, N) pointed m.m.s. $(X_\infty, \mathsf{d}_\infty, \mathfrak{m}_\infty, x_\infty)$.

Passing to the extrinsic approach, we consider a proper metric space (Y, d_Y) that realizes such convergence, in particular we identify the metric spaces X_n and X_∞ with the corresponding subsets of Y such that $d_Y(x_n, x_\infty) \to 0$, $\mathfrak{m}_n \to \mathfrak{m}_\infty$ in duality with $C_{bs}(Y)$ and $d_H^Y(B_R^{X_n}(x_n), B_R^{X_\infty}(x_\infty)) \to 0$ for every R > 0. In particular for every $x \in X_\infty$ there exists a sequence $y_n \in X_n$ such that $d_Y(x, y_n) \to 0$ and conversely for every R > 0 and every sequence $y_n \in B_R^{X_n}(x_n)$ there exists a subsequence converging to a point $x \in X_\infty$. These two facts will be used repeatedly in the proof without further notice.

Define the compact sets $K_n = U_n^c \subset X_n$ and observe that, since $K_n \subset B_{R_0}(x_n)$, they are all contained in a common ball in Y centered at x_{∞} . Hence from the metric version of Blaschke's theorem (see [BBI, Theorem 7.3.8]) there exists a compact set $K_{\infty} \subset X_{\infty}$ such that, up to a subsequence, $d_H^Y(K_{\infty}, K_n) \to 0$.

Define the open (in the topology of X_{∞}) set $U_{\infty} := X_{\infty} \setminus K_{\infty}$ and for every r > 0, define the open sets $U_n^{< r} = \{x \in X_n : \mathsf{d}_n(x, K_n) < r\}$ and $U_{\infty}^{< r} = \{x \in X_{\infty} : \mathsf{d}_{\infty}(x, K_{\infty}) < r\}$. Analogously we define the sets $U_n^{> r}, U_n^{\leq r}, U_n^{\geq r}$ and the corresponding ones for $n = \infty$.

From the assumptions $\limsup_{x\to\partial U_n}v_n(x)\leq 1$ and $\||\nabla \sqrt{v_n}|\|_{L^\infty(U_n)}\leq L$, applying Proposition 1.10 it follows that

$$v_n \le (1 + RL)^2$$
, in $B_R(x_n) \cap U_n$, $\{v_n \le 1 + \varepsilon/4\}$ in $U_n^{\le 4\rho} \cap U_n$, (5.15)

for every R > 0 and for some small constant $0 < \rho = \rho(\varepsilon, L) < \varepsilon$, independent of n.

For every n and every $k \in \mathbb{N}$ with $k \geq R_0 + 100$, thanks to Proposition 1.13, there exists a cut off function $\eta_k^n \in \mathsf{Test}(X)$, $0 \leq \eta_k^n \leq 1$, such that $\mathrm{supp}\,\eta_n^k \subset U_n^{>\rho/2} \cap B_{k+2}(x_n)$, $\eta_n^k = 1$ on $U_n^{\geq \rho} \cap B_{k+1}(x_n)$ and $\mathrm{Lip}\eta_n^k + |\Delta \eta_n^k| \leq C$, for some constant C depending only on ε, N, L . Observe also that we can choose η_n^k so that $\eta_n^k = \eta_n^{k+1}$ in $B_{k+1}(x_n)$, for every k.

Define the functions $v_n^k := v_n \eta_n^k$, $\tilde{v}_n^k := \sqrt{v_n} \eta_n^k$ and observe that from (5.15) and the assumption $\||\nabla \sqrt{v_n}||_{L^{\infty}(U_n)} \le L$ they are equi-Lipschitz, equi-bounded in n and all supported on $B_{k+2}(x_n)$. Hence by Ascoli-Arzelà (see Prop. 1.21), up to a subsequence, as $n \to +\infty$ they converge uniformly to functions $v_{\infty}^k, \tilde{v}_{\infty}^k \in C(X_{\infty})$ with support in $\bar{B}_{k+2}(x_{\infty})$.

From Proposition 1.23 it follows that v_n^k, \tilde{v}_n^k converge also strongly in L^2 respectively to $v_\infty^k, \tilde{v}_\infty^k$. It is clear from the construction and the uniform convergence that $v_\infty^k = v_\infty^{k+1}$ on $B_k(x_\infty)$. Therefore the assignment $v_\infty := v_\infty^k$ in $B_k(x_\infty)$ for every k, well defines a function $v_\infty \in C(X_\infty)$. Analogously we can define $\tilde{v}_\infty \in C(X_\infty)$ and we observe that $\tilde{v}_\infty = \sqrt{v_\infty}$ in $U_\infty^{\geq 2\rho}$.

We make the following two claims:

- (A) $v_{\infty} \le 1 + \varepsilon/4 \text{ in } U_{\infty}^{\le 3\rho},$
- (B) $\{v_{\infty} > 1 + \varepsilon/4\} \neq \emptyset$, $v_{\infty} \in D(\Delta)$ and (up to multiplying v_{∞} by a positive constant C_0) it holds that $\Delta v_{\infty} = N$, $|\nabla v_{\infty}|^2 = 2v_{\infty}$ m-a.e. in $\{v_{\infty} > 1 + \varepsilon/4\}$.

We start with claim (\mathbf{A}) . It is clearly enough prove that

$$v_{\infty}^k \le 1 + \varepsilon/4$$
, in $U_{\infty}^{\le 3\rho}$

for any k. Pick any $y \in U_{\infty}^{\leq 3\rho}$, then there exists a sequence $y_n \in X_n$ such that $y_n \to y$ in Y and by uniform convergence $v_n^k(y_n) \to v_{\infty}^k(y)$. Moreover it must hold that $d_Y(y_n, K_n) < 4\rho$ if n is big enough. If $y_n \notin U_n$, then $v_n^k(y_n) = 0$ by construction. If instead $y_n \in U_n$ from the second in (5.15) and the fact that $\eta_k^n \leq 1$ we deduce that $v_n^k(y_n) \leq v_n(y_n) \leq 1 + \varepsilon/4$. Combining these two observations we get claim (**A**).

We pass to the proof of claim (**B**). It is easy to check, since $v_n \geq 1$ in U_n (recall the observation made at the beginning of the proof), that $\sup_n \|\Delta v_n^k\|_{L^\infty(X_n)} < +\infty$ and $\sup_n \|\Delta \tilde{v}_n^k\|_{L^\infty(X_n)} < +\infty$. Moreover by Bishop-Gromov inequality we have $\sup_n \mathfrak{m}_n(B_R(x_n)) < +\infty$, for every $R \geq 1$. Therefore $\sup_n \|\Delta v_n^k\|_{L^2(X_n)}$, $\sup_n \|\Delta \tilde{v}_n^k\|_{L^2(X_n)} < +\infty$ and applying Theorem 1.24 we deduce that $v_\infty^k, \tilde{v}_\infty^k \in D(\Delta)$, that Δv_n^k converges to Δv_∞^k weakly in L^2 and that $|\nabla \tilde{v}_n^k| \to |\nabla \tilde{v}_\infty^k|$ strongly in L^2 . From the locality of Laplacian follows that $v_\infty \in D(\Delta)$. Additionally, since $L' \coloneqq \sup_n \||\nabla \tilde{v}_n^k|\|_{L^\infty} < +\infty$, applying a) of Proposition 1.23 (with $\varphi(t) = (t \wedge L')^\alpha$) we also deduce that $|\nabla \tilde{v}_n^k|^\alpha \to |\nabla \tilde{v}_\infty^k|^\alpha$ strongly in L^2 , for every $\alpha > 0$. We make the intermediate claim that

$$\Delta v_{\infty} = N |\nabla \sqrt{2v_{\infty}}|^2$$
, \mathfrak{m} -a.e. in $U_{\infty}^{>2\rho} \cap B_k(x_{\infty})$. (5.16)

In particular from Corollary 3.5 this implies that $|\nabla\sqrt{v_\infty}|^{\gamma} \in W^{1,2}_{loc}(U^{>2\rho}_\infty \cap B_k(x_\infty))$. To prove (5.16) pick any $\varphi \in \mathsf{LIP}_c(U^{>2\rho}_\infty \cap B_k^{\mathsf{X}_\infty}(x_\infty))$. Consider also a function $\eta \in \mathsf{LIP}(Y)$ such that $\eta \equiv 1$ in supp φ , $\mathsf{d}_Y(\operatorname{supp} \eta, K_\infty) > 2\rho$ and $\operatorname{supp} \eta \subset B_k^Y(x_\infty)$. Moreover, since $\mathsf{d}_H^Y(K_n, K_\infty) \to 0$, for n big enough we have $\{y: \mathsf{d}_Y(y, K_\infty) > 2\rho\} \subset \{y: \mathsf{d}_Y(y, K_n) > \rho\}$ and analogously, since $x_n \to x_\infty$ in Y, for n big enough $B_k^Y(x_\infty) \subset B_{k+1}^Y(x_n)$. Therefore $\operatorname{supp} \eta \cap X_n \subset U_n^{>\rho} \cap B_{k+1}^{X_n}(x_n)$ for n big enough. We now extend φ to a function $\varphi' \in \mathsf{LIP}(Y)$ and define $\bar{\varphi} = \eta \varphi' \in \mathsf{LIP}_{bs}(Y)$. Since by the locality of the Laplacian and gradient we have $\Delta v_n^k = \Delta v_n = N|\nabla \sqrt{2v_n}|^2 = 2N|\nabla \tilde{v}_n^k|^2 \mathfrak{m}_n$ -a.e. in $\operatorname{supp} \bar{\varphi}$, we can compute

$$\int \varphi \Delta v_{\infty}^{k} d\mathfrak{m}_{\infty} = \int \bar{\varphi} \Delta v_{\infty}^{k} d\mathfrak{m}_{\infty} = \lim_{n} \int \bar{\varphi} \Delta v_{n}^{k} d\mathfrak{m}_{n} = \lim_{n} \int \bar{\varphi} 2N |\nabla \tilde{v}_{n}^{k}|^{2} d\mathfrak{m}_{n}$$
$$= \int \bar{\varphi} 2N |\nabla \tilde{v}_{\infty}^{k}|^{2} d\mathfrak{m}_{\infty} = \int \bar{\varphi} 2N |\nabla \sqrt{v}_{\infty}|^{2} d\mathfrak{m}_{\infty}.$$

This and the locality of the Laplacian prove (5.16).

For every n and every k as above we consider a cut-off function $\xi_n^k \in \mathsf{LIP}(\mathbf{X}_n)$ analogous to η_n^k but with smaller support, more precisely we require that $0 \le \xi_k^n \le 1$, supp $\xi_n^k \subset U_n^{>\rho} \cap B_{k+2}(x_n)$, $\xi_n^k = 1$ on With shifted support, more process, we require that $s = \varsigma_k = \gamma$, support $n = 1, 2, \ldots, n$ $U_n^{\geq 2\rho} \cap B_{k+1}(x_n)$ and $\operatorname{Lip}\xi_n^k \leq C'$, for some constant C' depending only on ε, N, L . Up to a subsequence, from Ascoli-Arzelà we have that $\xi_n^k \to \xi_\infty^k$ uniformly, for some $\xi_\infty^k \in \operatorname{LIP}(X_\infty)$ satisfying $\xi_\infty^k = 1$ in $U_\infty^{\geq 2\rho} \cap B_k^{X_\infty}(x_\infty)$. In particular the same convergence holds also strongly in L^2 .

We set $w_{n,k} \coloneqq \xi_n^k |\nabla \sqrt{v_n}|^{\gamma} \in W^{1,2}(X_n)$ and $w_{\infty,k} \coloneqq \xi_\infty^k |\nabla \tilde{v}_\infty^k|^{\gamma} \in W^{1,2}(X_\infty)$ and observe that by construction and the locality of the gradient $w_{n,k} = \xi_n^k |\nabla \tilde{v}_n^k|^{\gamma} \mathfrak{m}_n$ -a.e.. In particular, since we proved that

 $|\nabla \tilde{v}_n^k|^{\gamma} \to |\nabla \tilde{v}_{\infty}^k|^{\gamma}$ strongly in L^2 and recalling $\sup_n |||\nabla \tilde{v}_n^k|||_{L^{\infty}} < +\infty$, we have from Proposition 1.23 that $w_{n,k} \to w_{\infty,k}$ strongly in L^2 .

Combining (5.11) with the first in (5.15) and $\operatorname{Lip}\xi_{n,k} \leq C'$ we deduce that $\sup_n |||\nabla w_{n,k}|||_{L^2(\mathfrak{m}_n)} < +\infty$. We now apply Lemma 1.25 with the open set $A = \{d_Y(K_\infty, .) > 3\rho\} \cap B_k^Y(x_\infty)$ that, combined with the observation that $A \cap X_n \subset U_n^{\geq 2\rho} \cap B_{k+1}(x_n)$ for n big enough, gives

$$\begin{split} &\int_{U_{\infty}^{>3\rho}\cap B_{k}(x_{\infty})} |\nabla|\nabla \tilde{v}_{\infty}^{k}|^{\gamma}|^{2} \,\mathrm{d}\mathfrak{m}_{\infty} \leq \liminf_{n} \int_{U_{n}^{\geq 2\rho}\cap B_{k+1}(x_{n})} |\nabla|\nabla \sqrt{v_{n}}|^{\gamma}|^{2} \,\mathrm{d}\mathfrak{m}_{n} \\ &\stackrel{(5.15)}{\leq} (1+RL)^{2N-4} \liminf_{n} \int_{U_{n}} v_{n}^{2-N} |\nabla|\nabla \sqrt{v_{n}}|^{\gamma}|^{2} \,\mathrm{d}\mathfrak{m}_{n} \stackrel{(5.11)}{=} 0. \end{split}$$

Therefore, from the locality of the gradient and the arbitrariness of k we obtain that $|\nabla|\nabla\sqrt{v_{\infty}}|^{\gamma}|=0$ \mathfrak{m}_{∞} -a.e. in $U_{\infty}^{>3\rho}$. Consider now the open set $\{v_{\infty}>1+\varepsilon/4\}\subset U_{\infty}^{>3\rho}$. Observe that from the assumption $v_n \ge 1 + \varepsilon$ in $B_{R_0}(x_n)^c \ne \emptyset$ and (5.15) we deduce that for every n there exists $y_n \in X_n \cap B_{2R_0}(x_n) \cap U_n^{>4\rho}$ such that $v_n^k(y_n) = v_n(y_n) \ge 1 + \varepsilon$ for every k, therefore by compactness and uniform convergence we deduce that $\{v_{\infty} > 1 + \varepsilon/4\} \neq \emptyset$. From (**A**) it holds $\partial \{v_{\infty} > 1 + \varepsilon/4\} = \{v_{\infty} = 1 + \varepsilon/4\}$, in particular since $v_{\infty}^{(2-N)/2}$ ($\ln(v_{\infty}^{-1/2})$ if N=2) is harmonic in $U_{\infty}^{>2\rho}$ (recall (5.16)), from the maximum principle it follows that the connected components of $\{v_{\infty} > 1 + \varepsilon/4\}$ are unbounded. Let U' be one of these components. It follows that $|\nabla \sqrt{v_{\infty}}| \equiv C$ m-a.e. in U' for some constant C, that must be positive. Indeed if C = 0, we would have that v_{∞} is constant in U', but since $\partial U' \subset \{v_{\infty} = 1 + \varepsilon/4\}$, v_{∞} should be constantly equal to $1 + \varepsilon/4$, which contradicts $U' \subset \{v_{\infty} > 1 + \varepsilon/4\}$. Finally the assumption $v_n \ge 1 + \varepsilon$ in $B_{R_0}(x_n)^c$ ensures that $X_{\infty} \setminus U' \subset B_{2R_0}(x_{\infty})$. It follows that the function $(2C^2)^{-1}v_{\infty}|_{U'}$ satisfies the hypotheses of Theorem 5.1 with U=U'. In particular X_{∞} has Euclidean volume growth and from Corollary 2.9 it has one end, from which we deduce that $\{v_{\infty} > 1 + \varepsilon/4\}$ is connected. Therefore repeating the above argument for $U' = \{v_{\infty} > 1 + \varepsilon/4\}$ proves claim (**B**) with $C_0 := (2C^2)^{-1}$.

Combining (A) and (B), from Theorem 5.1 we deduce the existence of an RCD(0, N) N-cone $(Y', d_{Y'}, \mathfrak{m}_{Y'})$ with vertex $O_{Y'}$ and a bijective measure preserving local isometry $T: \{1+\varepsilon/4 < v_{\infty}\} \to \{r < \mathsf{d}_{Y'}(O_{Y'},.)\},$ for some r > 0 which also satisfies (recall (5.1))

$$\sqrt{v_{\infty}}(x) = \lambda \mathsf{d}_{Y'}(O_{Y'}, T(x)), \quad \text{for every } x \in \{v_{\infty} > 1 + \varepsilon / 4\}, \tag{5.17}$$

where $\lambda := (2C_0)^{-1/2}$ (C_0 being the constant in (**B**)). We claim that $\lambda \leq \sup_n |||\nabla \sqrt{v_n}|||_{L^{\infty}}$, which in particular gives that $r \ge \lambda^{-1}(1+\varepsilon/4) \ge L^{-1}$. Indeed from (5.17), the fact that Y' is geodesic and the fact that T is a local isometry we deduce that for every $x \in \{v_{\infty} > 1 + \varepsilon/4\}$ and every r' > 0 small enough, there exists $y \in B_{r'}^{X_{\infty}}(x)$ such that $|\sqrt{v_{\infty}(x)} - \sqrt{v_{\infty}(y)}| = \lambda d_{\infty}(x, y)$. The claim now follows from uniform convergence and the Sobolev to Lipschitz property. Since, as observed above, $X_{\infty} \setminus \{1 + \varepsilon / 4 < v_{\infty}\}^c \subset$ $B_{2R_0}(x_{\infty})$, the conclusion of Theorem 5.7 holds for every sufficiently large n, which contradicts item d) above. This concludes the proof of Theorem 5.7.

Proof of Theorem 5.9: We argue by contradiction exactly as above, except that we substitute the assumption d) with the following:

d') there exist a number $\eta > 0$ and two sequences $(t_1^n), (t_2^n) \subset (1 + \varepsilon + \eta, \varepsilon^{-1})$ with $t_1^n \leq t_2^n$, such that $\{\sqrt{v_n} \leq t_2^n + 2\eta\} \subset B_{R_0}(x_n)$ and the conclusion of Theorem 5.9 is false with t_1^n, t_2^n , for every n.

Since assumption d) was not used until the very end of the proof of Theorem 5.7 above, we can, and will, repeat all the first part of the proof up to this point together with all the constructions and objects introduced along the argument.

Up to passing to a subsequence we can assume that $t_i^n \to t_i^\infty \in [1 + \varepsilon + \eta, \varepsilon^{-1}], i = 1, 2$. It will be useful later to remark that

$$\sqrt{v_n} = \tilde{v}_n^k \quad \text{in } \{1 + \varepsilon/2 \le \sqrt{v_n} \le t_2^n + 2\eta\}, \text{ for every } k, \tag{5.18}$$

which follows from the second in (5.15) and the assumption $\{\sqrt{v_n} \le t_2^n + 2\eta\} \subset B_{R_0}(x_n)$.

We claim that

$$a_n := \sup_{s \in (t_1^{\infty} - \eta, t_2^{\infty} + \eta)} \mathsf{d}_H^Y(\{\sqrt{v_n} = s\}, \{\sqrt{v_{\infty}} = s\}) \to 0, \quad \text{as } n \to +\infty.$$
 (5.19)

(We point out that this does not follows from the uniform convergence, indeed we need first to prove some regularity of the level sets of $\sqrt{v_{\infty}}$). The key observation is that for every $\varepsilon' > 0$ there exists $\delta' > 0$ such that for every $t \in [1 + \varepsilon, 2\varepsilon^{-1}]$ it holds

$$B_{\varepsilon'}^{X_{\infty}}(x) \cap \{\sqrt{v_{\infty}} = t'\} \neq \emptyset, \quad \forall x \in \{\sqrt{v_{\infty}} = t\}, \forall t' \in [t - \delta', t + \delta']. \tag{5.20}$$

This is an immediate consequence of (5.17), the fact that T is a local isometry and the fact that, since Y' is a cone, for every $y' \in Y'$ there exists a ray emanating from $O_{Y'}$ and passing through y'.

Suppose now that (5.19) does not hold. Then, up to a passing to non relabelled subsequence, there exists a sequence $(s_n) \subset (t_1^{\infty} - \eta, t_2^{\infty} - \eta)$ and $\varepsilon' > 0$ such that $s_n \to \bar{s} \in [t_1^{\infty} - \eta, t_2^{\infty} + \eta] \subset [1 + \varepsilon, 2\varepsilon^{-1}]$ and

$$\mathsf{d}_H^Y(\{\sqrt{v_n} = s_n\}, \{\sqrt{v_\infty} = s_n\}) > \varepsilon', \quad \forall n.$$

Therefore, up to passing to a further subsequence, there exists either a sequence $y_n \in \{\sqrt{v_n} = s_n\}$ such that $d_Y(y_n, \{\sqrt{v_\infty} = s_n\}) > \varepsilon'$, for all n, or a sequence $y_n \in \{\sqrt{v_\infty} = s_n\}$ such that $d_Y(y_n, \{v_n = s_n\}) > \varepsilon'$, for all n. In the first case, since by assumption $\{\sqrt{v_n} = s_n\} \subset \{t_1^n - 2\eta \le \sqrt{v_n} \le t_2^n + 2\eta\} \subset B_{R_0}(x_n)$ for n big enough, up to passing to a further subsequence we have that $y_n \to y_\infty \in X_\infty$ and by uniform convergence (recall (5.18)) that $\sqrt{v_\infty}(y_\infty) = \bar{s}$. In particular $d(y_\infty, \{\{\sqrt{v_\infty} = s_n\}\}) > \varepsilon'/2$ for every n big enough, which contradicts (5.20). In the second case, again up to a subsequence and from the continuity of $\sqrt{v_\infty}$, we have that $y_n \to y_\infty \in \{\sqrt{v_\infty} = \bar{s}\}$. Moreover from (5.20) it follows the existence of a $\delta' > 0$ such that there exist $y_\infty^+, y_\infty^- \in B_{\varepsilon'/4}^{\varepsilon'}(y_\infty)$ such that $\sqrt{v_\infty}(y_\infty^\pm) = \bar{t} \pm \delta'$. Finally, from uniform convergence (recall again (5.18)), for every n big enough there exist $y_n^+, y_n^- \in X^n$ such that $d_Y(y_n^\pm, y_\infty^\pm) < \varepsilon'/4$ and $|v_n(y_n^\pm) - (\bar{s} \pm \delta')| < \delta'/2$. In particular by the continuity of v_n , for every k big enough, there exists z_n which lies on a geodesic connecting y_n^+ and y_n^- such that $z_n \in \{v_n = s_n\}$. From the triangle inequality it follows that $d(z_n, y_n) < \varepsilon'$ if n is big enough, which is a contradiction since $y_n \in \{\sqrt{v_\infty} = s_n\}$.

From (5.19) it follows that $\mathsf{d}_H^Y(\{t_1^n \leq \sqrt{v_n} \leq t_2^n\}, \{t_1^n \leq \sqrt{v_\infty} \leq t_2^n\}) \to 0 \text{ as } n \to +\infty.$ Moreover it is clear that $\mathsf{d}_H^Y(\{t_1^n \leq \sqrt{v_\infty} \leq t_2^n\}, \{t_1^\infty \leq \sqrt{v_\infty} \leq t_2^\infty\}) \to 0 \text{ as } n \to +\infty \text{ (recall (5.17)), therefore}$

$$b_n := \mathsf{d}_H^Y(\{t_1^n \le \sqrt{v_n} \le t_2^n\}, \{t_1^\infty \le \sqrt{v_\infty} \le t_2^\infty\}) \to 0, \quad \text{as } n \to +\infty.$$
 (5.21)

In particular, since both sets are compact, we can build a Borel map $f_n:\{t_1^n\leq \sqrt{v_n}\leq t_2^n\}\to \{t_1^\infty\leq \sqrt{v_\infty}\leq t_2^\infty\}$ that has b_n -dense image and such that $\mathsf{d}_Y(x,f_n(x))\leq 2b_n$ for all $x\in\{t_1^n\leq \sqrt{v_n}\leq t_2^n\}$. We claim that

$$f_{n_*}\left(\mathfrak{m}_{n|_{\{t_1^n \le \sqrt{v}_n \le t_2^n\}}}\right) \rightharpoonup \mathfrak{m}_{\infty|_{\{t_1^\infty \le \sqrt{v}_\infty \le t_2^\infty\}}}, \quad \text{in duality with } C(\{t_1^\infty \le \sqrt{v}_\infty \le t_2^\infty\}). \tag{5.22}$$

From the fact that $d_Y(., f_n(.)) \leq 2b_n$ and using dominated convergence it is enough to show that

$$\mathfrak{m}_{n|_{\{t_{1}^{n} \leq \sqrt{v}_{n} \leq t_{2}^{n}\}}} \rightharpoonup \mathfrak{m}_{\infty|_{\{t_{1}^{\infty} \leq \sqrt{v}_{\infty} \leq t_{2}^{\infty}\}}}, \text{ in duality with } C_{bs}(Y).$$

To prove the above we first define for every $\delta>0$ the closed set $C_{\delta}:=\{y\in Y: \mathsf{d}_Y(y,\{\sqrt{v_{\infty}}=t_1^{\infty}\})\cup\{\sqrt{v_{\infty}}=t_2^{\infty}\})\leq \delta\}$ and observe that for every $\varepsilon'>0$ there exists δ' such that

$$\mathfrak{m}_{\infty}(C_{\delta'}) < \varepsilon' \,. \tag{5.23}$$

This can be seen using the fact that T is a measure preserving local isometry, the Bishop-Gromov inequality and formula (5.17).

We also define for any $\delta > 0$ the sets $A_{\delta} := \{y \in Y : d_Y(y, X_{\infty} \setminus \{t_1^{\infty} \leq \sqrt{v_{\infty}} \leq t_2^{\infty}\}) \geq \delta\}$ and $B_{\delta} := \{y \in Y : d_Y(y, \{t_1^{\infty} \leq \sqrt{v_{\infty}} \leq t_2^{\infty}\} \leq \delta)\}$. We claim that $B_{\delta_1} \setminus A_{\delta_2} \subset C_{2\delta_1 + 2\delta_2}$, for every $\delta_1, \delta_2 > 0$. To see this let $y \in B_{\delta_1} \setminus A_{\delta_2}$, which implies $d(y, \{t_1^{\infty} \leq \sqrt{v_{\infty}} \leq t_2^{\infty}\}) \leq \delta_1, d(y, X_{\infty} \setminus \{t_1^{\infty} \leq \sqrt{v_{\infty}} \leq t_2^{\infty}\}) \leq \delta_2$. Taking two points $y_1, y_2 \in X_{\infty}$ which realize these two distances we must have that $d_{\infty}(y_1, y_2) = d_Y(y_1, y_2) \leq \delta_1 + \delta_2$. Moreover any geodesics in X_{∞} from y_1 to y_2 , by the continuity of v_{∞} , must intersects $\{\sqrt{v_{\infty}} = t_1^{\infty}\} \cup \{\sqrt{v_{\infty}} = t_2^{\infty}\}$, from which the claim follows.

We finally fix $\varphi \in C_{bs}(Y)$ and $\varepsilon' > 0$ arbitrary. Let $\delta' = \delta'(\varepsilon')$ be the one given by (5.23) and pick $\eta \in C_b(Y)$ such that $0 \le \eta \le 1$, $\eta = 1$ in $A_{\delta'/4}$ and $\sup(\eta) \subset A_{\delta'/8}$. Observe that by uniform convergence (recall also (5.18)), for n big enough we have that $A_{\delta'/8} \cap \sup(\varphi) \cap X_n \subset \{t_1^n \le \sqrt{v_n} \le t_2^n\} \subset B_{\delta'/4}$, therefore

$$\begin{split} \lim\sup_{n} \left| \int \varphi \, \mathrm{d}\mathfrak{m}_{n} \big|_{\{t_{1}^{n} \leq \sqrt{v_{n}} \leq t_{2}^{n}\}} - \int \varphi \, \mathrm{d}\mathfrak{m}_{\infty} \big|_{\{t_{1}^{\infty} \leq \sqrt{v_{\infty}} \leq t_{2}^{\infty}\}} \right| &\leq \lim\sup_{n} \left| \int \varphi \eta \, \mathrm{d}\mathfrak{m}_{n} - \int \varphi \eta \, \mathrm{d}\mathfrak{m}_{\infty} \right| + \\ &+ \lim\sup_{n} \|\varphi\|_{\infty} \mathfrak{m}_{n} (B_{\delta'/4} \setminus A_{\delta'/4}) + \|\varphi\|_{\infty} \mathfrak{m}_{\infty} (\{t_{1}^{\infty} \leq \sqrt{v_{\infty}} \leq t_{2}^{\infty}\} \setminus A_{\delta'/4}) \\ &\leq \lim\sup_{n} \mathfrak{m}_{n} (C_{\delta'}) + \mathfrak{m}_{\infty} (C_{\delta'}) \overset{(5.23)}{\leq} 2 \, \varepsilon' \,. \end{split}$$

From the arbitrariness of ε' and $\varphi \in C_{bs}(Y)$ the convergence in (5.22) follows.

We now pass to the study of the behaviour of f_n with respect to the intrinsic metrics. More precisely for every $\tau>0$ we set $A_n^\tau:=\{t_1^n-\tau<\sqrt{v_n}< t_2^n+\tau\},\ A_\infty^\tau:=\{t_1^n-\tau<\sqrt{v_\infty}< t_2^n+\tau\},\ A_{\infty,n}^\tau:=\{t_1^n-\tau<\sqrt{v_\infty}< t_2^n+\tau\}$ and denote by $\mathsf{d}_n^\tau,\mathsf{d}_\infty^\tau,\mathsf{d}_\infty^\tau$, the intrinsic metrics on $A_n^\tau,\ A_\infty^\tau,\ A_\infty^\tau$, respectively (see the beginning of this section). It is clear that the metrics $\mathsf{d}_n^\tau,\mathsf{d}_\infty^\tau,\mathsf{d}_\infty^\tau$, induce on the sets $\{t_1^n\leq\sqrt{v_n}\leq t_2^n\},\{t_1^n\leq\sqrt{v_\infty}\leq t_2^n\},\{t_1^n\leq\sqrt{v_\infty}\leq t_2^n\}$ the same topology induced by the metrics $\mathsf{d}_n,\mathsf{d}_\infty$.

Notice also that, from (5.17) and since T is a local isometry on $\{\sqrt{v_{\infty}} > 1 + \varepsilon/4\}$,

$$(\{s \leq \sqrt{v_{\infty}} \leq t\}, \mathsf{d}_{\infty}^{s,t,\tau}) \text{ is isometric to } (\{s \leq \lambda \mathsf{d}_{O_{Y'}} \leq t\}, \mathsf{d}_{Y'}^{s,t,\tau}), \ \ \forall \tau \in (0,\eta), \ \forall \, t \geq s > 1 + \varepsilon + \eta, \quad (5.24)$$

where $\mathsf{d}_{\infty}^{s,t,\tau}$ and $\mathsf{d}_{Y'}^{s,t,\tau}$ are the intrinsic metrics respectively on $\{s-\tau<\sqrt{v_{\infty}}< t+\tau\}$ and on $\{s-\tau<\lambda\mathsf{d}_{O_{Y'}}< t+\tau\}$, the isometry being T itself, which also measure preserving. In particular there exists a constant D>0 such that for every $\tau\in(0,\eta)$ it holds $\mathrm{diam}(\{t_1^{\infty}\leq\sqrt{v_{\infty}}\leq t_2^{\infty}\},\mathsf{d}_{\infty}^{\tau})\leq D$.

Observe that from (5.18) we deduce that the functions $\sqrt{v_n}$, $\sqrt{v_\infty}$ are equi-Lipschitz on $\{t_1^n - \eta \le \sqrt{v_n} \le t_2^n + \eta\}$, $\{t_1^\infty - \eta \le \sqrt{v_\infty} \le t_1^\infty + \eta\}$ and we fix $M \ge 2$ a bound on their Lipschitz constant.

Putting $\varepsilon_n := 2 \max(b_n, a_n)$ (where a_n, b_n are the ones in (5.19) and (5.21)) it is not restrictive to assume both that $\sqrt{\varepsilon_n} < \eta/(2M)$ and that $|t_1^n - t_1^{\infty}|, |t_2^n - t_2^{\infty}| < \varepsilon_n$, for every n.

Pick any $x_0, x_1 \in \{t_1^n \leq \sqrt{v_n} \leq t_2^n\}$ and set $y_i = f_n(x_i) \in \{t_1^\infty \leq \sqrt{v_\infty} \leq t_2^\infty\}$, i = 0, 1, where f_n was defined above and recall that $d_Y(x_i, f_n(x_i)) \leq \varepsilon_n$. Consider an absolutely continuous curve $\gamma : [0, 1] \to \overline{A_{\infty}^{\varepsilon - 2M\sqrt{\varepsilon_n}}}$ such that $\gamma(i) = y_i$, i = 0, 1 and $L(\gamma) = d_{\infty}^{\eta - 2M\sqrt{\varepsilon_n}}(y_0, y_1) \leq D$. Letting $N_n := \lfloor 2D/\sqrt{\varepsilon_n} \rfloor$,

there exist $0 = t_0 < t_1 < ... < t_{N_n} = 1$ such that $\mathsf{d}_{\infty}(\gamma(t_i), \gamma(t_{i+1}) \leq L(\gamma|_{[t_i, t_{i+1}]})) \leq L(\gamma)/N_n$, for every $i = 0, ..., N_n - 1$. Thanks to (5.19) and the M-Lipschitzianity of $\sqrt{v_n}$ there exist points $x_i \in A_n^{\eta - M\sqrt{\varepsilon_n}}$ $i = 1, ..., N_n - 1$, such that $\mathsf{d}_Y(x_i, \gamma(t_i)) < \varepsilon_n$, $i = 1, ..., N_n - 1$, and in particular $|\mathsf{d}_n(x_i, x_{i+1}) - \mathsf{d}_{\infty}(\gamma(t_i), \gamma(t_{i+1}))| \leq 2\varepsilon_n$, for every $i = 0, ..., N_n$. Therefore $\mathsf{d}_n(x_i, x_{i+1}) < L(\gamma)/N_n + 2\varepsilon_n \leq \sqrt{\varepsilon_n}$, and thus any geodesic (in X_n) γ_i from x_i to x_{i+1} has image contained in A_n^{η} . We define $\bar{\gamma}: [0, 1] \to A_n^{\eta}$ as the concatenation of all the geodesics γ_i (appropriately reparametrized), in particular

$$\mathsf{d}_n^{\eta}(x_0, x_1) \le L(\bar{\gamma}) \le N_n \left(\frac{L(\gamma)}{N_n} + 2\,\varepsilon_n \right) \le \mathsf{d}_{\infty}^{\eta - 2M\sqrt{\varepsilon_n}} (f_n(x_0), f_n(x_1)) + 4D\sqrt{\varepsilon_n}. \tag{5.25}$$

Conversely pick an absolutely continuous curve $\bar{\gamma}:[0,1]\to \overline{A_n^{\eta}}$ such that $\bar{\gamma}(i)=x_i,\ i=0,1$ and $L(\bar{\gamma})=d_n^{\eta}(x,y)\leq 2D$, which exists thanks to (5.25). Arguing exactly as above we can construct an absolutely continuous curve $\gamma:[0,1]\to A_{\infty}^{\eta+2M\sqrt{\varepsilon_n}}$ such that $\gamma(i)=y_i,\ i=0,1$ and

$$\mathsf{d}_{\infty}^{\eta+2M\sqrt{\varepsilon_n}}(f_n(x_0), f_n(x_1)) \le L(\gamma) \le \mathsf{d}_n^{\eta}(x_0, x_1) + 4D\sqrt{\varepsilon_n}.$$

Recalling (5.24) we are in position to apply Lemma 5.10 and deduce that $\mathsf{d}_{\infty}^{\eta \pm 2M\sqrt{\varepsilon_n}}(f_n(x_0), f_n(x_1)) \to \mathsf{d}_{\infty}^{\eta}(f_n(x_0), f_n(x_1))$ as $n \to +\infty$, uniformly in $x_0, x_1 \in \{t_1^n \le \sqrt{v_n} \le t_2^n\}$. Moreover again from Lemma 5.10 we have that the image of f_n is cb_n -dense in $\{t_1^\infty \le \sqrt{v_\infty} \le t_2^\infty\}$ w.r.t. the metric $\mathsf{d}_{\infty}^{\eta}$, for some constant c independent of n.

Combing this with the above inequalities and (5.22) we obtain

$$(\lbrace t_1^n \leq \sqrt{v_n} \leq t_2^n \rbrace, \mathsf{d}_n^{\eta}, \mu_n) \stackrel{mGH}{\to} (\lbrace t_1^{\infty} \leq \sqrt{v_{\infty}} \leq t_2^{\infty} \rbrace, \mathsf{d}_{\infty}^{\eta}, \mu_{\infty}), \tag{5.26}$$

with $\mu_n \coloneqq \mathfrak{m}_n|_{\{t_1^n \le \sqrt{v_n} \le t_2^n\}}$, $\mu_\infty \coloneqq \mathfrak{m}_\infty|_{\{t_1^\infty \le \sqrt{v_\infty} \le t_2^\infty\}}$ and where, if $t_1^\infty = t_2^\infty$, the convergence is intended only in the GH-sense. Finally from Lemma 5.10 and recalling (5.24) we have that $\left(\{t_1^n \le \sqrt{v_\infty} \le t_2^n\}, \mathsf{d}_{\infty,n}^\eta\right) \overset{GH}{\to} \left(\{t_1^\infty \le \sqrt{v_\infty} \le t_2^\infty\}, \mathsf{d}_{\infty}^\eta\right)$, and that such convergence can be realized by a map $g_n : \{t_1^n \le \sqrt{v_\infty} \le t_2^n\} \to \{t_1^\infty \le \sqrt{v_\infty} \le t_2^\infty\}$ that (if $t_1^n \ne t_2^n$) also satisfies $g_{n_*}\left(\mathfrak{m}_\infty|_{\{t_1^n \le \sqrt{v_\infty} \le t_2^n\}}\right) = \frac{(t_2^\infty)^N - (t_1^\infty)^N}{((t_2^n)^N - (t_1^n)^N)}\mathfrak{m}_\infty|_{\{t_1^\infty \le \sqrt{v_\infty} \le t_2^\infty\}}$. In particular

$$\left(\left\{t_1^n \le \sqrt{v_\infty} \le t_2^n\right\}, \mathsf{d}_{\infty,n}^{\eta}, \mu_{\infty,n}\right) \stackrel{mGH}{\to} \left(\left\{t_1^\infty \le \sqrt{v_\infty} \le t_2^\infty\right\}, \mathsf{d}_{\infty}^{\eta}, \mu_{\infty}\right),\tag{5.27}$$

with $\mu_{\infty,n} := \mathfrak{m}_{\infty}|_{\{t_1^n \le \sqrt{v_\infty} \le t_2^n\}}$ and where in the case $t_1^\infty = t_2^\infty$ the convergence is intended only in the GH-sense

If $t_1^{\infty} = t_2^{\infty}$, combining (5.26) with (5.27), and recalling (5.24), we obtain that (5.13) holds for n big enough. Therefore, since we are assuming d' (see above), up to a subsequence, we must have that either (5.14) is false every n big enough or the last claim about Y in Theorem 5.9 is false. The latter cannot happen, indeed in the first half of the proof we proved precisely that Theorem 5.7 holds with the same Y and with the same \mathcal{E} , \mathcal{E} , \mathcal{E} . Hence we must be \mathcal{E} the first case and in particular \mathcal{E} the first can apply Proposition 5.11 together with (5.26) and (5.27) and obtain that (5.14) holds for \mathcal{E} big enough, which is a contradiction. This concludes the proof of Theorem 5.9.

6 Rigidity and almost rigidity from the monotonicity formula

6.1 Rigidity

The following rigidity result follows almost immediately combining the explicit lower bound on the derivative of U'_{β} in (4.6) and Theorem 5.1 about "from outer functional cone to outer metric cone".

Theorem 6.1. Let X, Ω , u, U_{β} , with $\beta > \frac{N-2}{N-1}$, be as in Theorem 4.4 and suppose that $U_{\beta}^{'-}(t_0) = 0$ for some $t_0 \in (0,1]$. Then the hypotheses of Theorem 5.1, and in particular also its conclusions, are satisfied choosing $\mathbf{u} = Cu^{\frac{2}{2-N}}$, $\mathbf{u}_0 = Ct_0^{\frac{2}{2-N}}$ and $U = \{u < t_0\}$, for some constant C > 0.

Proof. Suppose $U_{\beta}^{'-}(t_0)=0$ for some $t_0\in(0,1]$ and observe that, thanks to (4.6), since $C_{\beta,N}>0$, we must have that $|\nabla|\nabla u^{\frac{1}{2-N}}|^{\beta/2}|=0$ m-a.e. in $\{u< t_0\}$. We claim that $\{u< t_0\}$ is connected. Indeed, if $t_0<1$, from the continuity of u follows that $\partial\{u< t_0\}\subset\{u=t_0\}$, hence from the strong maximum principle we deduce that all the connected components of $\{u< t_0\}$ are unbounded. Moreover $\partial\{u< t_0\}$ is bounded and thus from Corollary 2.9 it follows that that $\{u< t_0\}$ is connected. If $t_0=1$, we conclude observing that $\{u<1\}$ is the union of the sets $\{u< t\}$ with t<1. Therefore we have that $|\nabla u^{\frac{1}{2-N}}|^2\equiv C$ m-a.e. in $\{u< t_0\}$, for some constant C. We now claim that C>0. Indeed if C=0 we would have that $\nabla u=-(2-N)u^{\frac{N-1}{N-2}}\nabla u^{\frac{1}{2-N}}=0$ m-a.e. in $\{u< t_0\}$ and therefore u would be constant in $\{u< t_0\}$ (recall (1.8)). However u goes to 0 at $+\infty$ and $\{u< t_0\}$ is unbounded, therefore $u\equiv 0$ in $\{u< t_0\}$, but this violates the positivity of u. Setting $v=u^{\frac{1}{2-N}}$, by the chain rule for the Laplacian, the harmonicity of u and by locality we have

$$\Delta \frac{v^2}{2} = \frac{1}{2} \Delta (u^{\frac{2}{2-N}}) = \frac{N}{(2-N)^2} \frac{|\nabla u|^2}{u^{2\frac{N-1}{N-2}}} = CN, \quad \mathfrak{m}\text{-a.e. in } \{u < t_0\}.$$

Moreover $|\nabla v^2/2|^2 = v^2 |\nabla v|^2 = 2C \frac{v^2}{2}$. Therefore the function $\mathbf{u} = C^{-1}v^2/2$ satisfies the hypotheses of Theorem 5.1 with $U = \{u < t_0\}$ and $\mathbf{u}_0 = C^{-1}t_0^{2/(2-N)}/2$. This concludes the proof.

6.2 Almost rigidity

The goal of this subsection is to prove the following.

Theorem 6.2. For all numbers $\varepsilon \in (0, 1/3)$, $R_0 > 0$, $\beta > \frac{N-2}{N-1}$, $N \in (2, \infty)$ and for every function $f: (1, +\infty) \to \mathbb{R}^+$ in $L^1(1, +\infty)$ there exists $0 < \delta = \delta(\varepsilon, \beta, N, f)$ such that the following holds. Let $(X, d, \mathfrak{m}, x_0)$ be a pointed RCD(0, N) m.m.s. such that $\mathfrak{m}(B_1(x_0)) \leq \varepsilon^{-1}$ and $\frac{s}{\mathfrak{m}(B_s(x_0))} \leq f(s)$ for $s \geq \varepsilon^{-1}$. Let u be a solution to (P) with $\|u\|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega)} \leq \varepsilon^{-1}$ and such that there exists $t \in (\varepsilon, 1]$ satisfying $diam(\{u > t - \varepsilon t\}^c) < R_0$, $d(x_0, \{u \leq t\}) > \varepsilon$, $\||\nabla u||_{L^{\infty}(\{u < t\})} \leq \varepsilon^{-1}$ and

$$U_{\beta}^{-\prime}(t) < \delta. \tag{6.1}$$

Then there exists a pointed RCD(0, N) space $(X', d', \mathfrak{m}', x')$ such that

$$\mathsf{d}_{pmGH}((\mathsf{X},\mathsf{d},\mathfrak{m},x_0),(\mathsf{X}',\mathsf{d}',\mathfrak{m}',x')) < \varepsilon \tag{6.2}$$

and (X', d', m', x') is a truncated cone outside a compact set $K \subset B_{2R_0}(x')$, i.e. there exists an RCD(0, N) Euclidean N-cone Y, with tip O_Y , over an RCD(N-2, N-1) space Z and a measure preserving local isometry $T: X' \setminus K \to Y \setminus \bar{B}_r(O_Y)$, for some r > 0.

Remark 6.3. Observe that inequality (6.2) is non-trivial because X' is a cone outside a compact set $K \subset B_{2R_0}(x')$ with R_0 independent of $\varepsilon > 0$ (cf. with Remark 5.8).

We will also prove the following alternative version of the above statement (see Section 5.2 for the definition of \mathbb{D} , d_{GH} and of intrinsic metric).

Theorem 6.4. For all numbers $\varepsilon \in (0, 1/3)$, $R_0 > 0$ $\beta > \frac{N-2}{N-1}$, $N \in (2, \infty)$, $\eta > 0$ and for every function f: $(1,+\infty) \to \mathbb{R}^+$ in $L^1(1,+\infty)$ there exists $0 < \delta = \delta(\varepsilon,\beta,N,f,\eta)$ such that, given X, v and t as in Theorem 5.7, there exists an RCD(0, N) Euclidean N-cone (Y, d_Y, m_Y) , with tip O_Y , over an RCD(N-2, N-1)space Z and a constant $\lambda > 0$ such that the following holds. For every $(1 + \varepsilon + \eta)t^{\frac{1}{2-N}} < t_1 < t_2 < \varepsilon^{-1}t^{\frac{1}{2-N}}$ it holds

$$\mathsf{d}_{GH}\left((\{t_1 \leq u^{\frac{1}{2-N}} \leq t_2\}, \mathsf{d}_{\mathbf{X}}^{\eta}), \left(\{t_1 \leq \lambda \mathsf{d}_{O_Y} \leq t_2, \mathsf{d}_Y^{\eta}\right)\right) < \varepsilon,$$

where $d_{O_Y} := d_Y(., O_Y)$ and d_X^{η} and d_Y^{η} denote the intrinsic metrics on $\{t_1 - \eta t^{\frac{1}{2-N}} < u^{\frac{1}{2-N}} < t_2 + \eta t^{\frac{1}{2-N}}\}$ and on $\{t_1 - \eta < \lambda d_{O_Y} < t_2 + \eta\}$. Moreover, provided that $t_1 + \varepsilon t < t_2$,

$$\mathbb{D}\left(\left(\{t_1 \leq u^{\frac{1}{2-N}} \leq t_2\}, \mathsf{d}_{\mathbf{X}}^{\eta}, \mathfrak{m}_{\left|_{\left\{t_1 \leq u^{\frac{1}{2-N}} \leq t_2\right\}}\right.} \right), \left(\{t_1 \leq \lambda \mathsf{d}_{O_Y} \leq t_2\}, \mathsf{d}_{Y}^{\eta}, \mathfrak{m}_{Y}_{\left|_{\left\{t_1 \leq \lambda \mathsf{d}_{O_Y} \leq t_2\right\}}\right.} \right) \right) < \varepsilon \,.$$

Before passing to the proof we explain why the bound on $|||\nabla u|||_{L^{\infty}(\{u < t\})}$ is natural and often satisfied. The immediate observation is that from the gradient bound for harmonic functions (1.22) we deduce

$$|\nabla u| \le \frac{C(N)}{\varepsilon}$$
, m-a.e. in $\{u < 1\} \cap \{x : \mathsf{d}(x, \partial \Omega) > \varepsilon\}$, $\forall \varepsilon > 0$. (6.3)

In particular for fixed $\varepsilon > 0$, thanks to the assumption $\liminf_{x \to \partial \Omega} u(x) \ge 1$, for t sufficiently small (but depending on u) the gradient bound $\||\nabla u|\|_{L^{\infty}(\{u < t\})} \le C(N) \varepsilon^{-1}$ is always satisfied. An estimate on the value of t can be given in the case $B_{\varepsilon}(x_0) \subset \Omega$. Indeed applying the lower bound for u given by (4.1), it is immediately seen that $\{u < t\} \subset \{x : \mathsf{d}(x, \partial\Omega) > \varepsilon\}$ for any $0 < t < \frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{\varepsilon}{\mathrm{diam}(\Omega^c) + \varepsilon}\right)^{N-2}$. Something more explicit can be said if we consider u to be an electrostatic potential. Indeed combining

(6.3) with the continuity estimate (7.1) one can easily prove the following:

Proposition 6.5. For all numbers $\varepsilon \in (0,1/3)$, $N \in (2,\infty)$ there exists $0 < C = C(\varepsilon,N)$ such that the following holds. Let (X, d, m) be a non-compact RCD(0, N) m.m.s. and let $E \subset X$ be open and bounded with uniformly Cap-fat boundary with parameters $(\varepsilon, \varepsilon)$ (see Def. B.3). Let u be the capacitary potential relative to E (see Theorem 7.4). Then

$$|\nabla u| < C(\varepsilon, N)$$
, \mathfrak{m} -a.e. in $\{u < t\}$, for every $t \in (0, 1 - \varepsilon)$.

We pass to the proof of Theorem 6.2 and Theorem 6.4, which are almost corollaries of Theorem 5.7 and Theorem 5.9.

Proof of Theorem 6.2 and Theorem 6.4. Observe first that by Bishop Gromov inequality

$$\mathfrak{m}(B_1(x_0)) \ge \mathfrak{m}(B_{\varepsilon^{-1}}) \varepsilon^N \ge \varepsilon^{N-1} / f(\varepsilon^{-1}).$$

From the second in (4.1) we have that there exist a positive constant $C_1 = C_1(\varepsilon, R_0, N)$, such that

$$u(x) \le C_1 \int_{\mathsf{d}(x,x_0)}^{\infty} f(s) \, \mathrm{d}s, \quad \forall \ x \in B_{\varepsilon^{-1} \vee R_0}(x_0)^c. \tag{6.4}$$

In particular, since $t > \varepsilon$, diam $(\{u < t\}^c) \le \text{diam}(\{u < \varepsilon\}^c) \le C_2$, for some constant C_2 depending only on ε , R_0, N, f . Therefore, again since $t > \varepsilon$, up to rescaling u as ut^{-1} we can assume that t = 1 (observe also that, called \tilde{U}_{β} the function relative to $t^{-1}u$, it holds that $\tilde{U}_{\beta}(s) = U_{\beta}(ts)t^{\beta\frac{N-1}{N-2}-\beta-1}$, $s \in (0,1)$.

Define $v := u^{\frac{2}{2-N}}$ and set $\Omega' = \{u < 1\} = \{v > 1\}$. Note also that $\operatorname{diam}(\{v \le 1 + c_N \varepsilon\}^c) < R_0$ for some constant $c_N \le 1$. From (P) we have that $\Delta v = N|\nabla \sqrt{2v}|^2$, \mathfrak{m} -a.e. in Ω' and that $\limsup_{x \to \partial \Omega'} v(x) \le 1$.

To apply Theorems 5.7 and 5.9 it still remains to check the bounds on $|\nabla \sqrt{v}|$. Observe that from the assumption $d(x_0, \{u \le 1\}) > \varepsilon$ and the first in (4.1) we deduce that

$$u_n(x) \ge c \mathsf{d}(x_n, x)^{2-N}$$
, for every $x \in \Omega'$, (6.5)

for some positive constant $c = c(\varepsilon)$. Combining (6.5), the assumption $||\nabla u||_{L^{\infty}(\{u<1\})} \leq \varepsilon^{-1}$ and the gradient estimate (1.22), it easily follows that

$$|\nabla \sqrt{v}| = (N-2)^{-1} |\nabla u| u^{\frac{1-N}{N-2}} \le C_3,$$

for some positive constant $C_3 = C_3(\varepsilon)$. Finally from (4.6) and (6.1) we have

$$\int_{\{u < 1\}} \frac{1}{v^{N-2}} \left| \nabla |\nabla \sqrt{v}|^{\beta/2} \right|^2 d\mathfrak{m} \le C_{\beta,N}^{-1} U_{\beta}^{-\prime}(1) < C_{\beta,N}^{-1} \delta.$$

We are therefore in position to apply Theorem 5.7 and conclude the proof of Theorem 6.2.

Theorem 6.4 follows from Theorem 5.9 and observing that $\{u = s^{\frac{1}{2-N}}\} = \{\sqrt{v} = s\}$ and that, thanks to (6.4), for every t > 0

$$\{\sqrt{v} \le t\} \subset B_{R_1}(x_0),$$

for some $R_1 = R_1(t, \varepsilon, N, f, R_0)$.

7 The electrostatic potential

It was already discussed in Section 2 that a solution (P) is not granted, in particular already for Riemannian manifolds, the existence of solutions implies non parabolicity. We also showed (see Corollary 2.5) that the Green function solves (P). In this short section we provide another example of solution to (P) given by the electrostatic potential. We recall that this type of solution was crucial in the recent work [AFM].

Definition 7.1 (Electrostatic potential). Given (X, d, \mathfrak{m}) an (unbounded) infinitesimally Hilbertian m.m.s. and $E \subset X$ open and bounded, an *electrostatic potential for* E is a function $u \in D(\Delta, X \setminus \bar{E}) \cap C(X \setminus E)$ solution to

$$\begin{cases} \mathbf{\Delta}_{|\mathbf{X}\setminus\bar{E}}u = 0, \\ u = 1, & \text{in } \partial E, \\ u(x) \to 0 & \text{as } \mathsf{d}(x, \partial E) \to +\infty. \end{cases}$$

Remark 7.2. In an RCD(K, N) space if an electrostatic potential for E exists, then it is also unique, this follows immediately from the maximum principle (see Proposition 1.15).

Remark 7.3. If u is a solution to (P), then the function $(1-\varepsilon)^{-1}u|_{\{u\leq 1-\varepsilon\}}$ is immediately seen to be the electrostatic potential for the open set $X\setminus\{u\leq 1-\varepsilon\}$.

We pass to our main existence result for the electrostatic potential, which holds for sets with sufficiently regular boundary, namely with Cap-fat regular boundary. We refer to Appendix B for the definition of Cap-fat regular boundary and for examples of sets satisfying this condition.

Theorem 7.4. Let (X, d, m) be a nonparabolic RCD(0, N) m.m.s. and let $E \subset X$ be open and bounded with Cap-fat boundary. Then the electrostatic potential u for E exists. Moreover the following continuity estimate holds: for every $x \in \partial E$ it holds

$$1 - u(y) \le \mathsf{d}(y, x)^{\alpha_x}, \quad \forall y \in B_{r_x/2}(x) \cap E^c, \tag{7.1}$$

for some positive constant $\alpha_x = \alpha(r_x, c_x, N) > 0$, where r_x, c_x are the Cap-fatness parameters of x. Finally the function

$$\tilde{u} \coloneqq \begin{cases} u, & \mathbf{X} \setminus E, \\ 1, & \bar{E}, \end{cases}$$

belongs to $S^2(X)$ (recall Def. 1.1) and

$$\int_{\mathcal{X}} |D\tilde{u}|^2 \, \mathrm{d}\mathfrak{m} \le \lim_{r \to +\infty} \mathsf{Cap}(E, B_r(x)), \quad \forall x \in E.$$
 (7.2)

Let us make some comments before passing to proof of this result. We first observe that the limit in (7.2) does not depend on $x \in E$ and that it is actually an inf and thus finite. It is not true in general that $\tilde{u} \in W^{1,2}(X)$, indeed it might not be square integrable, as can be seen taking E to be a ball in \mathbb{R}^3 . Nevertheless, if the measure satisfies $0 < \liminf_{r \to +\infty} r^{-\lambda} \mathfrak{m}(B_r(x)) \le \limsup_{r \to +\infty} r^{-\lambda} \mathfrak{m}(B_r(x)) < +\infty$ for some $\lambda > 2$, then $u \in L^p(\mathfrak{m})$ for every $p > \frac{\lambda}{\lambda - 2}$ (see for example the upper bound in (4.1)).

Proof of Theorem 7.4. We will actually build \tilde{u} and then define u to be the restriction of \tilde{u} to E^c . The argument is by compactness. Fix $x_0 \in E$ and set $B_n := B_n(x_0)$ with $n \in \mathbb{N}$ and n > diam(E) + 100. Theorem B.1 guarantees the existence of a function $u_n \in W_0^{1,2}(B_n) \cap C(B)$ harmonic in $B_n \setminus \overline{E}$, such that $0 \le u_n \le 1$, $u_n = 1$ on \overline{E} and $\int_X |\nabla u_n|^2 d\mathfrak{m} = \mathsf{Cap}(E, B_n)$. Moreover from the comparison principle in Proposition B.9 we must have that $u_n \le u_{n+1}$ in B_n .

It follows from Lemma 1.17 that, up to a (non relabelled) subsequence, u_n converges in $X \setminus \bar{E}$ uniformly on compact sets to a function $\tilde{u} \in C(X \setminus \bar{E})$ harmonic in $X \setminus \bar{E}$. In particular $u_n \to \tilde{u}$ m-a.e.. Moreover, since $Cap(E, B_r(x_0))$ is decreasing in r, we have that $\sup_n |||\nabla u_n|||_{L^2(X)} < +\infty$. Therefore from the lower semicontinuity of weak upper gradients (1.3), we deduce that $\tilde{u} \in S^2(X)$ and

$$\int_{\mathcal{X}} |\nabla \tilde{u}|^2 d\mathfrak{m} \leq \liminf_n \int_{\mathcal{X}} |\nabla u_n|^2 d\mathfrak{m} \leq \liminf_n \mathsf{Cap}(E, B_n) = \lim_{r \to +\infty} \mathsf{Cap}(E, B_r(x_0)).$$

The continuity estimate follows directly from the fact that $u_n \leq \tilde{u} \leq 1$ for every n and from the continuity estimate in Theorem B.1, observing that in the case K = 0 we can drop the dependence on the diameter of E.

It remains to show that u goes to 0 at infinity. We prove it by comparison with the quasi Green function $G^1_{x_0}$ (recall (2.2)). We have that $G^1_{x_0}$ is Lipschitz and superharmonic in X. Moreover $G^1_{x_0}$ is positive, hence $\lambda G^1_{x_0} \geq \chi_E$ for a large enough constant $\lambda > 0$. In particular the comparison principle in Theorem B.1 implies that $u_n \leq \lambda G^1_{x_0}$ for every n, which in turn gives $u \leq \lambda G^1_{x_0}$. Finally from the estimate for the Green function in (2.3) we have

$$G_{x_0}^1 \le G_{x_0}(x) \le \int_{\mathsf{d}(x,x_0)}^{\infty} \frac{s}{\mathfrak{m}(B_s(x))} \, ds,$$

in particular $G_{x_0}^1(x) \to 0$ at infinity. This concludes the proof.

A Appendix: From outer functional cone to outer metric cone - additional details

This section is devoted to the proof of Theorem 5.1 given the two results presented in Section 5.1 (that is Proposition 5.3 and Proposition 5.5).

Up to Section A.4 (included) the proof is in large part the same as [DG16], hence some steps will be only outlined, however there will be differences and new arguments that will be explained in detail and emphasized along the exposition.

After Section A.4 (in particular in Sections A.5, A.6 and A.7) the argument diverges from the one in [DG16], indeed (following a suggestion of an anonymous referee) we replace the second-order analysis of [DG16] with a more direct argument which uses the differentiation formula in [GT] and is inspired by [BNS, Sec. 3.1]. This strategy is in turn analogous to the one previously employed by Cheeger and Colding [ChC96] to derived quantitative almost-splitting results via Hessian estimates. We remark that these type of arguments (as for the one used in [BNS]) were not possible at the time of the writing of [G13a] and [DG16] (which contains respectively the first versions of the splitting theorem and the volume cone-to-metric cone theorem in RCD spaces), since the differentiation formula in [GT] was not yet available.

We also mention the recent [Che] where a similar argument exploiting [GT] is used to prove a version of the (almost) volume annulus-to-metric annulus in RCD setting.

A.1 The gradient flow of u and its effect on the measure

From the chain rule for the Laplacian (3.2), the positivity of **u** and recalling that $\Delta \mathbf{u} = N$ and $|\nabla \mathbf{u}|^2 = 2\mathbf{u}$ m-a.e. in U, it follows that

$$v := \begin{cases} \mathbf{u}^{\frac{2-N}{2}}, & \text{if } N > 2, \\ \ln(\frac{1}{\sqrt{\mathbf{u}}}), & \text{if } N = 2, \end{cases}$$
 is harmonic in U .

In particular the maximum principle and the fact that $\mathbf{u}_0 = \limsup_{x \to \partial U} \mathbf{u}(x)$ ensure that

every connected component of
$$\{\mathbf{u} > \mathbf{u}_0\}$$
 is unbounded. (A.1)

Since by assumption $\{\mathbf{u} > \mathbf{u}_0\}$ is nonempty we must have that X is unbounded.

For technical reasons we will work locally, in particular we fix a set V open and relatively compact in U and consider $\eta \in \mathsf{Test}(X)$ such that $\eta = 1$ in \overline{V} , $0 \le \eta \le 1$ and $\mathsf{supp}\,\eta \subset U$, which exists thanks to Proposition 1.13. We then define

$$u \coloneqq n_{11}$$

Since $\mathbf{u} \in \mathsf{Test}_{\mathsf{loc}}(U)$ from (1.19) we deduce that $u \in \mathsf{Test}(X)$.

We point out that we would like to take right away V to be of the form $\{t_0 < \mathbf{u} < T_0\}$, however to ensure that this set is relatively compact in U we need first to know that \mathbf{u} blows up at infinity. This will be proved in Lemma A.2.

We now consider the regular Lagrangian flow $F:[0,T]\times X\to X$ associated to the autonomous vector field $v=-\nabla u$. Observe that since $\Delta u\in L^\infty(\mathfrak{m})$ and $u\in \mathsf{Test}(X)$ the assumptions of Theorem 1.29 are satisfied. In particular the flow F exists unique. Moreover, again thanks to $\Delta u\in L^\infty(\mathfrak{m})$ and Remark 1.30 we can extend the map F to $(-\infty,+\infty)\times X$.

Proposition A.1. 1. For \mathfrak{m} -a.e. $x \in X$ it holds that $F_t(F_s(x)) = F_{s+t}(x)$ for every $s, t \in \mathbb{R}$.

2. For \mathfrak{m} -a.e. $x \in U$ it holds that $(-\infty, \infty) \ni t \mapsto F_t(x)$ is continuous. Moreover denoted by (a_x, b_x) the maximal interval such that $F_t(x) \in U$ for all $t \in (a_x, b_x)$ (which in particular satisfies $a_x < 0, b_x > 0$ and possibly $a_x = -\infty$ or $b_x = +\infty$), it holds

$$\mathbf{u}(F_t(x)) = e^{-2t}\mathbf{u}(x), \quad \forall t \in (a_x, b_x)$$
(A.2)

and

$$d(F_s(x), F_t(x)) \le |e^{-t} - e^{-s}| \sqrt{2\mathbf{u}(x)}, \quad \forall t, s \in (a_x, b_x).$$
(A.3)

Proof. The first is just (1.25).

(A.2) follows observing that from (1.24), since $|\nabla u|^2 = 2u$ m-a.e. in U, for m-a.e. $x \in U$ it holds that

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}u(F_t(x)) = -2u(F_t(x)), \quad \text{for a.e. } t \in (a_x, b_x).$$

(A.3) instead can be derived from the fact that, recalling Remark 1.27, for \mathfrak{m} -a.e. $x \in U$ it holds $|F_t(x)| = \sqrt{2u(F_t(x))}$ for a.e. $t \in (a_x, b_x)$.

Recall that, as remarked at the beginning of the section, X is unbounded, hence the following result makes sense.

Lemma A.2.

$$\mathbf{u}(x) \to +\infty \quad \text{ as } \mathbf{d}(x, U^c) \to +\infty.$$
 (A.4)

Proof. Suppose (A.4) is false. Then we can find a ball $B_{2R}(\bar{x}) \subset U$ such that $R > 100\sqrt{\mathbf{u}(\bar{x})} + 1$. We choose $\eta \in \mathsf{Test}(X)$ such that $\eta = 1$ in $\overline{B}_R(\bar{x})$, $0 \le \eta \le 1$ and supp $\eta \subset U$, which exists from Proposition 1.13. We define $u := \mathbf{u}\eta \in \mathsf{Test}(X)$ and consider the regular Lagrangian flow F_t relative to $-\nabla u$. Then from (A.3) (with the choice $V = B_R(\bar{x})$), the continuity of \mathbf{u} and the choice of R we can find $x' \in B_1(\bar{x})$ such that the curve $F_t(x')$ is contained in $B_R(\bar{x})$ for all t > 0. This together with (A.2) contradicts the positivity of \mathbf{u} .

From now until the very last part of the proof we fix $t_0, T_0 \in \mathbb{R}^+$ such that $\mathbf{u}_0 < t_0 + 1 < T < T_0 - 1$ and $T_0 - T > T - t_0$, where T is to be chosen later.

Thanks to both (A.4) and $\mathbf{u}_0 = \limsup_{x \to \partial U} \mathbf{u}(x)$ we have that $\{t_0 < \mathbf{u} < T_0\}$ is compactly contained in U. Hence we can pick a cut off function $\eta \in \mathsf{Test}(X)$ such that $\eta = 1$ in $\{t_0 \le \mathbf{u} \le T_0\}$, $0 \le \eta \le 1$, supp $\eta \subset U$ and define $u := \eta \mathbf{u} \in \mathsf{Test}(X)$. As above we consider F_t the flow relative to $-\nabla u$, which is defined for all positive and negative times.

Define for every $a, b \in [\mathbf{u}_0, \infty)$ the open set

$$A_{a,b} := \{a < \mathbf{u} < b\}.$$

From the definition of u, the hypotheses on \mathbf{u} and the locality of the gradient and the Laplacian we have

$$\Delta u = N$$
, m-a.e. in A_{t_0, T_0} .
 $|\nabla u|^2 = 2u$, m-a.e. in A_{t_0, T_0} . (A.5)

The following can be proven arguing as in [DG16, sec. 3.6.1], however we give a shorter proof, which use the improved Bochner inequality (1.17).

Proposition A.3.

$$\operatorname{Hess}(u) = \operatorname{id} \quad \mathfrak{m}\text{-}a.e. \text{ in } A_{t_0,T_0}.$$

Proof. Localizing (1.17) to A_{t_0,T_0} and recalling (A.5) we obtain

$$N \ge |\operatorname{Hess}(u)|_{HS}^2 + \frac{(N - \operatorname{tr}\operatorname{Hess}(u))^2}{N - \dim(X)}$$
 m-a.e. in A_{t_0, T_0} .

By Cauchy-Swartz and recalling (1.15), (1.16) we observe that $|\text{Hess}(u)|_{HS}^2 = \sum_{1 \leq i,j \leq \dim(X)} \text{Hess}(u)(e_i,e_j)^2 \geq \sum_{i=1}^{\dim(X)} \text{Hess}(u)(e_i,e_i)^2 \geq \frac{\text{tr} \text{Hess}(u)^2}{N}$. Plugging this in the above inequality and applying again Cauchy-Swartz we obtain

$$N \geq \frac{\mathsf{tr} \mathsf{Hess}(u)^2}{N} + \frac{(N - \mathsf{tr} \mathsf{Hess}(u))^2}{N - \dim(\mathsf{X})} \geq N \quad \mathfrak{m}\text{-a.e. in } A_{t_0,T_0}.$$

Hence all the inequality we used were actually equalities, in particular $\operatorname{Hess}(u)(e_i, e_j) = 0$ m-a.e. in A_{t_0, T_0} , for every $i \neq j$ and $\operatorname{Hess}(u)(e_i, e_i) = 1$ m-a.e. in A_{t_0, T_0} for every $i = 1, ..., \dim(X)$, which concludes the proof.

Proposition A.4. 1. For \mathfrak{m} -a.e. $x \in X$ it holds that $F_t(F_s(x)) = F_{s+t}(x)$ for every $s, t \in \mathbb{R}$.

2. For \mathfrak{m} -a.e. $x \in A_{t_0,T_0}$ it holds that $F_t(x) \in A_{t_0,T_0}$ and

$$u(F_t(x)) = e^{-2t}u(x), \tag{A.6}$$

for every $t \in (\frac{1}{2} \log \frac{u(x)}{T_0}, \frac{1}{2} \log \frac{u(x)}{t_0})$, moreover

$$d(F_s(x), F_t(x)) = |e^{-t} - e^{-s}|\sqrt{2u(x)},$$
(A.7)

for every $s, t \in (\frac{1}{2} \log \frac{u(x)}{T_0}, \frac{1}{2} \log \frac{u(x)}{t_0})$, in particular the curve $(\frac{1}{2} \log \frac{u(x)}{T_0}, \frac{1}{2} \log \frac{u(x)}{t_0}) \ni t \mapsto F_t(x)$ is supported on a geodesic.

Proof. Everything except for the equality in (A.7) follow Proposition A.1 together with the observation that in this case $a_x = \frac{1}{2} \log \frac{u(x)}{T_0}$ and $b_x = \frac{1}{2} \log \frac{u(x)}{t_0}$.

To show equality in (A.7) it is enough to show it for t = 0 and s > 0. Hence we fix $s \in (0, \frac{1}{2} \log \frac{u(x)}{t_0})$. Thanks to (A.3) we only need to show that

$$d(F_s(x), x) \ge (1 - e^{-s})\sqrt{2u(x)}. (A.8)$$

We make the intermediate claim that

$$d(x, U^c) \ge \sqrt{2\mathbf{u}(x)} - \sqrt{2\mathbf{u}_0}, \quad \forall x \in U.$$
(A.9)

To prove it we first observe that, since **u** is positive, we have that $\sqrt{\mathbf{u}} \in W^{1,2}_{\mathsf{loc}}(U)$ and $|\nabla \sqrt{2\mathbf{u}}| = 1$ m-a.e. in U.

The properness of the space X ensures that there exists $\bar{x} \in \partial U$ such that $d(x, \bar{x}) = d(x, \partial U)$. Moreover, since X is geodesic, there exists a sequence $x_n \subset U$ such that $x_n \to x$ and $d(x, x_n) \leq d(x, \partial U)$. Hence recalling that $|\nabla \sqrt{2\mathbf{u}}| = 1$ m-a.e., we are in position to apply (1.7) and deduce that

$$\mathsf{d}(x,\bar{x}) = \lim_{n} \mathsf{d}(x,x_n) \ge \liminf_{n} \sqrt{2\mathbf{u}(x)} - \sqrt{2\mathbf{u}(x_n)} \ge \sqrt{2\mathbf{u}(x)} - \sqrt{2\mathbf{u}(x)}$$

which proves (A.9).

From (A.3) and by how we chose s we have that $d(F_s(x), x) \leq (1 - e^{-s})\sqrt{2\mathbf{u}(x)} \leq \sqrt{2\mathbf{u}(x)} - \sqrt{2t_0} \leq \sqrt{2\mathbf{u}(x)} - \sqrt{2\mathbf{u}_0}$. Hence from (A.9) we deduce $d(F_s(x), x) \leq d(x, \partial U)$ and applying again (1.7) combined with (A.6) we obtain (A.8).

Lemma A.5. For every $t \in (0, \frac{1}{2} \log \frac{T_0}{t_0})$ it holds that

$$\mathfrak{m}(A_{e^{2t}t_0,T_0}) = e^{Nt}\mathfrak{m}(A_{t_0,e^{-2t}T_0}). \tag{A.10}$$

Proof. The argument is essentially the same as in [DG16, Prop. 3.7] but reversed, indeed here we start from $\Delta u = N$ and $|\nabla u|^2 = 2u$ and deduce information on the measure.

The following result has not a direct counterpart in [DG16], however it morally substitutes the bound (3.1) in [DG16, Prop. 3.2] (cf. with (A.12) below). We remark that the proof of the following Proposition relies on the local estimate of Proposition 5.5.

Proposition A.6. For every $t \in (0, \frac{1}{2} \log \frac{T_0}{t_0})$ it holds that

$$(F_{t*}\mathfrak{m})_{\big|_{A_{t_0,e^{-2t}T_0}}} = F_{t*}(\mathfrak{m}_{\big|_{A_{e^{2t}t_0,T_0}}}) = e^{Nt}\mathfrak{m}_{\big|_{A_{t_0,e^{-2t}T_0}}}. \tag{A.11}$$

Proof. Consider the probability measure $\mu_0 = \frac{\mathfrak{m}|_{A_{e^{2t}t_0,T_0}}}{\mathfrak{m}(A_{e^{2t}t_0,T_0})}$. By Theorem 1.29 $\{F_{s*}\mu_0\}_{s\in[0,t]}$ are all Borel probability measures, absolutely continuous with respect to \mathfrak{m} and solve the continuity equation with initial datum μ_0 . Moreover (A.6) implies that $F_{s*}\mu_0$ is concentrated on A_{t_0,T_0} for every $s\in[0,t]$. Therefore setting $F_{t*}\mu_0 = \rho_t \mathfrak{m}$ we are in position to apply (5.3), that combined with (A.5) gives

$$\|\rho_t\|_{\infty} \le \mathfrak{m}(A_{e^{2t}t_0, T_0})^{-1} e^{Nt}. \tag{A.12}$$

However applying now (A.10) and observing that and that $F_{t*}\mu_0$ is concentrated in $A_{t_0,e^{-2t}T_0}$, again thanks to (A.6), we can compute

$$0 \le \int_{A_{t_0,e^{-2t}T_0}} \mathfrak{m}(A_{e^{2t}t_0,T_0})^{-1} e^{Nt} - \rho_t d\mathfrak{m} = \mathfrak{m}(A_{e^{2t}t_0,T_0})^{-1} e^{Nt} \mathfrak{m}(A_{t_0,e^{-2t}T_0}) - 1 = 0,$$

that gives the second in (A.11).

The first in (A.11) follows directly from (A.6).

Having at our disposal (A.11) and (A.7), we can argue exactly as in [DG16, Cor. 3.8] to obtain the following

Proposition A.7 (Continuous disintegration). We have

$$u_* \mathfrak{m}|_{A_{t_0,T_0}} = cr^{\frac{N}{2} - 1} \mathcal{L}^1|_{(t_0,T_0)},$$

where $c := \frac{N}{2} \frac{\mathfrak{m}(A_{t_1,t_2})}{t_1^{N/2} - t_2^{N/2}}$, for any $t_1, t_2 \in \mathbb{R}^+$ with $t_0 \leq t_2 < t_2 \leq T_0$. Moreover there exists a weakly continuous family of Borel measures $(t_0, T_0) \ni r \mapsto \mathfrak{m}_r \in \mathcal{P}(X)$ such that

$$\int \varphi d\mathfrak{m} = c \int_{t_0}^{T_0} \int \varphi d\mathfrak{m}_r r^{N/2 - 1} dr, \quad \forall \varphi \in C_c(A_{t_0, T_0}). \tag{A.13}$$

Finally, for every $t \in (0, \log \frac{T_0}{t_0})$ the measures \mathfrak{m}_r satisfies

$$F_{t*}\mathfrak{m}_r = \mathfrak{m}_{e^{-2t}r}, \quad \text{ for a.e. } r \in (e^{2t}t_0, T_0).$$

The following result has not a counterpart in [DG16], since it deals with large scales, while the analysis in [DG16] is local.

Corollary A.8. X has Euclidean volume growth, in particular $\{\mathbf{u} > \mathbf{u}_0\}$ is unbounded, connected with $\{\mathbf{u} > \mathbf{u}_0\}^c$ bounded.

Proof. Combining (A.6) and (A.7) it can be shown that $A_{t_0,T_0} \subset B_{4\sqrt{T_0}+C}(x_0)$ for every $T_0 > 2t_0$ for some fixed constant C > 0 (recall that what we proved so far holds for an arbitrary $T_0 > T$). Therefore $A_{t_0,\frac{(R-C)^2}{16}} \subset B_R(x_0)$ for every R big enough and the conclusion follows using (A.13).

Since X has Euclidean volume growth it is not compact and not a cylinder in the sense of i) of Proposition 2.8. Now observe that $\partial \{\mathbf{u} > \mathbf{u}_0\}$ is bounded (as a consequence of (A.4)), hence compact, and that each connected component of $\{\mathbf{u} > \mathbf{u}_0\}$ is unbounded (by (A.1)). Hence the conclusion follows from Proposition 2.8 and the fact that $\{\mathbf{u} > \mathbf{u}_0\}$ is not empty.

Lemma A.9 ([DG16, Lemma 3.11]). Let $f \in L^p(\mathfrak{m})$ with $p < +\infty$, then the map $t \mapsto f \circ F_t$ is continuous in $L^p(\mathfrak{m})$. Moreover if $f \in W^{1,2}(X)$ the map $t \mapsto f \circ F_t$ is C^1 in L^2 and its derivative is given by

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}f \circ F_t = -\langle \nabla f, \nabla u \rangle \circ F_t.$$

A.2 Effect on the Dirichlet Energy

Thanks to (A.5) and (A.11) we can repeat almost verbatim the analysis done in [DG16, Sec. 3.2]. Indeed all the proofs contained there rely only on the analogous properties of the function b and Fl_t , i.e. " $|D\mathsf{b}|^2 = 2\mathsf{b}$, $\Delta\mathsf{b} = N$ and $\mathsf{Fl}_{t*}\mathfrak{m} = e^{Nt}\mathfrak{m}$ ".

This said, we will only state, adapted to our case and without proof, the final result in [DG16, Sec. 3.2] (i.e. Corollary 3.17), since it is the only statement that is needed for the rest of the argument.

Theorem A.10. Let $t \in (0, \log \frac{T_0}{t_0})$, and $f \in L^2(\mathfrak{m})$ with support in $A_{t_0, e^{-2t}T_0}$. Then $f \in W^{1,2}(X)$ if and only if $f \circ F_t \in W^{1,2}(X)$ and in this case

$$|\nabla(f \circ F_t)| = e^{-t}|\nabla f| \circ F_t, \mathfrak{m} - a.e.$$

A.3 Precise representative of the flow

The following proposition is the analogous of [DG16, Thm. 3.18]. We point out that the proof in [DG16] contains an oversight in the proof that Fl_t has a locally-Lipschitz representative. Indeed it is claimed that this follows from the fact that Fl_t is Lipschitz in $\mathsf{Fl}_t^{-1}(B_r(x_0))$ for every small enough ball $B_r(x_0)$. However, since Fl_t is not yet proven to be continuous, we do not know enough information on the sets $\mathsf{Fl}_t^{-1}(B_r(x_0))$ to 'patch' them and obtain the claimed local Lipschitzianity.

For this reason we will give a complete proof which also fixes the original argument.

Proposition A.11. Let $\mathcal{U}_{t_0,T_0} \subset \mathbb{R} \times X$ be the open set given by

$$\mathcal{U}_{t_0,T_0} := \left\{ (x,t) : x \in A_{t_0,T_0} \text{ and } t \in \left(\frac{1}{2} \log \frac{u(x)}{T_0}, \frac{1}{2} \log \frac{u(x)}{t_0} \right) \right\}.$$

Then the map

$$F: \mathcal{U}_{t_0,T_0} \to A_{t_0,T_0},$$

has a continuous representative w.r.t the measure $\mathcal{L}^1 \otimes \mathfrak{m}$. Moreover for such representative (which we denote again by F) the map $F_t: A_{e^{2t}t_0,T_0} \to A_{t_0,e^{-2t}T_0}$ is locally e^{-t} -Lipschitz having F_{-t} as its inverse, which is locally e^t -Lipschitz. Also for every $x \in A_{t_0,T_0}$ and every $s,t \in (\frac{1}{2}\log \frac{u(x)}{T_0},\frac{1}{2}\log \frac{u(x)}{t_0})$

$$d(F_t(x), F_s(x)) = |e^{-s} - e^{-t}|\sqrt{2u(x)}$$
(A.14)

and

$$u(F_t(x)) = e^{-2t}u(x).$$
 (A.15)

Finally for every $t \in (0, \log \frac{T_0}{t_0})$ and every curve γ with values in $A_{e^{2t}t_0,T_0}$, putting $\tilde{\gamma} := F_t \circ \gamma$ we have

$$|\dot{\tilde{\gamma}}_s| = e^{-t}|\dot{\gamma}_s|, \quad \text{for a.e. } s \in [0, 1],$$
 (A.16)

meaning that one is absolutely continuous if and only if the other is absolutely continuous, in which case (A.16) holds.

Proof. Fix $t \in [0, \log \frac{T_0}{t_0})$. We start claiming that

$$F_{t|A_{e^{2t}t_0,T_0}}$$
 has a continuous representative that we denote by \bar{F}_t and $\bar{F}_t(A_{e^{2t}t_0,T_0}) = A_{t_0,e^{-2t}T_0}$. (A.17)

For the first part it is sufficient to show that for every $a,b \in \mathbb{R}$ such that $e^{2t}t_0 < a < b < T_0$ the map $F_t|_{A_{a,b}}$ has a continuous representative. Hence we fix such $a,b \in \mathbb{R}$ and define the open sets $A' \coloneqq A_{e^{-2t}a,e^{-2t}b}$ and $A \coloneqq A_{t_0,e^{-2t}T_0}$. Observe that the continuity of u implies $d(A',A^c) \coloneqq \delta > 0$. Consider now the countable family of 1-Lipschitz functions $\mathcal{D} \subset \mathsf{LIP}(X)$ defined as

$$\mathcal{D} \coloneqq \{f_{n,k} \mid n, k \in \mathbb{N}\} = \{\max(\min(\mathsf{d}(.,x_n), k - \mathsf{d}(.,x_n)), 0) \mid n, k \in \mathbb{N}\},$$

where $\{x_n\}_{n\in\mathbb{N}}$ is a dense subset of A. We pick a cut off function $\eta \in \mathsf{LIP}_c(A)$ such that $0 \le \eta \le 1$ and $\eta \equiv 1$ in A' and define the set $\eta \mathcal{D} \subset \mathsf{LIP}_c(A)$ as $\eta \mathcal{D} := \{\eta f \mid f \in \mathcal{D}\}$. For any $f \in \mathcal{D}$ it holds

$$\operatorname{Lip}(f\eta) \le \operatorname{Lip} \eta \sup_{A} |f| + \operatorname{Lip} f \le \operatorname{Lip} \eta \operatorname{diam}(A) + 1 =: L,$$

hence the functions in $\eta \mathcal{D}$ are L-Lipschitz. We now make the key observation that

$$d(x,y) = \sup_{f \in \mathcal{D}} |f(x) - f(y)| = \sup_{f \in \mathcal{D}} |\eta f(x) - \eta f(y)| = \sup_{f \in \eta \mathcal{D}} |f(x) - f(y)|, \tag{A.18}$$

for every $x, y \in A'$. Thanks to Corollary (A.10) we know that $f \circ F_t \in W^{1,2}(X)$ for every $f \in \eta \mathcal{D}$ and $|D(f \circ F_t)| = e^{-t}|Df| \circ F_t \leq e^{-t}L$ m-a.e. Then from the Sobolev-to-Lipschitz property of X, we deduce that $f \circ F_t$ has an L-Lipschitz representative. Thus there exists an m-negligible set $N \subset X$ such that for every $f \in \eta \mathcal{D}$ the restriction of $f \circ F_t$ to $X \setminus N$ is L-Lipschitz. Moreover from (A.6) it follows the existence of an m-negligible set N' such that $F_t(A_{a,b} \setminus N') \subset A'$. Therefore from (A.18) it follows that for every $x, y \in A_{a,b} \setminus (N \cup N')$

$$d(F_t(x), F_t(y)) = \sup_{f \in \eta \mathcal{D}} |f(F_t(x)) - f(F_t(y))| \le e^{-t} L d(x, y).$$

This proves the first part of (A.17). We now show \subset of the second part. From (A.6) it follows the existence of a negligible set N such that for every set U relatively compact in $A_{e^{2t}t_0,T_0}$ we have that $\bar{F}_t(U\setminus N)$ is relatively compact in $A_{t_0,e^{-2t}T_0}$. Moreover, since negligible sets have empty interior we deduce that $\overline{U\setminus N}$ contains U. Therefore $\bar{F}_t(U)\subset \bar{F}_t(\overline{U\setminus N})\subset \overline{\bar{F}_t(U\setminus N)}$ which is contained in $A_{e^{2t}t_0,T_0}$ thanks to the first observation. We now show \supset . Again thanks to (A.6) the set $N:=A_{t_0,e^{-2t}T_0}\setminus \bar{F}_t(A_{e^{2t}t_0,T_0})$ is negligible. Pick any set U relatively compact in $A_{t_0,e^{-2t}T_0}$ and define $V:=\bar{F}_t^{-1}(U\setminus N)$ which is relatively compact in $A_{e^{2t}t_0,T_0}$. Therefore, since \bar{F}_t is continuous, the set $F_t(\bar{V})$ is compact in $A_{t_0,e^{-2t}T_0}$ and, since negligible sets have empty interior, contains U. This concludes the proof of (A.17).

For any $t \in (\log \frac{t_0}{T_0}, 0)$ we can now argue exactly as above, to deduce that

$$F_{t|A_{t_0,e^2tT_0}}$$
 has a continuous representative that we denote by \bar{F}_t and $\bar{F}_t(A_{t_0,e^2tT_0})=A_{e^{-2t}t_0,T_0}.$ (A.19)

In particular, since $F_t(F_{-t}) = id$ m-a.e., we deduce that \bar{F}_{-t} is the continuous inverse of \bar{F}_t .

Having proved (A.17) and (A.19) we can complete the proof arguing as in [DG16] with the obvious modifications.

From now on we denote by F a representative of $F: \mathbb{R} \times X \to X$ which is continuous (in space and time) on \mathcal{U}_{t_0,T_0} .

A.4 Properties of level set $\{\mathbf{u} = T\}$

In this short subsection we prove that the level set $\{\mathbf{u} = T\}$ is Lipschitz-path connected when T is big enough. We remark that the argument will rely on Proposition 2.8 and is different from the one used in [DG16] to prove the same property for the "sphere".

For the following result recall from Section A.1 that in our construction we first choose T and then we choose t_0 and T_0 accordingly.

Lemma A.12. There exists $T > \mathbf{u}_0$ and a constant c > 0 (depending only on T, t_0 and \mathbf{u}) such that, if T_0 is big enough, for every couple of points $x, y \in \{\mathbf{u} = T\}$ there exists $\gamma \in \mathsf{LIP}([0,1], X)$ joining x and y and such that $\gamma \subset A_{t_0+1,T_0-1}$ and $\mathsf{Lip}(\gamma) \leq \mathsf{5d}(x,y)$.

Proof. From (A.4) we know that $d(\{\mathbf{u} = T\}, \{\mathbf{u} > t_0 + 1\}^c) \to +\infty$ as $T \to +\infty$. Moreover $\{\mathbf{u} > t_0 + 1\}^c$ is bounded and, as proven in Corollary A.8, X has Euclidean volume growth and in particular it is not a cylinder (since $N \ge 2$). Therefore from Proposition 2.8, provided T is big enough, we have that for every couple of points $x, y \in \{\mathbf{u} = T\}$ there exists a Lipschitz path γ from x to y and such that $\gamma \subset \{\mathbf{u} > t_0 + 1\}$ and $\text{Lip}(\gamma) \le 5d(x, y)$. Therefore, again from (A.4) and since $\{\mathbf{u} = T\}$ is bounded, if T_0 is big enough then it holds that $\gamma \subset A_{t_0+1,T_0-1}$.

Consider now the closed set $S_T := \{\mathbf{u} = T\}$ and the projection map $\Pr: A_{t_0,T_0} \to S_T$ defined as

$$\Pr(x) \coloneqq F_{\frac{1}{2}\log\frac{u(x)}{T}}(x).$$

Note that from Proposition A.11 and (A.14), we have that Pr is well defined and locally Lipschitz.

Proposition A.13. The set S_T is Lipschitz path connected, meaning that for every couple of points $x, y \in S_T$ there exists a Lipschitz curve γ taking values in S_T , joining x and y. Moreover we can choose γ so that $\text{Lip}(\gamma) \leq c \, \mathsf{d}(x,y)$, for some uniform constant c > 0.

Proof. From Proposition A.12 we now that there exists a Lipschitz path connecting x and y taking values in A_{t_0+1,T_0-1} , which is relatively compact in A_{t_0,T_0} , then we simply consider the curve

$$\tilde{\gamma}\coloneqq \mathsf{Pr}\circ\gamma,$$

which remains a Lipschitz curve, since Pr is locally Lipschitz. The claimed bound on $\text{Lip}(\tilde{\gamma})$ follows from the bound on $\text{Lip}(\gamma)$ given in Proposition A.12 and again by the local Lipschitzianity of Pr.

A.5 The cosine formula holds

The goal of this section is to prove the following.

Proposition A.14 (Local cosine formula). For every $\varepsilon > 0$ there exists $\rho = \rho(\varepsilon) > 0$ such that for every $x \in A_{t_0+\varepsilon,T_0-\varepsilon}$ it holds

$$d(x,y)^{2} = 2u(x) + 2u(y) - 4\sqrt{u(x)u(y)} \left(1 - \frac{d(\Pr(x), \Pr(y)^{2})}{4T}\right), \quad \forall y \in B_{\rho}(x).$$
 (A.20)

To prove this statement we need to construct some objects and prove some preliminary technical facts. Fix any $x \in A_{t_0+\varepsilon,T_0-\varepsilon}$ and $\delta > 0$ small and to be chosen. For every r > 0 and $y \in B_{\delta}(x) \cup B_{\delta}(\mathsf{Pr}(x))$ define the measures $\mu^r \coloneqq (\mathfrak{m}(B_r(\mathsf{Pr}(x))))^{-1}\mathfrak{m}|_{B_r(\mathsf{Pr}(x))}$ and $\nu^r \coloneqq (\mathfrak{m}(B_r(y)))^{-1}\mathfrak{m}|_{B_r(y)}$. Let $\bar{t} \in \mathbb{R}$ be such that $F_{\bar{t}}(\mathsf{Pr}(x)) = x$ (i.e. $\bar{t} = \frac{1}{2}\log\frac{T}{u(x)}$). For every $t \in [0,\bar{t}]$ (or in $[\bar{t},0]$ if $\bar{t} < 0$) we also set $\mu^r_t \coloneqq F_{t*}\mu^r$.

Finally for everyone of these t's we also consider the unique W_2 -geodesic $\{\eta_s^{t,r}\}_{s\in[0,1]}$ going from ν^r to μ_t^r . For the main computations, we will need the following technical fact:

there exists
$$\rho = \rho(\varepsilon) > 0$$
 such that, provided $r, \delta < \rho$, supp $(\eta_s^{t,r}) \subset A_{t_0,T_0}$ for all $s \in [0,1]$. (A.21)

Since the measures $\eta_s^{t,r}$ are concentrated on the support of geodesics going from $B_r(y)$ to $F_t(B_r(x))$, to check the above it is sufficient to prove the following.

Proposition A.15. For every $x \in A_{t_0+\varepsilon,T_0-\varepsilon}$ there exists $\rho = \rho(\varepsilon) > 0$ such that the following holds. Let $\bar{t} \in \mathbb{R}$ be such that $F_{\bar{t}}(\mathsf{Pr}(x)) = x$ (i.e. $\bar{t} = \frac{1}{2}\log\frac{T}{u(x)}$). Then every geodesic γ going from a point $y \in B_{\rho}(\mathsf{Pr}(x)) \cup B_{\rho}(x)$ to a point $x' \in F_t(B_{\rho}(\mathsf{Pr}(x)))$, with $t \in [0,\bar{t}]$ (or $[\bar{t},0]$), γ is contained in A_{t_0,T_0} .

This in turn will follow from the next simpler result, which roughly says that if two points are sufficiently close, then all the geodesics connecting one of them to the flow line of the other, are contained in A_{t_0,T_0} .

Lemma A.16. For every $\varepsilon > 0$ there exists $\rho = \rho(\varepsilon) > 0$ such that the following holds. For every $x, y \in A_{t_0+\varepsilon,T_0-\varepsilon}$ such that $d(x,y) < \rho$ and every geodesic γ going from y to a point of the type $z = F_t(x) \in A_{t_0+\varepsilon,T_0-\varepsilon}$, γ is contained in A_{t_0,T_0} .

Proof. We first notice that arguing as in the proof of (A.9), we have

$$d(x, \{\mathbf{u} = t_0\}) \ge \sqrt{2u(x)} - \sqrt{2t_0}, \quad d(x, \{\mathbf{u} = T_0\}) \ge \sqrt{2T_0} - \sqrt{2u(x)}, \quad \forall x \in A_{t_0, T_0}.$$

Fix $x, y \in A_{t_0+\varepsilon,T_0-\varepsilon}$ with $\mathsf{d}(x,y) < \rho$ and fix some point $z = F_t(x) \in A_{t_0+\varepsilon,T_0-\varepsilon}$. We will only consider the case t > 0, since the other one is analogous. Notice that in this case $\mathsf{d}(x,z) = \sqrt{2u(x)} - \sqrt{2u(z)}$. Moreover, since u is Lipschitz, $|\sqrt{2u(y)} - \sqrt{2u(x)}| \le C\sqrt{\rho}$ for some C depending only on u.

Fix a geodesic γ going from y to z. Suppose by contradiction that γ exits A_{t_0,T_0} . This means that $\gamma_t \in \{\mathbf{u} = t_0\} \cup \{\mathbf{u} = T_0\}$ for some $t \in (0,1)$. Since γ is a geodesic we also have

$$d(z, y) > \max\{d(\gamma_t, z), d(\gamma_t, y)\}.$$

Moreover from (A.14) and the triangle inequality we deduce that $d(z,y) \leq \sqrt{2u(x)} - \sqrt{2u(z)} + \rho$.

We now have two possibilities: either $\gamma_t \in \{\mathbf{u} = t_0\}$ or $\gamma_t \in \{\mathbf{u} = T_0\}$. In the first one, combining the above observations we have

$$\sqrt{2u(x)} - \sqrt{2u(z)} + \rho \ge \mathsf{d}(z,y) \ge \mathsf{d}(\gamma_t,y) \ge \sqrt{2u(y)} - \sqrt{2t_0} \ge \sqrt{2u(x)} - C\sqrt{\rho} - \sqrt{2t_0},$$

which gives

$$\sqrt{2t_0} + \rho + C\sqrt{\rho} \ge \sqrt{2u(z)} \ge \sqrt{2(t_0 + \varepsilon)},$$

that is clearly a contradiction provided ρ is chosen small enough. In the case that $\gamma_t \in \{\mathbf{u} = T_0\}$ we analogously have

$$\sqrt{2(T-\varepsilon)} - \sqrt{2u(z)} + \rho \geq \sqrt{2u(x)} - \sqrt{2u(z)} + \rho \geq \mathsf{d}(z,y) \geq \mathsf{d}(\gamma_t,z) \geq \sqrt{2T_0} - \sqrt{2u(z)},$$

which is again a contradiction if ρ is small enough.

We can now prove Proposition A.15, which as observed above, proves also (A.21).

Proof of Proposition A.15. Since $F_{\bar{t}}$ is locally Lipschitz in A_{t_0,T_0} (recall Proposition A.11), there exists $\delta = \delta(\varepsilon) > 0$ such that

$$F_{\bar{t}}(B_{\delta}(\Pr(x)) \subset A_{t_0+\varepsilon/2,T_0-\varepsilon/2}$$

Moreover, since u is monotone along flow lines, we also have $F_t(B_\delta(\Pr(x)) \subset A_{t_0+\varepsilon/2,T_0-\varepsilon/2}$ for every $t \in [0,\bar{t}] \cup [\bar{t},0]$. Let now $\rho = \rho(\varepsilon/2)$ be the one given by Lemma A.16 corresponding to $\varepsilon/2$ and note that we can assume that $\rho < \delta$. Then the conclusion for $y \in B_\rho(\Pr(x))$ follows immediately from Lemma A.16.

For the cases in which y is close to x we observe that, again by the local Lipschitzianity of $F_{\bar{t}}$, there exists $\bar{\rho}(\varepsilon) \in (0, \rho/2)$ so that $F_{\bar{t}}(B_{\bar{\rho}}(\mathsf{Pr}(x))) \subset B_{\rho/2}(x)$. In particular for every $y \in B_{\bar{\rho}}(x)$ and $x' \in F_{\bar{t}}(B_{\bar{\rho}}(\mathsf{Pr}(x)))$ we have $\mathsf{d}(y, x') < \rho/2 + \bar{\rho} < \rho$. Therefore we conclude again by Lemma A.16 that every geodesic from y to $F_t(B_{\bar{\rho}}(\mathsf{Pr}(x)))$, with $t \in [0, \bar{t}] \cup [\bar{t}, 0]$, is contained in A_{t_0, T_0} .

Proof of Proposition A.14. It is sufficient to prove that for every $\varepsilon > 0$ there exists $\rho(\varepsilon) > 0$ such that, for every $x \in A_{t_0+\varepsilon,T_0-\varepsilon}$ and every $y \in B_{\rho}(x) \cup B_{\rho}(\Pr(x))$ it holds

$$\frac{\mathsf{d}(x,y)^2}{2} = u(x) + u(y) + \sqrt{\frac{u(x)}{T}} \left(\frac{\mathsf{d}(\mathsf{Pr}(x),y)^2}{2} - T - u(y) \right). \tag{A.22}$$

Then (A.20) follows applying (A.22) first with $x = x' \in A_{t_0 + \varepsilon, T_0 - \varepsilon}$ and $y = y' \in B_{\rho'}(x)$ (for some $\rho' < \rho(\varepsilon)$ to be chosen) and then with x = y' and $y = \Pr(x')$. The second application of (A.22) is possible because $d(y, \Pr(x)) = d(\Pr(x'), \Pr(y')) \le C_{\varepsilon}d(x', y') \le C_{\varepsilon}\rho' < \rho(\varepsilon)$ (recall that \Pr is locally Lipschitz) if we choose $\rho'(\varepsilon)$ small enough.

Fix $x \in A_{t_0+\varepsilon,T_0-\varepsilon}$ and let $\bar{t} \in \mathbb{R}$ be such that $F_{\bar{t}}(\mathsf{Pr}(x)) = x$. We will assume that $\bar{t} > 0$, since the other case is exactly the same. Let $r, \delta < \rho(\varepsilon)$, where $\rho(\varepsilon)$ is given by (A.21). Then we also fix $y \in B_{\rho}(x) \cup B_{\rho}(\mathsf{Pr}(x))$. Finally we define the measures $\mu^r, \nu^r, \mu_t^r, \eta_s^{t,r}$ as above, for $t \in [0, \bar{t}]$ and $s \in [0, 1]$.

From Theorem 1.29 we have that the curve of measures $[0,1] \ni t \mapsto \mu_t^r$ satisfies the continuity equation with vector field $-\nabla u$. Then combining [GH15, Theorem 3.5] and [GH15, Proposition 3.10] we have that the function $\mathbb{R} \ni t \mapsto W_2^2(\mu_t^r, \nu^r)$ is absolutely continuous and

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \frac{1}{2} W_2^2(\mu_t^r, \nu^r) = -\int \langle \nabla \varphi_t, \nabla u \rangle \,\mathrm{d}\mu_t^r, \quad \text{a.e. } t, \tag{A.23}$$

where φ_t are suitable (Lipschitz) Kantorovich potentials from μ_t^r to ν . Moreover from the second differentiation formula along Wasserstein geodesics ([GT, Thm. 5.13]) we have that, for every t, $[0,1] \ni s \mapsto \int u \, d\eta_s^{t,r}$ is $C^2[0,1]$ and

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}s} \int u \, \mathrm{d}\eta_s^{t,r} = \frac{1}{s} \int \langle \nabla u, \nabla \psi_s \rangle \, \mathrm{d}\eta_s^{t,r}, \quad \forall s \in [0, 1],$$

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}^2}{\mathrm{d}s^2} \int u \, \mathrm{d}\eta_s^{t,r} = \frac{1}{s^2} \int \langle \mathrm{Hess}(u)(\nabla \psi_s, \psi_s) \, \mathrm{d}\eta_s^{t,r}, \quad \forall s \in [0, 1],$$
(A.24)

where ψ_s are any choice of Kantorovich potentials from $\eta_s^{t,r}$ to ν^r . We now fix $t \in [0, \bar{t}]$ such that the formula in (A.23) holds. Since $\eta_1^{t,r} = \mu_t^r$, we can combine it with the first in (A.24) at s = 1 to get

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}s}|_{s=1} \int u \,\mathrm{d}\eta_s^{t,r} = -\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}|_{t=1} \frac{1}{2} W_2^2(\mu_t^r, \nu^r). \tag{A.25}$$

Our goal is now to derive an explicit expression for $\frac{d}{ds}|_{s=1} \int u \, d\eta_s^{t,r}$. To do so we use the second in (A.24) and the fact that Hess(u) = id on $\text{supp}(\eta_s^{t,r})$ (which is ensured by (A.21))

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}^2}{\mathrm{d}s^2} \int u \,\mathrm{d}\eta_s^{t,r} = \frac{1}{s^2} \int \langle \mathrm{Hess}(u)(\nabla \psi_s, \psi_s) \mathrm{d}\eta_s^{t,r} = \frac{1}{s^2} \int |\nabla \psi_s|^2 \,\mathrm{d}\eta_s^{t,r} \quad \forall s \in [0, 1].$$

We now apply the metric version of Brenier theorem ([AGS14a], see also [AR]) to obtain that $\int |\nabla \psi_s|^2 d\eta_s^{t,r} = W_2^2(\eta_s^{t,r}, \nu^r)$ for every $s \in [0, 1]$, which combined with the fact that $\eta_s^{t,r}$ is a W_2 -geodesic from μ_t^r to ν^r gives

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}^2}{\mathrm{d}s^2} \int u \,\mathrm{d}\eta_s^{t,r} = W_2^2(\mu_t^r, \nu^r), \quad \forall s \in [0, 1].$$

Since $s \mapsto \int u \, d\eta_s^{t,r}$ is $C^2[0,1]$, we must have $\int u \, d\eta_s^{t,r} = a + bs + W_2^2(\mu_t^r, \nu^r) \frac{s^2}{2}$ for every $s \in [0,1]$. Substituting $s \in \{0,1\}$ we deduce that

$$\int u d\eta_s^t = \int u d\nu^r + \left(\int u d\mu_t^r - \int u d\nu^r - \frac{W_2(\mu_t^r, \nu^r)^2}{2} \right) s + W_2^2(\mu_t^r, \nu^r) \frac{s^2}{2}, \quad \forall s \in [0, 1],$$

using which we can finally compute

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}s}|_{s=1} \int u \mathrm{d}\eta_s^t = \int u \mathrm{d}\mu_t^r - \int u \mathrm{d}\nu^r + \frac{W_2(\mu_r^t, \nu^r)^2}{2}.$$

Combining this with (A.25) we obtain that, setting $f(t) := W_2(\mu_t^r, \nu_r)^2/2$, $t \in [0, \bar{t}]$, f is absolutely continuous and

$$f'(t) = \int u d\nu_r - \int u d\mu_t^r - f(t)$$
, a.e. $t \in (0, \bar{t})$.

Note that the right hand side is actually a continuous function in t, hence $f \in C^1[0,1]$. Since we know the value of f(0) we can now find f explicitly:

$$\frac{W_2(\mu_t^r, \nu_r)^2}{2} = f(t) = e^{-t} \int_0^t e^s \left(\int u d\nu_r - \int u d\mu_s^r \right) ds + \frac{W_2(\mu_0^r, \nu_r)^2}{2} e^{-t}, \quad \forall t \in [0, \overline{t}].$$

We now let $r \to 0^+$ to obtain

$$\frac{\mathsf{d}(F_t(\mathsf{Pr}(x)), y)^2}{2} = e^{-t} \int_0^t e^s(u(y) - u(F_s(\mathsf{Pr}(x)))) ds + \frac{\mathsf{d}(\mathsf{Pr}(x), y)^2}{2} e^{-t}, \quad \forall \, t \in [0, \bar{t}].$$

Note that to pass the limit inside the integral sign, we can use that $|\int u d\mu_s^r| \leq \int |u| \circ F_s d\mu^r \leq ||u||_{\infty}$ and the dominated convergence theorem. Plugging in $u(F_s(\Pr(x))) = e^{-2s}u(\Pr(x)) = e^{-2s}T$ (see (A.15)) and choosing $t = \bar{t}$, we obtain

$$\begin{split} \frac{\mathsf{d}(x,y)^2}{2} &= \frac{\mathsf{d}(F_{\bar{t}}(\mathsf{Pr}(x)),y)^2}{2} = u(y)e^{-\bar{t}}(e^{\bar{t}}-1) + Te^{-\bar{t}}(e^{-\bar{t}}-1) + \frac{\mathsf{d}(\mathsf{Pr}(x),y)^2}{2}e^{-\bar{t}} = \\ &= u(x) + u(y) + e^{-\bar{t}}\left(\frac{\mathsf{d}(\mathsf{Pr}(x),y)^2}{2} - T - u(y)\right), \end{split}$$

that is precisely (A.22), since $\bar{t} = \frac{1}{2} \log \frac{T}{u(x)}$.

A.6 Intrinsic metric on the level set

Definition A.17. We put $X' := S_T$. For $x', y' \in S_T$ we define d'(x', y') as

$$\mathsf{d}'(x',y')^2 \coloneqq \inf \int_0^1 |\dot{\gamma}_t|^2 \mathrm{d}t,$$

where the infimum is taken among all Lipschitz path $\gamma:[0,1]\to X'\subset X$ joining x' and y' and the metric speed is computed w.r.t. the distance d.

Lemma A.18.

$$d(x,y) \le d'(x,y) \le cd(x,y), \quad \text{for every } x,y \in X', \tag{A.26}$$

where c > 0 is the constant given in Proposition A.13

Proof. The first in (A.26) is immediate from the definition of d', while the second follows directly from Proposition A.13.

Corollary A.19. The topology induced by d' on X' is the same as the one induced by the inclusion $X' \subset X$.

We now define the measure \mathfrak{m}' on X' as

$$\mathfrak{m}' \coloneqq \mathfrak{m}_T,$$

where \mathfrak{m}_T is given in Proposition A.7. Observe that, thanks to Corollary A.19, \mathfrak{m}' is a Borel probability measure on X'.

A straightforward computation, exploiting (A.13), gives also that

$$\Pr_* \mathfrak{m}|_{A_{a,b}} = c_{a,b} \, \mathfrak{m}',$$

for every $a, b \in \mathbb{R}$ such that $t_0 \le a < b \le T_0$, where $c_{a,b} = c \int_a^b r^{N/2-1} dr$, with c as in Proposition A.7.

The only step that remains to conclude is to link d' to the formula for the distance with separation of variables given by (A.20). To do so we define a new "distance" on S_T by:

$$\mathsf{D}(x,y) \coloneqq \arccos\left(1 - \frac{\mathsf{d}(x,y)^2}{4T}\right), \quad \forall \, x,y \in S_T \text{ such that } \mathsf{d}(x,y)^2 < 4T,$$

where we take the range of $\operatorname{arccos}(.)$ to be in $(-\pi/2, \pi/2)$. We point out that D might not be a distance on the whole S_T , however we will show that it is so at least locally. Note also that $c^{-1}d(x,y) \leq D(x,y) \leq cd(x,y)$ for some constant c = c(T) > 1.

Our main goal is to prove the following.

Proposition A.20 (D locally coincides with d'). For every $p \in S_T$ there exists r > 0 such that

$$\frac{\mathsf{d}'(x,y)}{\sqrt{2T}} = \mathsf{D}(x,y), \quad \forall x,y \in B_r(p) \cap S_T.$$

To prove the above proposition we need first to show that D is locally an intrinsic distance.

Proposition A.21 (D is a locally geodesic distance). For every $p \in S_T$ there exists $\delta > 0$ such that

- i) D(.,.) is a distance when restricted to $B_{\delta}(p) \cap S_T$,
- ii) there exists a constant $\lambda = \lambda(T) < 1$ such that for every $x, y \in B_{\lambda\delta}(p) \cap S_T$ there exists a Lipschitz curve $\gamma : [0,1] \to \subset B_{\delta}(p) \cap S_T$ that is a geodesic for D, i.e. such that $\gamma_0 = x, \gamma_1 = y$ and $D(\gamma_t, \gamma_s) = |t-s|D(\gamma_0, \gamma_1)$ for every $t, s \in [0,1]$.

Proof. We preliminarily note that for every $a, b \in [0, \pi/2]$ there exists $\lambda \in [0, 1]$ such that

$$\sqrt{\lambda^2 + 1 - 2\lambda\cos(a)} + \sqrt{\lambda^2 + 1 - 2\lambda\cos(b)} = \sqrt{2 - 2\cos(a + b)}.$$
 (A.27)

An immediate geometric proof of this fact is the following: take three points P, Q, S on the unit circle of center O so that the length of the arcs PQ,QS and PS is respectively a,b and a+b, denote by M the intersection between the segments PS and QO, then λ is precisely the distance from M to the center O. Alternatively (A.27) follows also by continuity and the subadditivity of $\sqrt{2-2\cos(.)}$ in $[0,\pi]$.

Fix now $\varepsilon > 0$ small so that $T \in (t_0 + \varepsilon, T_0 - \varepsilon)$ and fix $p \in S_T$. Let also $\rho = \rho(\varepsilon) > 0$ be the one given by Proposition A.14. By continuity of u and F_t (recall (A.14) and (A.15)) there exist $\delta = \delta(\varepsilon, p) > 0$, $\bar{t} = \bar{t}(\varepsilon, p) > 0$ both small and such that $F_t(B_\delta(p)) \subset B_{\rho/2}(p)$ for all $t \in [0, \bar{t}]$. In particular

for every
$$x, y \in F_t(B_\delta)$$
 and every $t \in [0, \bar{t}]$, (A.20) holds. (A.28)

Proof of i): We only need to prove that the triangular inequality holds. We argue by contradiction assuming that there exist $x, y, z \in B_{\delta}(p) \cap S_T$ such that

$$\mathsf{D}(x,z) > \mathsf{D}(x,y) + \mathsf{D}(y,z).$$

We also let λ be the one given by (A.27) and corresponding to $a = \mathsf{D}(x,y), b = \mathsf{D}(y,z)$. Finally let $t \geq 0$ be such that $e^{-2t}T = \lambda^2 T$. Note that $\lambda \to 1$ as $a + b \to 0$, hence up to decreasing δ we can assume that $t < \bar{t}$. In particular thanks to (A.28) we can apply (A.20) to $x, F_t(y)$ and to $F_t(y), z$, that coupled with (A.27) gives

$$d(x, F_t(y)) + d(F_t(y), z) = \sqrt{4T - 4T\cos(D(x, y) + D(y, z))} < \sqrt{4T - 4T\cos(D(x, z))},$$

where we have used the strict monotonicity of $\sqrt{1-\cos(.)}$. However using again (A.20) and the definition of D we see that $\sqrt{4T-4T\cos(D(x,z))}=d(x,z)$, which is clearly a contradiction. This concludes the proof of i).

Proof of ii): It is sufficient to show that for every couple of points in $B_{\delta/2}(p)$ there exists a D-midpoint, then the conclusion follows from standard arguments (see e.g. [BBI, Thm. 2.4.16]) and the fact that S_T is closed (with respect to d) and that D is comparable to d.

Let $x, y \in S_T \cap B_{\delta}(p)$. Take z such that $d(z, x) = d(z, y) = \frac{1}{2}d(x, z)$, which exists because (X, d) is geodesic. We claim that Pr(z) is a D-midpoint for x and y. Observe that from (A.28), (A.20) holds for the couple of points x, y; x, z and z, x. From (A.20) we immediately see that

$$\mathsf{D}(\mathsf{Pr}(z),x) = \mathsf{D}(\mathsf{Pr}(z),y).$$

Hence it is sufficient to show that $\mathsf{D}(\mathsf{Pr}(z),x) \leq \frac{\mathsf{D}(x,y)}{2}$. To this aim set $\tilde{l} := \mathsf{D}(\mathsf{Pr}(z),x)$ and $l := \mathsf{d}(x,z)$ and observe that by (A.20)

$$\cos(\tilde{l}) = \frac{2u(z) + 2T - l^2}{4\sqrt{u(z)T}} = \frac{\frac{u(z)}{T} + 1 - (l/\sqrt{2T})^2}{2\sqrt{\frac{u(z)}{T}}}$$

Moreover, since $\sqrt{2u}$ is 1-Lipschitz in $B_{\delta}(p)$ (provided δ is small enough), we see that $\sqrt{\frac{u(z)}{T}} \in (1 - l/\sqrt{2T}, 1 + l/\sqrt{2T})$ and that $l/\sqrt{2T} < 1$ if δ is small enough. Next we observe that for any $a \in (0, 1)$ the minimum of the function $\frac{t^2+1-a^2}{2t}$ for $t \in (1-a, 1+a)$ is $\sqrt{1-a^2}$, which is achieved at $t = \sqrt{1-a^2}$. Therefore

$$\cos(\tilde{l}) \ge \sqrt{1 - (l/\sqrt{2T})^2}$$

and plugging in the identity $l^2 = d(x, y)^2/4 = T - T\cos(D(x, y))$ (obtained from (A.20)) we reach

$$\cos(\tilde{l}) \geq \sqrt{\frac{T + T\cos(\mathsf{D}(x,y))}{2T}} = \sqrt{\frac{1 + \cos(\mathsf{D}(x,y))}{2}} = \cos\left(\frac{\mathsf{D}(x,y)}{2}\right),$$

which shows that $\tilde{l} \leq \frac{\mathsf{D}(x,y)}{2}$ and concludes the proof of ii).

We are now ready to prove that D and d' coincides inside small balls.

Proof of Proposition A.20. Fix $p \in S_T$ and let $\delta = \delta(p) > 0$, $\lambda = \lambda(T)$ be the ones given by Proposition A.21. We fix r > 0 small and to be chosen and fix $x, y \in B_r(p) \cap S_T$. Since d' is a geodesic distance there exists a constant speed geodesic from x to y (for d') $\{\gamma_t\}_{t\in[0,1]} \subset S_T$. Moreover from (A.26) we have that $\gamma \subset B_{\delta}(p)$, provided r is chosen small enough. Note also that, since D is comparable with d, γ is a Lipschitz curve with respect to D (which is a metric in $B_{\delta}(p) \cap S_T$). Take $t \in (0,1)$ such that $|\dot{\gamma}_t|$ exists, then since $|\dot{\gamma}_t|$ coincides with the metric speed computed using d, we have

$$\mathsf{d}'(x,y) = |\dot{\gamma}_t| = \lim_{h \to 0} \frac{\mathsf{d}(\gamma_{t+h}, \gamma_t)}{h} = \lim_{h \to 0} \frac{\sqrt{4T}}{h} \sqrt{1 - \cos(\mathsf{D}(\gamma_{t+h}, \gamma_t))} = \sqrt{2T} \lim_{h \to 0} \frac{\mathsf{D}(\gamma_{t+h}, \gamma_t)}{h}.$$

In particular the length of the curve γ computed with the metric D is $\sqrt{2T}^{-1} d'(x,y)$ and since the length is always greater or equal than the distance between the two endpoints we just proved that

$$\mathsf{D}(x,y) \le \frac{\mathsf{d}'(x,y)}{\sqrt{2T}}.$$

On the other hand, from ii) in Proposition A.21, if we choose $r < \lambda \delta$, there exists a curve $\gamma : [0,1] \to S_T \cap B_\delta$ that is a geodesic from x to y with respect to D. As above we have that γ is a Lipschitz curve with respect to d' and that, for any $t \in (0,1)$ such that the metric speed $|\dot{\gamma}_t|$ (computed with D) exists, we have

$$|\dot{\gamma}_t| = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2T}} \lim_{h \to 0} \frac{\mathsf{d}(\gamma_{t+h}, \gamma_t)}{h}.$$

In particular the length of the curve γ with respect to the metric d' is $\sqrt{2T}D(x,y)$, which shows that

$$\mathsf{d}'(x,y) \le \sqrt{2T}\mathsf{D}(x,y).$$

A.7 Building the cone and conclusion

Let us define the $(Z, \mathsf{d}_Z, \mathfrak{m}_Z)$ as $\left(X', \frac{\mathsf{d}'}{\sqrt{2T}}, \mathfrak{m}'\right)$. We then define the metric measure space $(Y, \mathsf{d}_Y, \mathfrak{m}_Y)$ as the N-euclidean cone over the metric measure space $(Z, \mathsf{d}_Z, \mathfrak{m}_Z)$.

For every $0 < a < b < \infty$ we set $A_{a,b}^Y = \{ y \in Y : d_Y(y, O_Y) \in (\sqrt{2a}, \sqrt{2b}) \} = \{ (r, z) \in Y : r \in (\sqrt{2a}, \sqrt{2b}) \} \subset Y$.

We then define the map $T: A_{t_0,T_0}^Y \to A_{t_0,T_0}$ as

$$T((r,z)) \coloneqq F_{\frac{1}{2}\log\frac{2T}{r^2}}(z),$$

which is well defined thanks to (A.15), and the map $S: A_{t_0,T_0} \to A_{t_0,T_0}^Y$ defined as

$$S(x) := (\sqrt{2u(x)}, \Pr(x)). \tag{A.29}$$

It is immediate from the definition that $S(A_{a,b}) = A_{a,b}^Y$ and $T(A_{a,b}^Y) = A_{a,b}$ for every $t_0 \le a < b \le T_0$.

Moreover it is clear from the definition of Pr, (A.15) and the fact that $F_{-t} = F_t^{-1}$, that S and T are one the inverse of the other.

The following result follows from the definitions, Proposition A.14, Proposition A.20 and Proposition A.7.

Proposition A.22. The maps $S: A_{t_0,T_0} \to A_{t_0,T_0}^Y$ and $T: A_{t_0,T_0}^Y \to A_{t_0,T_0}$ are measure preserving local isometries.

We can now give the the last details which complete the proof of the main theorem.

Proof of Theorem 5.1. We already know from above that that the maps S and T are measure preserving local isometries from A_{t_0,T_0} to A_{t_0,T_0}^Y and viceversa.

Pick now any $t'_0, T'_0 \in (\mathbf{u}_0, \infty)$ such that $t'_0 < t_0 < T < T_0 < T'_0$, then we can repeat all the arguments in the previous sections with t'_0, T'_0 in place of t_0, T_0 (but using the same T to define X' as in subsection A.4) to obtain a map $S': A_{t'_0, T'_0} \to A_{t'_0, T'_0}^Y$ that is a local isometry, with an inverse T', which is also a local isometry. The key observation is that S' agrees with S in A_{t_0, T_0} . Indeed from (A.29) we deduce that S' on A_{t_0, T_0} depends only on the value of the function u' and the map Pr' on A_{t_0, T_0} . From the construction it is clear that u' agrees with u on A_{t_0, T_0} , since both agree with \mathbf{u} on this set. Therefore we need to show that the two projection maps $Pr, Pr': A_{t_0, T_0} \to S_T$ agree. Suppose they do not, i.e. there exists $x \in A_{t_0, T_0}$ such that $Pr(x) \neq Pr'(x)$. Recall that $Pr(x) = F_{\frac{1}{2}\log\frac{u(x)}{T}}(x)$ and that the curve $\gamma_t^1 = F_t(x)$ for $t \in [0, \frac{1}{2}\log\frac{u(x)}{T}]$ is (up to a reparametrization) a minimizing geodesic joining x to Pr(x) and with values in A_{t_0, T_0} , as shown in Proposition A.4. With the same argument we deduce the existence of a geodesic γ^2 joining x and Pr'(x) with values in A_{t_0, T_0} . Moreover from (A.14) we have that $d(x, Pr(x)) = d(x, Pr'(x)) = \sqrt{2}|\sqrt{T} - \sqrt{u(x)}|$, in particular γ^1, γ^2 are geodesics with same length. Since S is a local isometry we have that the curves $S(\gamma_t^i)$ are both geodesics in Y with the same length. In particular $d_Y(S(x), S(Pr(x))) = d_Y(S(x), S(Pr'(x)))$ which using the expression for S gives

$$\sqrt{2}|\sqrt{T} - \sqrt{u(x)}| = \mathsf{d}_Y((\sqrt{2u(x)}, \Pr(x)), (\sqrt{2T}, \Pr(x))) = \mathsf{d}_Y((\sqrt{2u(x)}, \Pr(x)), (\sqrt{2T}, \Pr'(x))).$$

However, recalling that $\Pr(x) \neq \Pr'(x)$ and from the definition of d_Y we easily deduce that the rightmost term in the above identity is strictly bigger than $\sqrt{2}|\sqrt{T}-\sqrt{u(x)}|$, which is a contradiction.

We can now send $t_0 \to \mathbf{u}_0$ and $T_0 \to +\infty$ and obtain a map $\mathbf{S} : \{\mathbf{u} > \mathbf{u}_0\} \to Y \setminus \overline{B_{\sqrt{2}\mathbf{u}_0}}(O_Y)$ which is a surjective and measure preserving local isometry. Moreover extending analogously the maps $T : A_{t_0,T_0}^Y \to A_{t_0,T_0}$, which are the inverses of the maps S, we obtain a map $\mathbf{T} : Y \setminus \overline{B_{\sqrt{2}\mathbf{u}_0}}(O_Y) \to U$, which is the inverse of \mathbf{S} and a local isometry as well.

Observe now that, since ${\bf S}$ and ${\bf T}$ are a local isometries, they send geodesics to geodesics. This easily implies that

$$\mathsf{d}(x,\partial\{\mathbf{u}>\mathbf{u}_0\})=\mathsf{d}_Y(\mathbf{S}(x),B_{\sqrt{2\mathbf{u}_0}}(O_Y))=\sqrt{2u(x)}-\sqrt{2\mathbf{u}_0},$$

from which (5.1) follows.

We are now in position to apply Proposition 5.3 to obtain that Y is an $\mathrm{RCD}(0,N)$ space, which is the unique tangent cone at infinity to X. Moreover from the fact that Y is an $\mathrm{RCD}(0,N)$ and from (1.18) it follows that $(Z,\mathsf{d}_Z,\mathfrak{m}_Z)$ is an $\mathrm{RCD}(N-2,N-1)$ space satisfying $\mathrm{diam}(Z) \leq \pi$.

Suppose now that $diam(Z) = \pi$, then again from Proposition 5.3 we obtain that X is isomorphic to Y. The fact that X has Euclidean volume growth was already proved in Corollary A.8.

It remains to prove the first part of ii). Let $r = \sqrt{2\mathbf{u}_0}$ and r_Z as in the statement. It is enough to show that for every couple of points $y_1, y_2 \in Y$ such that $d_Y(y_i, O_Y) > r_Z$, i = 1, 2, all the geodesics connecting them are contained in $\{d(., O_Y) > r\}$. Moreover we can clearly restrict ourselves to consider points y_1, y_2 of the form $y_i = (t, z_i)$, with $z_i \in Z$, i = 1, 2 and $t > r_Z$. For such points we have that

$$d_Y(y_1, y_2) = t\sqrt{2 - 2\cos(d(z_1, z_2))} \le t\sqrt{2 - 2\cos(diam(Z))}$$

Let now γ be a geodesic between y_1 and y_2 , then by the triangle inequality

$$d(\gamma_t, O_Y) \ge t - \frac{d_Y(y_1, y_2)}{2} > r_Z \left(1 - \sqrt{\frac{1 - \cos(\operatorname{diam}(Z))}{2}} \right) = r, \quad \forall t \in [0, 1],$$

B Appendix: obstacle problem in RCD

B.1 Relative capacitary potential for sets with Cap-fat boundary

This appendix is devoted to the proof of the existence (and uniqueness) of a relative capacitary potential in RCD space and we will mainly focus on boundary regularity. The results contained here are needed only in the proof of Theorem 7.4.

Let us say that we are not proving anything substantially new, since all the results were essentially already present in [BB]. Let us also mention that the results concerning boundary regularity and Wiener criterion for harmonic functions originally appeared in in [B,B,BMS]. However the results we needed were spread in many different chapters of [BB] and often the language used there (for example for some type of Sobolev spaces) does not coincide with the one we use in this note. For this reason we decided to gather here in a self-contained exposition all the results that we required. Finally let us say that working in the context of RCD will allow to simplify some of the arguments in [BB].

Along all this appendix (X, d, m) is an RCD(K, N) m.m.s., $N < +\infty$. Even if we will only apply the result below for K = 0, we will consider arbitrary K for generality. We only remark that every time a constant will depend on some radius (or diameter of a set), in the case K = 0 this dependence can be dropped. This is a consequence of the fact that RCD(0, N) spaces are uniformly doubling.

Our main goal is to prove the following (see below for the definition of relative Capacity).

Theorem B.1. Let $E \subset X$ be an open set and B be a ball such that $E \subset C$. Suppose also that E has Cap-fat boundary. Then there exists $u \in W_0^{1,2}(B) \cap C(B)$, superharmonic in B and harmonic in $B \setminus \overline{E}$ with $0 \le u \le 1$, u = 1 in \overline{E} and

$$\mathsf{Cap}(E,B) = \int_{B} |\nabla u|^2 \,\mathrm{d}\mathfrak{m}.$$

Moreover we have the following continuity estimate: for every $x \in \partial E$ it holds

$$1 - u(y) \le C_x \mathsf{d}(y, x)^{\alpha_x}, \quad \forall y \in B_{r_x/2}(x) \cap B,$$

for some positive constants $C_x = C_x(r_x, c_x, K, N, \delta)$ $\alpha_x = \alpha(r_x, c_x, K, N, \delta) > 0$, where r_x, c_x are the Cap-fatness parameters of x and $\delta > 0$ is such that $d(E, B^c) \geq \delta$.

Finally u satisfies the following comparison principle: for every $v \in W^{1,2}(B)$ superharmonic and such that $v \ge \chi_E$ m-a.e. in B, it holds that

$$u \leq v$$
, \mathfrak{m} -a.e. in B .

Definition B.2 (Variational 2-Capacity). Let $E \subset X$ and Ω open containing E. We define

$$\mathsf{Cap}(E,\Omega) = \inf \left\{ \int_{\Omega} |\nabla u|^2 \, \mathrm{d}\mathfrak{m} \ : \ u \in W_0^{1,2}(\Omega) \text{ and } u \geq 1 \text{ \mathfrak{m}-a.e. in a neighbourhood of } E \right\}$$

Definition B.3 (Cap-fat boundary points). We say that an open set E is Cap-fat at a point $x \in \partial E$ if there exists r, c > 0 such that

$$\frac{\operatorname{Cap}(B_s(x)\cap E,B_{2s}(x))}{\operatorname{Cap}(B_s(x),B_{2s}(x))}\geq c\,,\quad\forall\,s\in(0,r).$$

Moreover we say that E has (uniformly) Cap-fat boundary if it is Cap-fat at every point $x \in \partial E$ (with global parameters c, r > 0).

A geometric condition that is enough to ensure Cap-fatness of the boundary is the following interior corkscrew condition. This follows essentially from the doubling property of the measure and the Poincaré inequality (see for example [BB, Prop. 6.16]).

Definition B.4 (Corkscrew-condition). Let $\lambda \in (0,1)$ and r > 0. We say that E satisfies the (interior) (λ, r) -corkscrew condition at $x \in \partial E$ if for every $s \in (0, r)$ there exists an ball of radius λs contained in $B_s(x) \cap E$.

It is easily verified that any ball of radius $> \delta$ satisfies the (interior) $(1/4, \delta)$ -corkscrew condition. Moreover arbitrary unions of sets satisfying the (interior) (λ, r) -corkscrew condition still satisfies the (interior) (λ, r) -corkscrew condition. In particular union of balls with radius uniformly bounded below satisfies the interior corkscrew condition. It follows that any ε -enlargements of a set, i.e. a set of the form $S^{\varepsilon} = \{x : d(x, S) < \varepsilon\}$, with $\varepsilon > 0$ and S an arbitrary set, satisfies the interior corkscrew condition.

B.2 Preliminaries

We will need the following variational characterization of sub(super)harmonic functions (see [GR19, Theorem 2.5] and also [GM], [G15]).

Proposition B.5. Let $\Omega \subset X$ be open. A function $u \in W^{1,2}(\Omega)$ is superharmonic (resp. subharmonic) in Ω if and only if

$$\int_{\Omega} |\nabla u|^2 d\mathfrak{m} \leq \int_{\Omega} |\nabla (u + \varphi)|^2 d\mathfrak{m},$$

for every $\varphi \in \mathsf{LIP_c}(\Omega)$ with $\varphi \geq 0$ (resp. $\varphi \leq 0$) or equivalently for every $\varphi \in W_0^{1,2}(\Omega)$ with $\varphi \geq 0$ (resp. $\varphi \leq 0$) \mathfrak{m} -a.e..

Since, as shown in [R], RCD(K, N) spaces support a (1,1) Poincarè inequality and they are also (uniformly) locally doubling, a class of Sobolev embeddings can be shown to hold (see for example [HK] and also [BB, Chap. 4-5]). Therefore a Moser iteration can be performed to obtain the following Harnack inequalities (see for example [HKX] for the case K = 0).

Proposition B.6. For every $R_0 > 0$ there exists two positive constants $C_i = C_i(R_0, K^-, N)$, i = 1, 2, such that the following hold for any $R < R_0$

1. if u is subharmonic function in a ball $B_{2R}(x)$, then

$$\operatorname{ess\,sup}_{B_R(x)} u \le C_2 \int_{B_{2R}(x)} |u| \mathrm{d}\mathfrak{m},$$

2. if u is a nonnegative superharmonic function in a ball $B_{2R}(x)$, then

$$\operatorname{ess inf}_{B_R(x)} u \ge C_1 \oint_{B_{2R}(x)} u \, \mathrm{d}\mathfrak{m}.$$

The above Harnack inequalities imply that harmonic functions have a locally Hölder continuous representative (which is actually locally Lipschitz by [J]) and that superharmonic functions have a lower semicontinuous representative (see for example [BB, Theorem 8.22]). From now on we will always tacitly consider these special representatives.

Lastly, we will need the following technical lemma, whose simple proof is omitted.

Lemma B.7. Let
$$u \in W_0^{1,2}(\Omega)$$
, then $u^+ \in W_0^{1,2}(\Omega)$.
 Let $v \in W^{1,2}(\Omega)$, $u \in W_0^{1,2}(\Omega)$ be such that $0 \le v \le u$, then $v \in W_0^{1,2}(\Omega)$

B.3 The obstacle problem

Given a ball $B \subset X$ and a (Borel) set $E \subset\subset B$ we consider the following minimization problem

$$Obs(E, B) := \inf_{u \in \mathcal{F}_{E, B}} \int_{B} |\nabla u|^{2} d\mathfrak{m}, \tag{O}$$

where $\mathcal{F}_{E,B} = \{ u \in W_0^{1,2}(B) : u \ge \chi_E \text{ m-a.e. in } B \}.$

It is clear that if E is open, then

$$Obs(E, B) = \mathsf{Cap}(E, B).$$

The proof of the following result is a straightforward application of the direct method of the calculus of variations, recalling that the embedding $W_0^{1,2}(B) \hookrightarrow L^2(X)$ is compact (see for example [GMS, Theorem 6.3]) and from the lower semi continuity and (strict) convexity of the Cheeger energy.

Proposition B.8. There exists a unique minimizer to (O). Moreover this minimizer is superharmonic in E.

We now show the two main properties of the minimizers of (O): the first is that u is harmonic far from the obstacle E and the second says that u is essentially the smallest superharmonic function which stays above χ_E .

Proposition B.9. Let u be the minimum of (O) for some $E \subset\subset B$. Then u=1 m-a.e. in E and the following hold:

- 1. u is harmonic in $B \setminus \bar{E}$,
- 2. comparison principle: for every $v \in W^{1,2}(B)$ superharmonic and such that $v \ge \chi_E$, \mathfrak{m} -a.e., it holds that

$$u < v$$
, \mathfrak{m} -a.e. in B.

Proof. We start by showing that $u \leq 1$ m-a.e. in B. Indeed $u \wedge 1 \in \mathcal{F}_{E,B}$ and $\int_B |\nabla(u \wedge 1)|^2 \leq \int_B |\nabla u|^2 d\mathfrak{m}$, from which the claim follows. Since $u \geq \chi_E$, m-a.e. it also follows that u = 1 m-a.e. in E.

We pass to the harmonicity. Fix $\varphi \in \mathsf{LIP}_c(B \setminus \bar{U})$. Clearly $(u + \varphi)^+ \in \mathcal{F}_{E,B}$, therefore

$$\int_{B\setminus \bar{E}} |\nabla(u+\varphi)|^2 d\mathfrak{m} \ge \int_{B\setminus \bar{E}} |\nabla(u+\varphi)^+|^2 d\mathfrak{m}$$

$$= \int_B |\nabla(u+\varphi)^+|^2 d\mathfrak{m} - \int_{\bar{E}} |\nabla u|^2 d\mathfrak{m} \ge \int_{B\setminus \bar{E}} |\nabla u|^2 d\mathfrak{m},$$

where in the equality step we have used that $\varphi = 0$ in \bar{E} and the locality of the gradient. This and Proposition B.5 prove the claimed harmonicity.

It remains to prove the comparison principle. We start claiming that $(u-v)^+ \in W_0^{1,2}(B)$ and $\min(u,v) \in \mathcal{F}_{E,B}$. Indeed we have that $0 \leq (u-v)^+ \leq u$, \mathfrak{m} -a.e. in B and $\chi_E \leq \min(u,v) \leq u$ \mathfrak{m} -a.e. in B, therefore the claim follows applying Lemma B.7.

Observe that $\max(u, v) = v + (u - v)^+$, hence from the superharmonicity of v, Proposition B.8, and the locality of the gradient we have

$$\int_{\{u>v\}} |\nabla u|^2 \, \mathrm{d}\mathfrak{m} \ge \int_{\{u>v\}} |\nabla v|^2 \, \mathrm{d}\mathfrak{m}.$$

Therefore from the locality of the gradient it follows that

$$\int_{B} |\nabla \min(u, v)|^2 d\mathfrak{m} \le \int_{B} |\nabla u|^2 d\mathfrak{m},$$

that combined with $\min(u, v) \in \mathcal{F}_{E,B}$ and the uniqueness of the solution to (O) implies that $\min(u, v) = u$ m-a.e. in B.

We conclude this part with the following technical result.

Lemma B.10. Let u be the minimum of (O) for some $E \subset\subset B$. Then for every $m \in (0,1]$, the function $\frac{u}{m} \wedge 1$ is the minimum of (O) in B with $E = \{u > m\}$.

Proof. Set $u_m = \frac{u}{m} \wedge 1$ and fix $v \in \mathcal{F}_{\{u>m\},B}$. Observe that $u_m \geq \chi_{\{u>m\}}$ and that $u_m \in W_0^{1,2}(B)$ by Lemma B.7, hence $u_m \in \mathcal{F}_{\{u>m\},B}$. Define the function $\bar{u} := u + m(v - u_m)$ and observe that $\bar{u} \in W_0^{1,2}(E)$. Moreover $\bar{u} \geq u \geq 0$ m-a.e. in B and, since from Proposition B.9 u = 1 m-a.e. in E, we also have that $\bar{u} = 1$ m-a.e. in E. Therefore $\bar{u} \in \mathcal{F}_{E,B}$. This and the fact that $\bar{u} = mv$ m-a.e. in $\{u \leq m\}$ and $\bar{u} = u$ m-a.e. in $\{u > m\}$ gives

$$\int_{B} |\nabla v|^2 \, \mathrm{d}\mathfrak{m} \ge \int_{\{u \le m\}} |\nabla v|^2 \, \mathrm{d}\mathfrak{m} \ge \frac{1}{m^2} \int_{\{u \le m\}} |\nabla u|^2 \, \mathrm{d}\mathfrak{m} = \int_{B} |\nabla u_m|^2 \, \mathrm{d}\mathfrak{m}.$$

Since $v \in \mathcal{F}_{\{u>m\},B}$ was arbitrary we conclude.

B.4 Proof of Theorem B.1

Proposition B.11. For every $r_0 < 4diam(X)$ there exists $C = C(r_0, K, N) > 0$ such that the following holds. Let $E \subset B_r(x)$ be open, $r < r_0$ let $2B = B_{2r}(x)$ and let u be the solution to (O) for E in 2B. Then

$$u \ge C \frac{\mathsf{Cap}(E, 2B)}{\mathsf{Cap}(B, 2B)}, \quad \mathfrak{m}\text{-}a.e. \ in \ B_r(x).$$

Proof. Set $B' = B_{\frac{3}{2}r}(x)$ and observe that, since $r_0 < 4 \text{diam}(X)$, $\partial B' \neq \emptyset$. Define $m := \max_{\partial B'} u$, which exists because u is continuous in $\partial B'$. We claim that m > 0. Indeed if m = 0, from the maximum principle (Proposition 1.15) we would have that u = 0 in the ball 2B (recall that balls are connected), and thus u = 0 in E, which contradicts the fact that u = 1 m-a.e. in E with E open. We claim that

$$u \le m$$
, in $2B \setminus B'$. (B.1)

To see this let m'>m and observe that $(u-m')^+\leq u^+$ hence by Lemma B.7 $(u-m')^+\in W_0^{1,2}(2B)$. Moreover, from the continuity of u and the definition of m we have that $(u-m')^+=0$ in a neighbourhood of $\partial B'$. These two observations together imply that $(u-m')^+\in W_0^{1,2}(2B\setminus \bar{B}')$. Observe that $\min(u,m')=u-(u-m')^+$ hence from harmonicity of u we deduce that

$$\int_{2B\setminus \bar{B}'} |\nabla u|^2 d \mathfrak{m} \le \int_{2B\setminus \bar{B}'} |\nabla \min(u, m')|^2 d\mathfrak{m},$$

which combined with the locality of the gradient gives that $|\nabla u| = 0$ m-a.e. in $\{2B \setminus \bar{B}'\} \cap \{u \geq m'\}$. Therefore again by locality $|\nabla(\max(u, m'))| = 0$ m-a.e. in $\{2B \setminus \bar{B}'\}$ and thus $u \leq m'$ in $2B \setminus \bar{B}'$. Since m' > m was arbitrary (B.1) follows.

Define the functions $u_1 = \frac{u}{m} \wedge 1$, $u_2 = \frac{u - mu_1}{1 - m}$ and observe that $u_1, u_2 \in \mathcal{F}_{E,2B}$. In particular for every $t \in (0,1)$ $tu_1 + (1-t)u_2 \in \mathcal{F}_{E,2B}$ and

$$\int_{2B} |\nabla u|^2 \, \mathrm{d}\mathfrak{m} \le t^2 I_1 \, \mathrm{d}\mathfrak{m} + (1-t)^2 I_2,$$

where $I_i = \int_{2B} |\nabla u_i|^2 d\mathbf{m}$. Optimizing in t we obtain that

$$\frac{1}{\int_{2B} |\nabla u|^2 \, \mathrm{d}\mathfrak{m}} \ge \frac{1}{I_1} + \frac{1}{I_2}.$$
 (B.2)

Observe now that $u_2=0$ in $\{u\leq m\}$ and $u_2=(1-m)^{-1}(u-1)$ in $\{u>m\}$, therefore $|\nabla u_2|=\chi_{\{u>m\}}|\nabla u|(1-m)^{-1}$ m-a.e. in 2B. In particular $I_2\leq (1-m)^{-2}\int_{2B}|\nabla u|^2\,\mathrm{d}\mathfrak{m}$, that combined with (B.2) gives

$$Cap(E, 2B) = \int_{2B} |\nabla u|^2 d\mathfrak{m} \le (2m - m^2)I_1 \le 2mI_1.$$

This combined with Lemma B.10 gives

$$Cap(E, 2B) \le 2m \, Obs(\{u > m\}, 2B) \le 2m \, Obs(B', 2B) = 2m Cap(B', 2B),$$
 (B.3)

where in the second inequality we have used (B.1).

From the definition of m there exists a ball $B'' = B_{r/2}(y)$ with $y \in \partial B'$ such that $\sup_{B''} u \geq m$. Applying twice the Harnack inequality, recalling that u is harmonic in B'' and superharmonic in B, and using the doubling property we obtain that

$$m \le \sup_{B''} u \le C(r_0, K, N) \operatorname{ess inf}_B u.$$

The conclusion then follows from (B.3) and recalling that thanks to the doubling condition and the Poincaré inequality we have $\mathsf{Cap}(B',2B) \leq c\mathsf{Cap}(B,2B)$, for some constant c depending only on r_0, K and N (see [BB, Prop. 6.16])

Theorem B.12. For every $r_0 < 4diam(X)$ there exists $C = C(r_0, K, N) > 0$ such that the following holds. Let $E \subset B_r(x)$ be open, $r < r_0$, and set $B_i := B_{2^{1-i}r}(x)$ for $i \in \mathbb{N} \cup \{0\}$. Let u be the capacitary potential for E in B_0 , then for every $i \geq 1$ it holds that

$$1 - u \le \exp\left(-C\sum_{j=1}^{i} \frac{\mathsf{Cap}(E \cap B_j, B_{j-1})}{\mathsf{Cap}(B_j, B_{j-1})}\right), \quad \mathfrak{m}\text{-}a.e. \ in \ B_i.$$

Proof. Let u_i be the solution to (O) for $E \cap B_i$ in B_{i+1} (in particular $u = u_1$) and define $a_i := \frac{\mathsf{Cap}(E \cap B_i, B_{i-1})}{\mathsf{Cap}(B_i, B_{i-1})}$ for $i \in \mathbb{N}$. Proposition B.11 ensures that

$$\operatorname{ess\,inf}_{B_i} u_i \ge C a_i \ge 1 - e^{-C a_i}. \tag{B.4}$$

Define the functions $v_i \in W_0^{1,2}(B_0)$ inductively as $v_1 = u_1$ and $v_i = 1 - e^{Ca_{i-1}}(1 - v_{i-1})$, for $i \ge 2$. Observe that, since u_1 is superharmonic in B_0 , v_i is superharmonic in B_0 for all $i \ge 1$. We claim that

$$v_i > 0$$
, m-a.e. in B_{i-1} . (B.5)

We will actually show the stronger estimate $v_i \ge u_i$ m-a.e. in B_{i-1} . We proceed by induction. By definition $v_1 = u_1$, now suppose that $v_i \ge u_i$ in B_{i-1} . It follows from (B.4) that $v_{i+1} \ge 1 - e^{Ca_i}(1 - u_i) \ge 0$ m-a.e.

in B_i . Moreover, since $u_1 = 1$ in $E \cap B_1$, evidently $v_{i+1} = 1$ m-a.e. in $E \cap B_{i+1}$. Combining these two observations we obtain that $v_{i+1} \ge \chi_{E \cap B_{i+1}}$ m-a.e. in B_i . Recalling that v_i is superharmonic in B (and thus also on B_i) we can apply the comparison principle of Proposition B.9 to deduce that $v_{i+1} \ge u_{i+1}$ m-a.e. in B_i . This proves the claim. Therefore from (B.5)

$$1 - u = 1 - v_1 = e^{-C(a_1 + \dots + a_{i-1})} (1 - v_i) \le e^{-C(a_1 + \dots + a_{i-1})},$$
 m-a.e. in B_{i-1} ,

that concludes the proof.

Proof of Theorem B.1. Fix $x \in \partial E$ and let c, r be its Cap-fat parameters. Let $B' := B_{r_0}(x)$ with $r_0 := (\delta \wedge r)/4$ and let u to be the solution to (O) for E in 2B'. Fix $y \in B' \setminus \bar{E}$ with d(y,x) < r/2. There exists $i \in \mathbb{N}_0$ such that $2^{-i-1}r_0 < d(x,y) < 2^{-i}r_0 < r$. Therefore from Theorem B.12 and the continuity of u in $B' \setminus \bar{E}$ we have

$$1 - u(y) \le (e^{-i})^{c \cdot C} \le (2^{-i})^{c \cdot C} \le (2r_0^{-1})^{c \cdot C} \mathsf{d}(x, y)^{c \cdot C} = (8\delta \wedge r)^{-c \cdot C} \mathsf{d}(x, y)^{c \cdot C}. \tag{B.6}$$

Let now \bar{u} to be the solution of (O) for E in B (where B is as in the hypotheses). Fix $x \in \partial E$ and let u as in the previous part of the proof. Since $B_{2r_0}(x) \subset B$, from the comparison principle of Proposition B.9 we have that $\bar{u} \geq u$ m-a.e. in $B_{r_0}(x)$ and since both \bar{u} and u are continuous in $B_{r_0}(x) \setminus \bar{E}$ we have that (B.6) holds for \bar{u} and every $y \in B \setminus \bar{E}$ with d(y,x) < r/2. This proves that $\lim_{B_{r_0}(x) \setminus \bar{E} \ni y \to x} \bar{u}(y) = 1$ for every $x \in \partial E$ (recall that $\bar{u} \leq 1$) and since \bar{u} is also lower semicontinuous we deduce that $\bar{u} = 1$ in \bar{E} .

The comparison principle is already contained in Proposition B.9. \Box

References

- [Al] F. Almgren Jr., Q-valued functions minimizing Dirichlet's integral and the regularity of area minimizing rectifiable currents up to codimension two, preprint, manuscript.
- [A] L. Ambrosio, Transport equation and Cauchy problem for BV vector fields, Inventiones Mathematicae 158 (2004), 227–26.
- [ABS] L. Ambrosio, E. Bruè, D. Semola, Rigidity of the 1-Bakry-Émery inequality and sets of finite perimeter in RCD spaces, Geom. Funct. Anal. 29 (2019), no. 4, 949–1001.
- [AnBS] G. Antonelli, E. Bruè, D. Semola, Volume bounds for the quantitative singular strata of non collapsed RCD metric measure spaces, Anal. Geom. Metr. Spaces 7 (2019), no. 1, 158–178.
- [AD] L. Ambrosio, S. Di Marino, Equivalent definitions of BV space and of total variation on metric measure spaces, J. Funct. Anal., 266 (2014), no. 7, 4150-4188.
- [AFM] V. AGOSTINIANI, M. FOGAGNOLO, L. MAZZIERI, Sharp geometric inequalities for closed hypersurfaces in manifolds with nonnegative Ricci curvature, Invent. Math. 222 (2020), no. 3, 1033–1101.
- [AGS13] L. Ambrosio, N. Gigli, G. Savaré, Density of Lipschitz functions and equivalence of weak gradients in metric measure spaces, Revista Matematica Iberoamericana, 29 (2013), no. 3, 969-996.
- [AGS14a] L. Ambrosio, N. Gigli, G. Savaré, Calculus and heat flow in metric measure spaces and applications to spaces with Ricci bounds from below, Invent. Math. 195 (2014), no. 2, 289–391.
- [AGS14b] L. Ambrosio, N. Gigli, G. Savaré, Metric measure spaces with Riemannian Ricci curvature bounded from below, Duke Math. J., 163 (2014), no.7, 1405-1490.

- [AH17] L. Ambrosio, S. Honda, New stability results for sequences of metric measure spaces with uniform Ricci bounds from below, Measure theory in non-smooth spaces, 1–51, Partial Differ. Equ. Meas. Theory, De Gruyter Open, Warsaw, (2017).
- [AH18] L. Ambrosio, S. Honda, Local spectral convergence in $RCD^*(K, N)$ spaces, Nonlinear Anal. 177 (2018), part A, 1–23.
- [AHT] L. Ambrosio, S. Honda, D. Tewodrose, Short-time behavior of the heat kernel and Weyl's law on $RCD^*(K, N)$ spaces, Ann. Global Anal. Geom. **53** (2018), no .1, 97-119.
- [AM] V. AGOSTINIANI, L. MAZZIERI, Monotonicity formulas in potential theory, Calc. Var. Partial Differential Equations 59 (2020), no. 1, Paper No. 6.
- [AMS] L. Ambrosio, A. Mondino, G. Savaré, On the Bakry-Émery condition, the gradient estimates and the local-to-global property of RCD*(K, N) metric measure spaces., J. Geom. Anal. 26 (2016), no. 1, 24–56.
- [AR] L. Ambrosio, T. Rajala, Slopes of Kantorovich potentials and existence of optimal transport maps in metric measure spaces, Ann. Mat. Pura Appl. (2011), 1-17.
- [AT] L. Ambrosio, D. Trevisan, Well-posedness of Lagrangian flows and continuity equations in metric measure spaces, Anal. PDE 7, (2014), no. 5, 1179–1234.
- [B] J. BJORN, Wiener criterion for Cheeger p-harmonic functions on metric spaces, Adv. Stud. Pure Math. 44 (2006), Tokyo: Math. Soc. Japan, Tokyo, 103-115.
- [B] J. BJORN, Fine continuity on metric spaces, Manuscripta Math., 125 (2008), 369-381.
- [BB] A. BJORN, J. BJORN, Nonlinear potential theory on metric spaces, EMS Tracts in Mathematics, 17, European Mathematical Society (EMS), Zürich, (2011).
- [BBI] D. Burago, Y Burago, S. Ivanov, A course in metric geometry, Graduate Studies in Mathematics 33, American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 2001.
- [BMS] J. BJÖRN, P. MACMANUS, N. SHANMUGALINGAM, Fat sets and pointwise boundary estimates for p-harmonic functions in metric spaces, Journal d'Analyse Mathematique, 85 (2001), 339-369.
- [BPS19] E. BRUÈ, E. PASQUALETTO, D. SEMOLA, Rectifiability of the reduced boundary for sets of finite perimeter over RCD(K, N) spaces, preprint, arXiv:1909.00381.
- [BPS21] E. BRUÈ, E. PASQUALETTO, D. SEMOLA, Rectifiability of RCD(K, N) spaces via δ -splitting maps, Annales Fennici Mathematici **46** (2021), no. 1, 465-482.
- [BNS] E. Bruè, A. Naber, D. Semola, Boundary regularity and stability for spaces with Ricci bounded below, Invent. Math., to appear.
- [BS20] E. Bruè, D. Semola, Constancy of the dimension for RCD(K, N) spaces via regularity of Lagrangian flows, Comm. Pure Appl. Math. **73** (2020), no. 6, 1141–1204.
- [CaMo] F. CAVALLETTI, A. MONDINO, New formulas for the Laplacian of distance functions and applications, Analysis & PDE, 13 (2020), 2091–2147.
- [Ch99] J. Cheeger, Differentiability of Lipschitz Functions on Metric Measure Spaces, Geometric & Functional Analysis GAFA 9 (1999), 428–517.

- [Ch12] J. Cheeger, Quantitative differentiation: a general formulation, Comm. Pure Appl. Math. 65 (2012), no. 12, 1641–1670.
- [ChC96] J. Cheeger, T. Colding, Lower bounds on Ricci curvature and the almost rigidity of warped products, Ann. of Math. (2) **144** (1996), no. 1, 189–237.
- [ChC97] J. Cheeger, T. Colding, On the structure of spaces with Ricci curvature bounded below. I, J. Differential Geom. 46, no. 3 (1997), 406-480.
- [ChN13] J. Cheeger, A. Naber, Lower bounds on Ricci curvature and quantitative behavior of singular sets, Invent. Math. **191** (2013), no. 2, 321–339.
- [ChN15] J. Cheeger, A. Naber, Regularity of Einstein manifolds and the codimension 4 conjecture, Ann. of Math. (2) **182** (2015), no. 3, 1093–1165.
- [Che] L. Chen, Almost volume cone implies almost metric cone for annuluses centered at a compact set in RCD(K, N)-spaces, preprint, arXiv:2112.09353.
- [ChY] S. Y. Cheng, S.T. Yau, Differential equations on Riemannian manifolds and their geometric applications, Comm. Pure Appl. Math. 28 (1975), no. 3, 333-354.
- [C] T. COLDING, New monotonicity formulas for Ricci curvature and applications. I, Acta Math. 209 (2012), no. 2, 229–263.
- [CM13] T. COLDING, W. P. MINICOZZI, Monotonicity and its analytic and geometric implications, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 110 (2013), no. 48, 19233–19236.
- [CM14a] T. COLDING, W. P. MINICOZZI, *Ricci curvature and monotonicity for harmonic functions*, Calc. Var. Partial Differential Equations **49** (2014), no. 3-4, 1045–1059.
- [CM14b] T. COLDING, W. P. MINICOZZI, On uniqueness of tangent cones for Einstein manifolds, Invent. Math. 196 (2014), no. 3, 515–588.
- [CN] T. COLDING, A. NABER, Characterization of Tangent Cones of Noncollapsed Limits with Lower Ricci Bounds and Applications, Geometric and Functional Analysis 23, pages134–148 (2013).
- [DG16] G. De Philippis, N. Gigli, From volume cone to metric cone in the nonsmooth setting, Geom. Funct. Anal. 26, (2016), no. 6, 1526–1587.
- [DG18] G. DE Philippis, N. Gigli, Non-collapsed spaces with Ricci curvature bounded from below, J. Éc. polytech. Math. 5 (2018), 613–650.
- [DGP] C. Debin, N. Gigli, E. Pasqualetto, Quasi-continuous vector fields on RCD spaces, Potential Anal. 54 (2021), no. 1, 183–211.
- [DL] R. J. DI PERNA, P. L. LIONS, Ordinary differential equations, transport theory and Sobolev spaces, Invent. Math. 98 (1989), 511–547.
- [EKS] M. Erbar, K. Kuwada, K.-T. Sturm, On the equivalence of the entropic curvature-dimension condition and Bochner's inequality on metric measure spaces, Invent. Math. **201** (2015), no. 3, 993–1071.
- [G13a] N. Gigli, The splitting theorem in non-smooth context, preprint, arXiv:1302.5555, 2013.

- [G13b] N. Gigli, An overview of the proof of the splitting theorem in spaces with non-negative Ricci curvature, Anal. Geom. Metr. Spaces 2 (2014), no. 1, 169–213.
- [G18] N. Gigli, Nonsmooth differential geometry- an approach tailored for spaces with Ricci curvature bounded from below Mem. Amer. Math. Soc. 251, (2018), no. 1196.
- [G15] N. Gigli, On the differential structure of metric measure spaces and applications, Mem. Amer. Math. Soc. 236 (2015), no. 1113
- [GH16] N. Gigli, B. Han, Independence on p of weak upper gradients on RCD spaces, J. Funct. Anal. **271** (2016), no. 1, 1–11.
- [GH15] N. Gigli, B. Han, The continuity equation on metric measure spaces, Calc. Var. Partial Differential Equations 53 (2015), no. 1-2, 149–177.
- [GH18] N. Gigli, B. Han, Sobolev spaces on warped products, J. Funct. Anal. 275 (2018), no. 8, 2059-2095.
- [GKO] N. GIGLI, K. KUWADA, AND S.-I. OHTA, Heat flow on Alexandrov spaces, Communications on Pure and Applied Mathematics 66 (2013), pp. 307–331.
- [GM] N. GIGLI, A. MONDINO, A PDE approach to nonlinear potential theory in metric measure spaces, J. Math. Pures Appl. 100 (2013), no. 4, 505–534.
- [GMS] N. GIGLI, A. MONDINO, G. SAVARÉ, Convergence of pointed non-compact metric measure spaces and stability of Ricci curvature bounds and heat flows, Proc. Lond. Math. Soc. (3) 11, (2015), no. 5, 1071–1129.
- [GP16a] N. Gigli, E. Pasqualetto, Behaviour of the reference measure on RCD spaces under charts, preprint arXiv:1607.05188.
- [GP16b] N. Gigli, E. Pasqualetto, Equivalence of two different notions of tangent bundle on rectifiable metric measure spaces, submitted, preprint arXiv:1607.05188.
- [Gr] M. GROMOV, Metric structures for Riemannian and non-Riemannian spaces, Modern Birkauser Classics, Birkauser Boston Inc., Boston, MA, english ed., 2007. Based on the 1981 French original, With appendices by M. Katz, P. Pansu and S. Semmes, Translated from the French by Sean Michael Bates.
- [GR18] N. GIGLI, C. RIGONI, Recognizing the flat torus among RCD*(0, N) spaces via the study of the first cohomology group, Calc. Var. Partial Differential Equations 57 (2018), no. 4, Paper No. 104.
- [GR19] N. Gigli, C. Rigoni, A note about the strong maximum principle on RCD spaces, Canad. Math. Bull. **62** (2019), no. 2, 259–266.
- [GT] N. GIGLI, L. TAMANINI, Second order differentiation formula on $RCD^*(K, N)$ spaces, J. Eur. Math. Soc. 23, 1727–1795 (2021).
- [GV] N. GIGLI, I. Y. VIOLO, in progress.
- [Gr] A. GRIGOR'YAN, Heat kernels on weighted manifolds and applications, Amer. Math. Soc., 398 (2006), 93–191.
- [H18] B. HAN, Ricci tensor on $RCD^*(K, N)$ spaces, J. Geom. Anal. 28 (2018), no. 2, 1295–1314.

- [HK] P. HAJLASZ, P. KOSKELA, Sobolev meets Poincaré, C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris Sér. I Math. 320 (1995), no. 10, 1211–1215.
- [HKX] B. Hua, M. Kell, C. Xia, Harmonic functions on metric measure spaces, preprint ArXiv:1308.3607.
- [J] R. Jiang, Cheeger-harmonic functions in metric measure spaces revisited, J. Funct. Anal. 266 (2014), no. 3, 1373–1394.
- [Ket] C. Ketterer, Cones over metric measure spaces and the maximal diameter theorem, Journal de Mathematiques Pures et Appliquees, **103** (2015), pp. 1228–1275.
- [KL] K. KUWADA, X.-D. LI, Monotonicity and rigidity of the W-entropy on RCD(0, N) spaces, Manuscripta Math. **164** (2021), no. 1-2, 119–149.
- [LiY] P. Li, S. T. Yau, On the parabolic kernel of the Schrödinger operator, Acta Math. 156 (1986), 153-201.
- [LV] J. Lott, C. Villani, Ricci curvature for metric-measure spaces via optimal transport, Ann. of Math. (2), 169 (2009), 903–991.
- [M] M. MIRANDA JR., Functions of bounded variation on "good" metric spaces, J. Math. Pures Appl., 82 (2003), no. 8, 975–1004.
- [MN] A. MONDINO, A. NABER, Structure theory of metric measure spaces with lower Ricci curvature bounds, J. Eur. Math. Soc. 21 (2019), no. 6, 1809–1854.
- [R] T. RAJALA, Local Poincaré inequalities from stable curvature conditions on metric spaces, Calc. Var. Partial Differential Equations 44 (2012), no. 3-4, 477–494.
- [RS] T. RAJALA, K.-T. STURM, Non-branching geodesics and optimal maps in strong $CD(K, \infty)$ -spaces, Calc. Var. Partial Differential Equations **50** (2014), no. 3-4, 831–846.
- [Sa] G. SAVARÉ, Self-improvement of the Bakry-Emery condition and Wasserstein contraction of the heat flow in $RCD(K, \infty)$ metric measure spaces, Discrete Contin. Dyn. Syst. **34** (2014), no.4, 1641–1661.
- [Sh] N. Shanmugalingam, Newtonian spaces: an extension of Sobolev spaces to metric measure spaces, Rev. Mat. Iberoamericana 16 (2000), pp. 243–279.
- [S95] K.-T. Sturm, Analysis on local Dirichlet spaces. II. Upper Gaussian estimates for the fundamental solutions of parabolic equations, Osaka J. Math., 32 (1995), 275–312.
- [S96] K.-T. Sturm, Analysis on local Dirichlet spaces. III. The parabolic Harnack inequality, J. Math. Pures Appl., 75 (1996), 273-297.
- [S06a] K.-T. Sturm, On the geometry of metric measure spaces. I, Acta Math., 196 (2006), 65–131.
- [S06b] K.-T. Sturm, On the geometry of metric measure spaces. II, Acta Math., 196 (2006), 133–177.
- [V] N. Th. Varopoulos, Green's functions on positively curved manifolds. II, J. Funct. Anal. 49 (1982), no. 2, 170–176.
- [Vi] C. VILLANI, *Optimal transport: old and new*, Grundlehren der Mathematischen Wissenschaften, Vol. 338 (2009), Springer-Verlag, Berlin.

[JLZ14] R. Jiang, H. Li, H. Zhang, Heat kernel bounds on metric measure spaces and some applications, Potential Anal. 44 (2016), no. 3, 601–627.